# ANTIBACTERIAL EFFECTS OF α-MANGOSTIN AND BETA-LACTAM ANTIBIOTICS AND COMBINATIONS OF BACTERIOPHAGES AND PLANT EXTRACTS

Thippawan Pimchan

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

ะ ราวักยาลัย โนโลยีส<sub>-</sub>รบโ

**Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Biology** 

Suranaree University of Technology

Academic Year 2017

ผลการต้านแบคทีเรียของแอลฟาแมงโกสตินและยาปฏิชีวนะกลุ่มบีตาแลคแทม และการผสมกันของแบคเทอริโอเฟจกับสารสกัดจากพืช

นางสาวทิพวรรณ พิมพ์จัน<mark>ท</mark>ร์



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีววิทยาสิ่งแวดล้อม มหาวิทยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรนารี ปีการศึกษา 2560

# ANTIBACTERIAL EFFECTS OF α-MANGOSTIN AND BETA-LACTAM ANTIBIOTICS AND COMBINATIONS OF BACTERIOPHAGES AND PLANT EXTRACTS

Suranaree University of Technology has approved this thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Thesis Examining Committee

(Dr. Pongrit Krubphachaya)

Chairperson

Eunkeb

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Griangsak Eumkeb)

Member (Thesis Advisor)

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Duangkamol Maensiri)

Member Mullik

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mullika Chomnawang)

Member

(Dr. Sakesit Chumparnsilpa)

Member

5-51508

(Prof. Dr. Santi Maensiri)

Vice Rector for Academic Affairs

and Internationalization

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Worawat Meevasana)

Dean of Institute of Science

ทิพวรรณ พิมพ์จันทร์ : ผลการด้านแบคทีเรียของแอลฟาแมง โกสตินและยาปฏิชีวนะกลุ่ม บีตาแลคแทม และการผสมกันของแบคเทอริ โอเฟจกับสารสกัดจากพืช (ANTIBACTERIAL EFFECTS OF α-MANGOSTIN AND BETA-LACTAM ANTIBIOTICS AND COMBINATIONS OF BACTERIOPHAGES AND PLANT EXTRACTS) อาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา : รองศาสตราจารย์ เภสัชกร ดร.เกรียงศักดิ์ เอื้อมเก็บ, 152 หน้า.

การรักษาการติดเชื้อที่เกิดจา<mark>กเชื้อคือ</mark>ยาเป็นปัญหาที่ท้าทาย การศึกษาครั้งนี้จึงได้ ้ทำการศึกษาฤทธิ์การต้านเชื้อแบคทีเรียแ<mark>ล</mark>ะการเส<mark>ริ</mark>มฤทธิ์ของแอลฟา-แมงโกสตินเมื่อใช้ร่วมกับยา ้ปฏิชีวนะกลุ่มบีตาแลกแทมบางชนิดต่อ<mark>ก</mark>ารต้านเชื<mark>้อเ</mark>เบกทีเรียดี้อยา วิทยานิพนธ์นี้ยังได้ทำการศึกษา ถุทธิ์ต้านเชื้อแบคทีเรียของสารสกัด<mark>จาก</mark>พืช 3 ชนิด<mark>คือ ส</mark>ารสกัดจากกระชาย สารสกัดจากเพกา และ สารสกัดจากบอระเพ็ดพงช้าง ร่ว<mark>มกับ</mark>แบ<mark>คเทอริโอเฟจ เ</mark>อสยุ 16 และ เอสยุ 27 ต่อการต้านเชื้อเอส ี เชอริเชีย โคไล ค่าความเข้มข<mark>้นใน</mark>การยับยั้งต่ำสุด (เอ็มไ<mark>อซี)</mark> ของแอลฟา-แมงโกสตินในการต้าน ้เชื้อเอ็นเทอโรค็อกคัส ฟีเซีย<mark>ม เท่</mark>ากับ 2 ไมโครกรัมต่อมิลลิ<mark>ลิตร</mark>ในขณะที่ค่าเอ็มไอซีมีค่าสูง (>2048) ไมโครกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร) <mark>พ</mark>บในเชื้อแบคทีเรียแกรมลบที่ถกนำม<mark>า</mark>ทคสอบทั้งหมด เชื้ออซีเนโตแบค เตอร์ บอมมานิไอที่น<mark>ำม</mark>าทค<mark>สอบทั้งหมด และเชื้อซูโคโม</mark>แนส แ<mark>อรู</mark>จิโนซาบางสายพันธุ์คื้อต่อยา เซฟตาซิคิมและ เซฟไตรอะโซน มีค่าเอ็มไอซีเท่ากับ 800 และ >2048 ไมโครกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร ตามลำดับ นอกจา<mark>กนี้เชื้อเอ็</mark>นเทอ โรค็อกกัส ฟีเซียม 2 สายพันธุ์ยัง<mark>ดื้อต่อย</mark>าแอมพิซิลลิน มีก่าเอ็มไอซี เท่ากับ 32 และ 128 ใมโครกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร จากการทุดสอบด้วยวิธีเชคเกอร์บอร์ด แสดงให้เห็น การเสริมฤทธิ์กันของแอ<mark>ลฟา-แมง โกสติน กับยาเซฟตาซิดิมและ</mark>ยาเซฟไตรอะ โซนต่อการต้านเชื้อ อซีเนโตแบกเตอร์ บอมมานิไอทุกสายพันธุ์ โดยมีค่าดัชนี้สัดส่วนการยับยั้งเท่ากับ <0.35 และ <0.24 ตามลำคับ กราฟแสคงการตายของเชื้อได้ยืนยันปฏิสัมพันธ์ที่เสริมฤทธิ์กันในการใช้แอลฟา-แมง โกสตินร่วมกับยาเซฟตาซิคิม ในการต้านเชื้ออซีเนโตแบคเตอร์ บอมมานิไอ ดีเอ็มเอสที่ 45378 ภาพถ่ายด้วยกล้องจุลทรรศน์อิเล็กตรอนแบบส่องกราดและกล้องจุลทรรศน์อิเล็กตรอนแบบส่อง ้ผ่านของเซลล์ที่ได้รับสารผสมแอลฟา-แมงโกสตินร่วมกับยาเซฟตาซิคิม แสดงให้เห็นความเสียหาย ้อย่างชัคเจนของผนังเซลล์ เยื่อหุ้มเซลล์ และการเปลี่ยนแปลงของสารภายในเซลล์ พื้นที่ของเซลล์ยัง พบว่ามีขนาดเพิ่มขึ้นอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ (พี < 0.01) เมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มอื่น ๆ การใช้แอลฟา-แมง ้โกสตินร่วมกับยาเซฟตาซิดิม เพิ่มความสามารถในการซึมผ่านของเยื่อหุ้มเซลล์ชั้นในและเยื่อหุ้ม เซลล์ชั้นนอกและลคความหนาและความเข้มของแถบโปรตีนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับเยื่อหุ้มชั้นนอกและ

แบกเทอริโอเฟจกับสารสกัดจากพืช พบว่าก่าเอ็มไอซีของสารสกัดจากบอระเพ็ดพุงช้าง สารสกัด จากกระชาย และสารสกัดจากเพกา ต่อเชื้อเอสเชอริเชีย โคไล 16 และ 27 มีก่าเท่ากับ 4 16 และ 16 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร ขณะที่ก่าเอ็มบีซีเท่ากับ 16 32 และ 32 มิลลิกรัมต่อมิลลิลิตร ตามลำคับ เมื่อ นำสารสกัดผสมกับแบกเทอริโอเฟจ ผลจากกราฟแสดงการตายของเชื้อแสดงให้เห็นว่าความ แตกต่างของจำนวนเซลล์ที่มีชีวิตในกลุ่มที่ได้รับแบกเทอริโอเฟจหรือสารสกัดจากพืชเพียงอย่าง เดียวและเซลล์ที่รับสารผสมแบกเทอริโอเฟจ เอสยู 27 และสารสกัดจากกระชายหรือสารสกัดจาก พกา ต่อการต้านเชื้อเอสเชอริเชีย โคไล 27 โดยการกลับมาเจริญของแบกทีเรียถูกพบหลังผ่านไป 6 ชั่วโมง และสูงขึ้นในระดับที่เท่ากันที่ 24 ชั่วโมง กล่าวโดยสรุปได้ว่า การผสมแอลฟา-แมงโกสติน กับยาเซฟตาซิดิม หรือเซฟไตรอะโซน สามารถแสดงผลการเสริมฤทธิ์กันในการยับยั้งแบกทีเรียที่ ดื้อต่อยาเซฟตาซิดิม และยาเซฟไตรอะโซน ได้ โดยการทำลายความสามารถในการซึมผ่านของ เยื่อ หุ้มเซลล์ชั้นใน เยื่อหุ้มเซลล์ชั้นนอก ลดโปรตีนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับเยื่อหุ้มเซลล์ชั้นนอกและเพปทิโดไกล แกน และยับยั้งการทำงานของเอนไซม์บีตาแลกแทมเมส นอกจากนี้ การผสมกันระหว่างสารสกัด จากพืช กับแบกเทอริโอเฟจไม่แสดงการเสริมฤทธิ์กัน วิธีการเสริมฤทธิ์นี้น่าจะใช้เป็นเครื่องมือใหม่ ในการต่อสู้กับแบคทีเรียสายพันธุ์ที่ดี้อยาได้

ลายมือชื่อนักศึกษา <i>ทิ่มวรรณ บิ๊มป์ วัน ทร์</i>
ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา
ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษาร่วม
ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษาร่วม <u>Our</u>

าคโนโลยีสุรบโร

สาขาวิชาชีววิทยา ปีการศึกษา 2560

ะ ราวักยาลัยเท

# THIPPAWAN PIMCHAN : ANTIBACTERIAL EFFECTS OF α-MANGOSTIN AND BETA-LACTAM ANTIBIOTICS AND COMBINATIONS OF BACTERIOPHAGES AND PLANT EXTRACTS. THESIS ADVISOR : ASSOC. PROF. GRIANGSAK EUMKEB, Ph.D. 152 PP.

# α-MANGOSTIN / BETA-LACTAM ANTIBIOTIC / BACTERIOPHAGES/ PLANT EXTRACTS /ANTIBACTERIAL EFFECTS

Treatments for antibiotic-resistant infections are of challenging issues. This study, therefore, investigated, antibacterial and synergistic activities of  $\alpha$ -mangostin (AMT) and some  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics combination against antibiotic-resistant bacteria. This thesis also evaluated the combined antibacterial activity of three plant extracts (Boesenbergia rotunda: BRE, Stephania suberosa: SSE and Oroxylum indicum: OIE) with bacteriophages SU16 and SU17 against Escherichia coli isolates. The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of AMT against Enterococcus faecium isolates were equally 2 µg/mL, while high MICs (>2048 µg/mL) were observed in all tested Gram-negative bacteria. All tested Acinetobacter baumannii and some Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates were resistant to ceftazidime (CAZ) and ceftriaxone (CTX) at the MICs of 800 and 2048 µg/mL, respectively. Two strains of *E. faecium* were also resistant to ampicillin (AMP) at the MICs of 32 and 128  $\mu$ g/mL. Checkerboard assay demonstrated synergistic activity of AMT with CAZ or CTX against all tested A. buamannii at fraction inhibitory concentration indices of <0.35 and <0.24, respectively. The killing curve determination confirmed the synergistic interaction of AMT/CAZ combination against A. baumannii DSMT 45378. Scanning

electron microscope and transmission electron microscope imaging of cells treated with AMT/CAZ combination displayed the marked damage to the cell wall, cell membrane and change of intracellular structure. A significant increase in cell area was also observed compared to other groups (P < 0.01). AMP/CAZ combination increased the permeability of cytoplasmic (CM) and outer membrane (OM) and reduced the thickness and intensity of outer membrane and peptidoglycan-associated protein (OMPG) bands. AMT inhibited β-lactamase activity in a dose-dependent manner. Regarding the results of bacteriophages/plant extracts, the MICs of SSE, BRE, and OIE against ECOR-16 and ECOR-27 were 4, 16 and 16 mg/mL, while MBCs were 16, 32 and 32 mg/mL, respectively. When the extracts were combined with phages, the results from killing curve assay demonstrated that the marked difference in viabilities of ECOR after phages- or plant extracts-treated alone and cells treated with combined agents was seen only in phage SU 27 plus BRE or OIE against ECOR-27. These bacteria regrew after 6 h of treatment and reached the similar viability of untreated control at 24 h. In conclusion, AMT/CAZ or CTX combination synergistically inhibited CAZ- and CTX-resistant bacteria by damaging to OM and CM permeability, OMPG, and by inhibiting  $\beta$ -lactamase activity. Furthermore, the combinations of extracts/phage were not synergistic. The synergy approach could potentially be a novel tool to combat the resistant strains.

School of Biology Academic Year 2017

Student's Signature <u>Thippawan</u> Pimchan
Advisor's Signature G. Eunkel
Co-Advisor's Signature
Co-Advisor's Signature

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to voice my sincere appreciation and thanks to the Thailand Research Fund for financially supporting me throughout my studies through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. program (Grant No. PHD/0023/2554). First and foremost, I am very grateful to my thesis advisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Griangsak Eumkeb, for his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, immense knowledge and for engaging my ideas. My deepest appreciation is extended my academic co-supervisor, Asst. Prof. Dr. Duangkamol Maensiri and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Anders S Nilsson, their dedication in advising and guiding throughout my Ph.D. study.

My work is successfully accomplished with great immeasurable assistance from following people: Dr. Callum J Cooper, Dr. Sakesit Chumnarnsilpa, and Dr. Yothin Teethaisong, for commenting, suggesting and bringing new opinions and perspective. I would also like to thank staff, fellows and the secretariat of the School of the School of Biology, for the support of my studies.

My acknowledgment cannot be completed without expressing my extreme grateful to my family, who always supports, encourages and be beside me at every moment during my studies.

Thippawan Pimchan

# CONTENTS

	Page
ABST	RACT IN THAII
ABST	RACT IN ENGLISHIII
ACKI	NOWLEDGEMENTSV
CONT	TENTSVI
LIST	OF TABLESXI
LIST	OF FIGURESXII
LIST	OF ABBREVIATIONSXV
CHA	PTER
I	INTRODUCTION
	1.1 Introduction
	1.2 Research objective
	1.3 Research hypothesis
	1.4 The significant of the study
II	LITERATURE REVIEW
	2.1 Bacterial structure
	2 1 1 Pentidoglycans 9
	2.1.2 Outer membrane
	2.1.2 Outer memorane
	2.2 Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance
	2.2.1 Receptor or active site modification

2.2.2 Enzymatic degradation	13
2.2.3 Decreased outer membrane permeability	14
2.3 Important pathogenic bacterial strains	14
2.3.1 Acinetobacter baumannii	14
2.3.2 Escherichia coli	15
2.3.3 Pseudomonas aeruginosa	16
2.3.4 Enterococcus faecium	17
2.4 Clinically important antibiotics	17
2.4.1 β-lactam antibiotics	18
2.4.2 Other antimicrobial agents targeting bacterial cell wall	21
2.6 Potential bioactive compound and plant extract	22
2.6.1 α-Mangostin	22
2.6.2 Boesenbergia rotunda	24
2.6.3 Oroxylum indicum	
2.6.4 Stephania suberosa	31
2.7 Bacteriophages (Phages)	
2.7.1 Phage morphology and classification	
2.7.2 Phage life cycle	
2.7.3 Phages therapy	37
MATERIALS AND METHODS	40
3.1 Materials	40

III

Page

### Page

	3.2.2.3 MIC/MBC determination and activity of preservatives
	against phage49
	3.2.2.4 Combined antibacterial activity of phage/extract
	combinations50
	3.3 Statistical analysis
IV	RESULTS
	4.1 Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of $\alpha$ -mangostin
	4.1.1 MIC determinations
	4.1.2 Checkerboard determinations
	4.1.3 Killing curve determinations
	4.1.4 Morphological change of bacterial cells as evaluated by SEM62
	4.1.5 Morphological change of bacterial cells as evaluated by TEM65
	4.1.6 Effects of the treatments on cytoplasmic membrane (CM)
	permeabilisation
	4.1.7 Effects of the treatments on outer membrane(OM)
	permeabilisation73
	4.1.8 Outer membrane and peptidoglycan-associated protein (OMPG)75
	4.1.9 Inhibitory activity of $\alpha$ -mangostin on $\beta$ -lactamase
	4.2 In vitro activity of the combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial
	plant extracts79

4.2.1 MIC/MBC of plant extracts
4.2.2 Combined activity of bacteriophages and bulk plant extracts82
V DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
5.1 Discussion
5.1.1 Antibacterial and synergistic activity of $\alpha$ -mangostin and antibiotic
combination
5.1.2 Combined antibacterial activity of plant extracts (BRE, SSE, and
OIE) and bacteriophages92
5.2 Conclusions
REFERENCES
APPENDICES
APPENDIX A BACTERIAL SUSPENSION STANDARD CURVE 127
APPENDIX B CULTURE MEDIA, CHEMICALS AND EQUIPMENT133
APPENDIX C PUBLICATIONS

Page

# LIST OF TABLES

Page
Comparison of the therapeutic use of phages and antibiotics
Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of selected antibiotic and $\alpha$ -
mangostin against important pathogenic Gram-positive and Gram-negative
bacteria
CLSI susceptibility breakpoint interpretive criteria for commonly-used
antibiotics against different types of pathogens
FICs for checkerboard assay of $\alpha$ -mangostin used alone and in combination
with selected antibiotics
MIC and MBC of extracts (mg/mL) used in the current investigation of
bacterial host strains

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
2.1	Cell wall structure and composition of gram positive and gram negative
	bacteria
2.2	Chemical structure of the peptidoglycan and lipopolysaccharide10
2.3	Overview of resistance mechanism
2.4	General chemical structures of different classes of $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics18
2.5	Chemical structure of polymixin B
2.6	Chemical structu <u>r</u> e of α-mangostin
2.7	Morphology of <i>Boesenbergia rotunda</i> 27
2.8	Morphology of <i>Oroxylum indicum</i>
2.9	Morphology of <i>Stephania suberosa</i>
2.10	Morphological classification of phages
2.11	Structure of Myoviridae phage T435
2.12	Phage life cycle
4.1	Time killing-curve of A. baumannii DMST 45378 after exposure to $\alpha$ -
	mangostin (AMT), ceftazidime (CAZ) either alone or in combination60

# LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure	Page
4.2	Time killing-curve of E. feacium DMST 12829 after exposure to
	$\alpha$ -mangostin (AMT), ampicillin (AMP) either alone or in combination61
4.3	SEM micrographs of A. baumannii DMST 45378 grown in the Mueller-
	Hinton broth in the absence of the antimicrobial agent and presence of
	ceftazidime at a concentration of 400 µg/mL63
4.4	SEM micrographs of <i>A. baumannii</i> DMST 45378 grown in the presence
	of $\alpha$ -mangostin at a concentration of 1,024 µg/mL and grown in the
	presence of $\alpha$ -mangostin at 200 µg/mL plus ceftazidime at 200 µg/mL64
4.5	TEM micrographs of A. baumannii DMST 45378 grown in the Mueller-
	Hinton broth in the absence of the antimicrobial agent
4.6	TEM micrographs of A. baumannii DMST 45378 grown in the presence
	of ceftazidime at 400 µg/mL67
4.7	TEM micrographs of A. baumannii DMST 45378 grown in the presence
	of α-mangostin at 1,024 µg/mL68
4.8	TEM micrographs of A. baumannii DMST 45378 grown in the presence
	of α-mangostin at 200µg/mL+ ceftazidime at 200 µg/mL69
4.9	The cell area of A. baumannii DMST 45378 after exposure to
	α-mangostin, ceftazidime either alone or in combination70
4.10	The presence of 260 nm absorbing material in the supernatants of
	A. baumannii DMST 45378 after exposure to α-mangostin,
	ceftazidime either alone or in combination72

# LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure	Page			
4.11	Outer membrane permeability of ceftazidime-resistant A. baumannii			
	DMST 45378 after exposure to $\alpha$ -mangostin, ceftazidime either alone			
	or in combination74			
4.12	SDS-PAGE showing the OMPG of A. baumannii DMST 45378 after			
	exposure to $\alpha$ -mangostin, ceftazidime either alone or in combination			
4.13	The adjusted relative density (% of control) obtained from quantitative			
	densitometry of SDS-PAGE of each ceftazidime-resistant A. baumannii			
	OMPG band77			
4.14	The inhibitory activity of $\alpha$ -mangostin against $\beta$ -lactamase hydrolysis			
	of benzylpenicillin			
4.15	Antiviral activity of plant extracts against bacteriophages SU16 and			
	SU27 after 24 h exposure			
4.16	Activity of bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 in combination with BRE83			
4.17	Activity of bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 in combination with OIE84			
4.18	Activity of bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 in combination with SSE85			

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMP	=	Ampicillin
AMT	=	α-Mangostin
ATCC	=	American Type Culture Collection
BRE	=	<i>Boesenbergia rotunda</i> (L) Mansf Extract
°C	=	Degree Celsius
CAZ	=	Ceftazidime
СМ	=	Cytoplasmic Membrane
CTX	=	Ceftriaxone
CFU	=	Colony Forming Unit
DMSO	=	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DMST	=	Department of Medical Sciences Thailand
DNA	=	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
ECOR	<u> </u>	E. coli Standard Reference Collection
FIC	=	Fractional Inhibitory Concentration
g	£1	Graminalulaga
h	=	Hour
HEPES	=	N-2-Hydroxyethyl Piperazine-N'-Ethanesulphonic Acid
HIV	=	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
kDa	=	Kilodalton
LA	=	Lysogeny Agar

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS (Continued)

LB	=	Lysogeny Broth
LPS	=	Lipopolysaccharide
MBC	=	Minimum Bactericidal Concentration
MIC	=	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration
mL	=	Millilitre
μL	=	Microlitre
MRSA	=	Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
NaCl	=	Sodium Chloride
nm	=	Nanometre
OD	=	Optical Density
OIE	= _	Oroxylum indicum Extract
ОМ	=	Outer Membrane
OMPG	=	Outer Membrane and Peptidoglycan-Associated
		Protein
PBS	=	Phosphate Buffer Saline
PFU	7-51	Plaque-Forming Unit
PMX	=	Polymixin B
SEM	=	Scanning Electron Microscopy
SSE	=	Stephania suberosa Extract
TEM	=	Transmission Electron Microscopy
Tris-HCl	=	Trizma Hydrochloride

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS (Continued)



### **CHAPTER I**

### **INTRODUCTION**

### **1.1 Introduction**

The emergence of antibiotic resistance is increasing rapidly. The World Health Organization (WHO) states that antibiotic-resistant bacteria have become one of the most serious global public health threats of the 21st century (WHO, 2014). Several cases have been reported dead as a result of the infections caused by antibioticresistant bacteria (Harbarth et al., 2015). Bacteria can confer resistance to antibiotics through intrinsic mechanisms and by the acquisition of new resistance genes from other bacteria (Alekshun and Levy, 2007). The resistance is mediated by antimicrobial-inactivating enzymes (e.g.,  $\beta$ -lactamase), alteration of drug targets, reduction of membrane permeability and an increase of multidrug efflux pumps. More than one resistance mechanisms may be present in the same strain (Rice, 2006). Currently, many bacteria have been documented to resist multiple antibiotics resulting in difficulty in selection of efficient and appropriate antibiotics for the treatment of these recalcitrant bacteria. The spread of antibiotic resistance has globally been reported in numerous pathogens including methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), Vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE). Multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii (MDR), carbapenem-resistant A. baumannii, multidrugresistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and multidrug- resistant Escherichia coli

(Evans et al., 1999; Lister et al., 2009; Moran et al., 2006; Tadesse et al., 2012; Tiwari et al., 2015). Third-generation cephalosporins (ceftazidime, ceftriaxone) and carbapenems are usually the antimicrobial agents of choice for treating serious Gramnegative bacterial infections that are resistant to other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics (Falagas and Karveli, 2007). However, currently these bacteria, in particular, *A. baumannii* have developed resistance to this group of antibiotics (Chang et al., 2015; Manchanda et al., 2010). Polymyxin B (PMX) has been used as an alternative antibiotic for the treatment of infections caused by Gram-negative pathogens such as *P. aeruginosa*, and *A. baumannii*. The initial target of polymyxin is lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of the outer membrane. There is a low incidence of *A. baumanii* conferring resistance to PMX. However, to prevent the emergence of the resistance, an increase of the therapeutic dose of this agent or use in combination with other antibiotics has been recommended for the treatment of the infection caused by *A. baumanii* (Kassamali et al., 2015).

Naturally-occurring antimicrobials are among one of the most interesting sources to develop new antimicrobial agents to replace synthetic antimicrobials (Harikrishnan et al., 2003; Immanuel et al., 2004). To develop safer drugs, the research regarding the development of new antimicrobial agents from the herbal plant is objectives of far-reaching importance. Mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana*), a tropical evergreen fruit, has widely been cultivated in South East Asia. The pericarp of this fruit has been traditionally used for the treatment of chronic diarrhea, infected wounds, skin infections and dysentery (Pedraza-Chaverri et al., 2008). The major bioactive secondary metabolites of mangosteen are xanthone derivatives. These xanthone derivatives have displayed potent pharmacological activities including antibacterial, antifungal, antioxidant, anti-tumor, anti-inflammatory and anti-allergy properties (Obolskiy et al., 2009; Pedraza-Chaverri et al., 2008). Chomnawang et al. (2007) investigated the activity of Thai medicinal plants on inflammation reduction caused by *Propionibacterium acnes* and found that *G. mangostana* possessed the most significant antioxidant activity and reduced reactive oxygen species production.  $\alpha$ -Mangostin, a major active ingredient isolated from mangosteen, has demonstrated antimicrobial activities against Gram-positive bacteria such as MRSA, VRE, *P. acnes*, and *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (Koh et al., 2013; Pothitirat et al., 2010; Sakagami et al., 2005). The bacterial membrane of Gram-positive bacteria is a target of  $\alpha$ mangostin (Koh et al., 2013). However, the antibacterial mechanism on the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and cephalosporins was not unknown in Gram-negative bacteria.

Bacteriophages (phages) are considered the viruses that can infect bacteria, resulting in cell lysis (lytic phage) or lysogenization (lysogenic phage) of the infected cell. Phages are very specific to their host cells and not harmful to eukaryotic cells. Phage therapy refers to using lytic phage for the treatment of bacterial infections. Phages were used as therapeutic agents for infection caused by bacteria in the pre-antibiotic era before the first antibiotic was discovered in the 1940s. However, phage therapy has still been used for the treatment of various infections, especially in Eastern Europe countries, such as Georgia and Poland. Due to multidrug-resistant bacteria, phage therapy has caught the interest of researchers worldwide to study the application of phages for the treatment of multidrug-resistant bacteria in the clinical setting. Phages have been used to treat lethally infectious diseases caused by Gramnegative bacteria including *E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa*, *A. baumannii*, *Klebsiella* 

*pneumoniae*, *Vibrio vulnificus* and *Salmonella* spp., and Gram-positive bacteria, such as *Enterococcus faecium* and *S. aureus* (Matsuzaki et al., 2005).

New alternative strategies to treat antibiotic-resistant organisms are highly required. Combination therapy is a common strategy that is often employed to reduce the dissemination of antibiotic-resistant strains. This approach shows better efficiency than a single treatment (Davies and Davies, 2010). Araoka (2012) demonstrated that the combination of  $\beta$ -lactam with aminoglycoside effectively inhibited Gram-negative bacteria including *P. aeruginosa*, *Klebsiella*, *E. coli*, and Enterobacteriaceae. Likewise, Gonzales et al. (2015) reported that  $\beta$ -lactam and meropenem-piperacillintazobactam acted synergistically in the combination against MRSA. The major concern of phage therapy is the development of phage resistance. To reduce a chance of the resistance and to improve the effectiveness of the treatment, a combination therapy of antibiotic and phage is used as an alternative approach which is more effective than a single treatment (Davies and Davies, 2010). Research conducted by Comeau et al. (2007) found that the phage-antibiotic combination showed synergistic interaction by inhibiting the growth of *E. coli* at a sub-lethal concentration of  $\beta$ -lactam and quinolone. Moreover, Bedi et al. (2009) also found that the combination of amoxicillin and lytic phage could minimize the formation of K. pneumoniae biofilm. Similar to a previous report, both E. coli and P. aeruginosa biofilms were inhibited by the phage - tobramycin combination (Coulter et al., 2014). However, no study has been investigated on synergistic effects of the combination of phage and plant extract against pathogenic bacteria. Thus, this thesis aims to determine the synergistic interaction of the phage and plant extracts combination against pathogenic bacteria.

### **1.2. Research objectives**

1.2.1 To study the effect of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and selected  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics when used either alone or in combination on  $\beta$ -lactam-resistant bacteria, *A. baumannii*, *E. faecium* and *P. aeruginosa*.

1.2.2 To examine the primary mechanism of actions of  $\alpha$ -mangostin when used singly and in combination with selected antibiotics using outer and cytoplasmic membrane permeability test,  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibition assay, gel electrophoresis, scanning electron microscopy (SEM), and transmission electron microscopy (TEM).

1.2.3 To study the potential of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts (*Stephania suberosa* extract, *Oroxylum indicum* extract, and *Boesenbergia rotunda* extract) against bacterial pathogens.

### **1.3 Research hypothesis**

1.3.1  $\alpha$ -Mangostin could exhibit the potential effect and synergistic activity with selected cephalosporins against cephalosporin-resistant bacteria.

1.3.2 Plant extracts could have a synergistic effect when used in combination with bacteriophages to inhibit bacterial pathogens.

### **1.4 The significance of the study**

The research was expected to provide the following information:

1.4.1 The potential use of  $\alpha$ -mangostin either alone or in combination with selected cephalosporins against drug-resistant bacteria *A. baumannii*.

1.4.2 The data suggesting a primary mechanism of action of  $\alpha$ -mangostin when used alone or in combination with selected antibiotics.

1.4.3 Insights on the potent combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant bulk extracts to target bacterial pathogens.



### **CHAPTER II**

### LITERATURE REVIEW

### **2.1 Bacterial Structure**

Based on the staining characteristics, bacteria are commonly divided into Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria. The bacterial cell comprises of cytoplasmic membrane enclosing the cytoplasm, cell wall (peptidoglycan), outer membrane (only in Gram-negative bacteria). Gram positive bacteria have a thicker peptidoglycan layer than Gram-negative bacteria. To summarize, Gram-positive bacteria consist of three main compartments, the cytoplasm, the cytoplasmic membrane and think cell wall (Figure 2.1a), while Gram-negative bacteria contain two additional compartments including the periplasm and the outer membrane (Figure 2.1b). Some bacteria contain appendages, flagella, and pile, allowing their movements and attachment to cell surfaces (Schumann, 2006). The bacterial cell wall is among of the most important compartment of bacteria. It maintains the shape and controls homeostasis of the cell in the harsh environment. Moreover, the bacterial cell wall is the first barrier that antibiotic agents must overcome. Peptidoglycan is the major component of bacterial cell walls. Gram-positive bacteria have thicker in peptidoglycan layer than Gram-negative bacteria. Differently, in Gram-negative bacteria, their cell wall is composed additional membrane called outer membrane and lipopolysaccharide (Erridge et al., 2002). Disruption or inhibition of bacterial cell wall synthesis results in cell lysis and death. Some antibiotics, for instance, β-lactams

antibiotic and vancomycin, inhibit the growth of bacteria by blocking the synthesis of bacterial cells.



**Figure 2.1** Cell wall structure and composition of Gram-negative bacteria (a) and Gram-positive bacteria (b) (Adapted from Brown et al., 2015).

#### 2.1.1 Peptidoglycans

The peptidoglycan, also called murein, is an essential and specific structural component in the cell wall. Its main function is to protect cell integrity by withstanding the turgor. Importantly, the cell wall consisting of peptidoglycan is a unique structure only present in bacteria, so it is the most interesting drug target. The inhibition of cell wall biosynthesis can result in cell lysis. Peptidoglycan also contributes to the maintenance of defined cell shape and serves as a scaffold for anchoring other cell envelope components, including proteins (Dramsi et al., 2008) and teichoic acids (Neuhaus and Baddiley, 2003). Peptidoglycan is a network of glycan chain of  $\beta$ 1,4-linked N-acetylglucosamine (Glc*NAc*) and N-acetylmuramic acid (Mur*NAc*) glycan units cross-linked by short peptides (Rogers et al., 1980).

#### 2.1.2 Outer membrane

The outer membrane is a unique compartment found only in the Gramnegative bacteria, which contains clinically significant components called lipopolysaccharide (LPS). This compartment is the outermost layer of bacteria cell forming the periplasmic space, a space between the cytoplasmic membrane and outer membrane, where several degrading enzymes are secreted. The outer membrane is an asymmetric lipid bilayer intercalated with proteins, with its inner leaflet consists of phospholipids that similar to the phosphoglycerides and the outer leaflet comprises of LPS. LPS composes of three components; the proximal hydrophobic lipid A region, the distal hydrophilic O-antigen polysaccharide region that protrudes into the medium, and the core oligosaccharide region that connects the O-antigen polysaccharide region to lipid A. The outer membrane acts as a permeability barrier by controlling the transportation of electrolytes, proteins, nutrients and metabolites across the hydrophobic portion. Most nutrients pass this barrier via a family of integral outer membrane proteins (OMPs) called porins (Tommassen, 2010). These trimeric proteins form open, water-filled channels in the outer membrane, which allow for the passage of small hydrophilic solutes, such as amino acids and monosaccharides, via passive diffusion (Nikaido, 2003). Other OMPs have more specialized transport functions, such as the secretion of proteins and the excretion of drugs, or function as enzymes or structural components of the outer membrane (Koebnik et al., 2000). Besides integral OMPs, the membrane also contains lipoproteins, which are attached to the membrane via an N-terminal lipid moiety. OMPs usually traverse the membrane and anchor the outer membrane to the underlying peptidoglycan sheet. The outer membrane mass contains approximately 50% of proteins (Koebnik et al., 2000).



**Figure 2.2** Chemical structure of the peptidoglycan and lipopolysaccharide (Adapted from Lebeer et al., 2010).

#### 2.2 Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance

The first antibiotic known as penicillin was discovered by Alexander Fleming in the 1940s, which revolutionized the modern era of antibiotics. This discovery is the most important agents for treating infectious diseases in modern medicine. Since then, resistance to penicillin was recognized and identified during the same decade of discovery. The resistance was also reported in other antibiotics within a few years after they were introduced to use in a medical setting. The prevalence of antibiotic resistance in pathogenic bacteria has raised as a major public health concern with high morbidity, mortality, increased health care costs and made the treatment much more challenging (Tiwari et al., 2015). The World Health Organization (WHO) states that antibiotic-resistant bacteria have become one of the most serious global public health threats of the 21<sup>st</sup> century (WHO, 2014). This problem is a challenging issue to control the dissemination of antibiotic-resistant organisms. Because some antimicrobial agents have lost their original effectiveness, the antibiotic of choice for treating multidrug-resistant bacteria are limited, resulting in the delay in initiation of chemotherapy (Bush, 2010). Treatment of infections is now complicated as a consequence of several bacteria have resistance to multiple antibiotics. Antimicrobial agents are generally classified into 5 groups based on their principal mechanism of action; (1) inhibition of cell wall synthesis (eg,  $\beta$ -lactams and glycopeptide agents), (2) inhibition of protein synthesis (macrolides and tetracyclines), (3) interference with nucleic acid synthesis (fluoroquinolones and rifampin), (4) inhibition of a metabolic pathway (trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole), and (5) disruption of cell membrane structure (polymyxins and daptomycin) (Tenover, 2006). Several mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance spread rapidly to a variety of bacterial genera. Some species

are innately resistant to more than 1 class of antibiotics. The mechanisms of antibiotic resistance can be grouped into 3 main mechanisms; modification of the receptor or active site, enzymatic degradation, and decreased permeability and efflux pumps (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Overview of resistance mechanism (Adapted from Sherrard et al., 2014).

### 2.2.1 Receptor or active site modification

Antibiotics act specifically to their targets or receptors. However, bacteria can alter the target protein of antibiotic by modifying or eliminating the binding site, leading to a reduction in the activity of antibiotic. These alterations can be observed in several bacteria. Conformational change of penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) in bacteria can decrease the affinity for antibiotic and result in the development of  $\beta$ lactam resistance eventually. Resistance to methicillin and other  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics in MRSA is mediated by acquisition of the *mecA* gene encoded penicillin-binding proteins 2a (PBP2a)(Stapleton and Taylor, 2002). Alterations of DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV are examples of the target enzymes mutations. Some bacteria can confer resistance to fluoroquinolones by alteration of GyrA or GyrB subunits of DNA gyrase, resulting in a decrease the affinity of the antimicrobial molecule to its targets, leading to drug resistance (Lambert, 2005; Redgrave et al., 2014).

#### 2.2.2 Enzymatic degradation

The bacteria can also develop resistance to the antibiotic by synthesis of degrading enzymes to destroy or modify the antibiotics. There are many enzymes that have been reported to be able to hydrolyze distinct classes of antibiotics, including  $\beta$ lactams, aminoglycoside, and macrolides (Blair et al., 2015). B-Lactamase-Mediated resistance is the well-known mechanism of resistance to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, which hydrolytically cleave amide bond in  $\beta$ -lactam ring rendering the antibiotic inactive (Bush, 2010). The  $\beta$ -lactamases are encoded by both chromosomal and plasmid genes. In Gram-positive bacteria, the  $\beta$ -lactamase enzymes are secreted into the surrounding environment while these enzymes in Gram-negative are secreted to the periplasmic space (Zeng and Lin, 2013). Although some  $\beta$ -lactamases have been identified recently, they can be classified broadly by two classification schemes based upon amino acid sequence classification (class A-D) and biochemical function (group 1-4). The most clinically important  $\beta$ -lactamase enzymes are AmpC  $\beta$ -lactamases, extended spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamase (ESBL), and carbapenemases that can hydrolyze broad-spectrum cephalosporins (e.g., cefotaxime and ceftazidime) and carbapenem antibiotics (the last resort β-lactam antibiotic for the infection caused by Gramnegative bacteria) (Paterson and Bonomo, 2005).

#### 2.2.3 Decreased permeability and efflux pumps

The outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria envelope plays a crucial role in controlling molecules crossing the cell by acting as a barrier. Porins, a specific channel for particular molecules, restrict antibiotics and other small organic compound molecules accessing through peptidoglycan, periplasm or the cytoplasm. A mutation in porins can result in the prevention of drug penetration and subsequently decreased cellular antibiotic concentration. As a consequence, the drug cannot kill or inhibit the growth of bacteria (Fernández and Hancock, 2012). Several types of porins have been characterized and found in Gram-negative bacteria such OmpF, OmpC, and PhoE in *E. coli* and OprD in *P. aeruginosa*. Moreover, Gram-negative bacteria can mediate resistance by increasing the expression of efflux pumps to expel the antibiotics out from the cell resulting in reduced antibiotic accumulation in the cells (Alekshun and Levy, 2007). These mechanisms of resistance can be observed in several classes of antibioties, including the  $\beta$ -lactam drugs, the aminoglycosides, chloramphenicol, and quinolones.

### 2.3 Important pathogenic bacterial strains

#### 2.3.1 Acinetobacter baumannii

Acinetobacter baumannii (family Moraxellaceae), a strictly aerobic Gramnegative coccobacillus, is commonly isolated from the hospital environment and hospitalized patients. *A. baumannii* has become serious infections over the past decade. It causes several infections, including wound infection, ventilator-associated pneumonia, urinary tract infection, meningitis and bacteraemia (Falagas and Karveli, 2007; McConnell et al., 2013) This bacterium can survive under a wide range of environmental conditions and persist for a prolonged period on surfaces, making it a frequent cause of outbreaks of infection and an endemic, healthcare-associated pathogen (Fournier et al., 2006). Clinical isolates of A. baumanii in the ICU have been reported to be 30% resistant to at least three classes of antibiotics, including β-lactams and fluoroquinolones (Lockhart et al., 2007). Acinetobacter species possess a wide array of  $\beta$ -lactamases that hydrolyze and confer resistance to penicillins, cephalosporins, and carbapenems. A. baumannii inherently produces an AmpC-type cephalosporinase also known as Acinetobacter-derived cephalosporinases (ADCs) These enzymes are highly expressed in this bacterium, which can lead to resistance to the third-generation cephalosporins (Bonomo and Szabo, 2006; Thomson and Bonomo, 2005). OXA-type carbapenemases (mostly OXA-48 and OXA-181) have been identified in carbapenem-resistant A. baumannii in many countries, including Scotland, Spain, France, Japan, Singapore, China, Brazil, Cuba and Kuwait (Afzal-Shah et al., 2001; Eliopoulos, 2009; Maragakis and Perl, 2008). Also, Acinetobacter strains can produce metallo- $\beta$ -lactamases (IMP and VIM) that render carbapenem inactive (Thomson and Bonomo, 2005).

### 2.3.2 Escherichia coli

*Escherichia coli* is a facultative anaerobic, rod shape, a Gram-negative bacterium belonging to the family *Enterobacteriaceae*. *E. coli* is a commensal bacterium that can be found in the gastrointestinal tracts of humans and warmblooded animals. It is also one of the most important pathogens. Several different *E. coli* strains can cause a variety of intestinal and extraintestinal-associated diseases. There are six well-described categories; enteropathogenic *E. coli*, enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*, enterotoxigenic *E. coli*, enteroinvasive *E. coli*, and

diffusely adherent *E. coli* (Kaper et al., 2004). The pathogenicity of *E. coli* is facilitated by several virulence factors such as pilli, enterotoxins, Shiga-like toxins, endotoxin (lipopolysaccharide), hemolysin, aerobactin, cytonecrotizing factor, intimin, and biofilm formation (Blanco et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2002). The emerging resistance to fluoroquinolones and the production of extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamases (ESBL) by multidrug-resistant *E. coli* strains are increasing concerns over the last decade due to the limited therapeutic options for infections caused by these strains (Denton, 2007; Garau et al., 1999).

#### 2.3.3 Pseudomonas aeruginosa

*Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, a rod-shaped gram-negative, is an opportunistic pathogen that commonly found in hospitalized or immune-compromised patients. This bacterium adapts easily to the environment and can also colonize and invade a human host to cause serious infections, such as pneumonia, burn, wound, urinary tract and gastrointestinal infections, otitis media, and keratitis (Coutinho et al., 2008; Silby et al., 2011). This pathogen is one of the most common causes of pneumonia. Infections by *P. aeruginosa* are notoriously difficult to treat due to currently conferred resistance to a broad range of antibiotic, including penicillin G, aminopenicillin,  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors, first and second generation cephalosporins, piperacillin, tazobactam, cefepime, ceftazidime, aminoglycosides, quinolones, and carbapenems, as well as colistin and fosfomycin. It has been demonstrated that *P. aeruginosa* strains can produce an AmpC-like inducible chromosomal  $\beta$ -lactamase that can inactivate  $\beta$ -lactamas (Hancock and Speert, 2000).
#### 2.3.4 Enterococcus faecium

Enterococci are gram-positive cocci, facultatively anaerobic bacteria and belong to family Enterococcaceae. Enterococci are well recognized as causative pathogens of several infections, including urinary tract, wound, and bloodstream, infective endocarditis and rarely meningitis (Zeana et al., 2001). E. faecalis and E. faecium are the most prevalent species isolated from humans, accounting for more than 90% of clinical isolates (de Perio et al., 2006). E. faecium are frequently resistant to multiple antibiotics including vancomycin, which is a serious issue that limits the therapeutic options and infection control of these organisms. Enterococci strains can produce  $\beta$ -lactamases that are capable of inactivating penicillin, ampicillin, and relevant antibiotics with transferable plasmids (Vu and Carvalho, 2011). High ampicillin resistance in E. faecium is mediated by either mutation or overproduction of PBP5 resulting in the lower affinity for ampicillin. Likewise, resistance to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin of E. faecium is mediated by mutations in the gyrA, parC and pbp5 genes (Rathnayake et al., 2012).

#### 2.4 Clinically important antibiotics

 $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics are considered to be the most widely used antibiotics for the treatment of infections caused by a variety of pathogenic bacteria. These antibiotics have high efficacy and low toxicity compared to other synthetic antibiotics.  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics are classified as bacterial cell wall synthesis inhibitors. Polymyxins inhibit the growth of bacteria via destruction of the cell membrane and lipopolysaccharide. Polymyxins have become increasingly more important as they are the final agents for the treatment of multidrug-resistance bacteria antibiotics that are resistant to almost all available antibiotics.

10

#### 2.4.1 β-lactam antibiotics

Beta-lactam antibiotics are the oldest and, most commonly used agents for treating bacterial infections. They share a common structure of the  $\beta$ -lactam ring (highlighted in Figure 2.4), and mechanism of action. These agents are active against bacteria by inhibiting the enzymes during cell wall synthesis called Penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs). These particular enzymes are a group of an enzyme found in bacterial membranes function and as peptidoglycan transpeptidase (Georgopapadakou, 1993). There are 4 groups of  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics; penicillins, cephalosporins, carbapenems, and monobactams (Figure 2.4). β-lactam antibiotics are commonly used agents for the treatment of infection, accounting for 60% of the worldwide antibiotic usage (Livermore and Woodford, 2006).



**Figure 2.4** General chemical structures of different classes of  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics (Modified from Konaklieva, 2014).

Penicillin was the first antibiotic discovered by Alexander Fleming in 1928 and the most valuable antibiotics for the treatment of infectious diseases. This group of antibiotics has the basic chemical components of a  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic, consisting of a  $\beta$ -lactam ring, which is fused to a thiazolidine ring and side chains. The antibacterial mechanisms of all penicillins are the inhibition of the bacterial cell wall synthesis by binding to the PBPs. Inhibition of PBPs results in blocking the crosslinks of the peptidoglycan strands, leading to cell lysis and death. Penicillins are classified based on their activity, including natural penicillin (penicillin G, penicillin V), penicillinase-resistant penicillin (methicillin, cloxacillin), extended spectrum penicillin (ampicillin, amoxicillin), broad-spectrum penicillin (carboxypenicillin), and  $\beta$ -lactamase combinations (Augmentin) (Parascandola, 1981).

Cephalosporins are semisynthetic antibiotics derived from soil-inhabiting fungi (*Cephalosporium* spp.) They consist of a  $\beta$ -lactam ring and a dihydrothiazine that differ from the penicillins in that the dihydrothiazine ring of cephalosporins have an additional R2 side chain. These antibiotics have been grouped into four generations based upon their spectrum of activity. The first generation of Cephalosporins is active against Gram-positive cocci but did not have clinically useful activity against enterococci. The second generation cephalosporins are similar to the first generation, but this generation has increased activity against Gram-negative bacilli. The third-generation cephalosporins have potential activity against antibiotic-resistant Gram-positive bacteria and as well show the broad spectrum against a variety of Gramnegative bacteria, including *Haemophilus influenzae*, *Moraxella catarrhalis*, and even *P. aeruginosa* (ceftazidime is a drug of choice). Also, the third generation cephalosporins are an alternative therapy for treating Gram-negative infections that

have been resistant to other  $\beta$ -lactams. Due to the fourth generation cephalosporins have a positively charged quaternary ammonium attached to the dihydrothiazine ring, they can penetrate through the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria better than other groups of cephalosporins, so they have been reserved for the treatment of antibiotic-resistant Gram-negative bacteria (Miller, 2006).

Carbapenems are potent agents against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. These antibiotics are known to have the highest activity compare to other  $\beta$ lactam antibiotics. They are often used as the "last line agents." Carbapenems differ from the penicillins at the double bond between C2 and C3 with the substitution of a carbon atom replacing sulfur of the thiazolidine ring. Imipenem, meropenem, ertapenem, and doripenem are the currently available compounds of the carbapenems that are clinically used. Imipenem is distinguished from other beta-lactams by high affinity for PBPs that results in resistance to hydrolysis by  $\beta$ -lactamase (Hashizume et al., 1984).

Monobactams are monocyclic beta-lactam compounds that have been isolated and purified from various soil bacteria. They are active against several aerobic Gram-negative rods, such as *Enterobacters* spp., *Citrobacter* spp., *Klebsiella* spp., *Proteus* spp., and *P. aeruginosa*. However, these antibiotics have no activity against Gram-positive bacteria or anaerobes. Aztreonam is the first commercially monobactam. Aztreonam is a useful alternative for patients with aerobic gramnegative infections, with an allergy to penicillin or cephalosporin.

#### 2.4.2 Other antimicrobial agents targeting bacterial cell wall

Polymyxins are an old class of polypeptide antibiotic discovered in 1947. They can be classified into five different compounds (polymyxin A-E). Polymyxin B (PMX) and polymyxin E (colistin) are commonly used in clinical practice (Garidel and Brandenburg, 2009). PMX and colistin are synthesized from the soil bacterium Bacillus spp (Evans et al., 1999). PMX is a lipopeptide comprising a polycationic peptide ring and a tripeptide side chain with a fatty acid tail (Figure 2.5). PMX has rapid bactericidal activity against Gram-negative bacteria by targeting the bacterial cell membrane and disrupting its permeability resulting in leakage of intracellular materials. The mechanism of PMX in destroying bacteria is due to the interaction between cationic molecules of PMX and anionic LPS molecules leading to the derangement of the cell membrane as a consequence of displacement of  $Ca^{2+}$  and Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions on LPS (Zavascki et al., 2007). PMX has been clinically used more than five decades since it has been approved for clinical treatment. The PMX is not initially considered to use as parenteral administration because of the concern of the potential toxicological issue. The main side effects of PMX are nephrotoxicity and neurotoxicity (Falagas and Kasiakou, 2006). However, in recent years the polymyxins have been re-evaluated as antimicrobial agents for the treatment of the infection caused by Gram-negative bacteria, especially bacteria that show resistance to multiple antibiotics. It is also generally prescribed when there is an absence of effective antibiotic availability for treating multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria.



Figure 2.5 Chemical structure of polymixin B (Hamley, 2015).

### 2.6 Potential bioactive compound and plant extract

#### 2.6.1 α-Mangostin

*Garcinia mangostana* Linn., known as mangosteen, is the tropical rainforest fruit plant commonly found in India, Sri Lanka and South East Asian regions, such as Indonesia, Malaysia, Sri Lanka, Philippines, and Thailand. The fruit of the mangosteen is dark purple or reddish and inside contains soft, juicy edible white pulps with slightly acidic, sweet flavor and pleasant smell (Jung et al., 2006). Mangosteen regarded as the queen of fruits because it is uniquely with the best tropical taste. The pericarp of this fruit has been used as traditional medicine for the treatments of abdominal pain, diarrhea, trauma, skin infection, dysentery and wounds (Peres et al., 2000). Various bioactive substances have been identified in mangosteen, such as prenylated and oxygenated xanthones (Pedraza-Chaverri et al., 2008). Xanthones are secondary metabolites commonly found in higher plant families and also in fungi and lichens (Peres et al., 2000). Xanthones are the major bioactive secondary metabolites of the mangosteen that can be found in the pericarp, whole fruit, bark and leaves (Pedraza-Chaverri et al., 2008).  $\alpha$ -Mangostin, a xanthone derivative, is a major bioactive compound isolated from the pericarps of the mangosteen fruit (Schmid, 1855). The compound is a yellowish colouring matter which can be obtained from the other parts of the plant (dried sap and the bark). The chemical structure of xanthone was elucidated by Dragendorff (1930) and Murakami (1932). The molecular formula, type, and position of the substituent groups of  $\alpha$ - mangostin were then determined by Yates and Stout (1958). The chemical structure of  $\alpha$ -mangostin is illustrated in Figure 2.6.  $\alpha$ -Mangostin has long been reported to possess a variety of biological activities, including antibacterial, antifungal, antioxidant, antitumor, anti-inflammatory, antiviral and anti-allergy (Ibrahim et al., 2014). The compound has demonstrated a wide range of antibacterial activities. Sundaram et al. (1983) reported that  $\alpha$ -mangostin and its four derivatives have an antibacterial effect against S. aureus, P. aeruginosa, Salmonella typhimurium, Bacillus subtilis, Klebsiella sp. and E. coli. The study conducted by linuma et al. (1996) found that xanthones isolated from the hull of mangosteen fruit inhibit the growth of methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA). Furthermore,  $\alpha$ -mangostin exhibited the potential anti-tuberculosis activity in the inhibition of Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Suksamrarn et al., 2003). According to the study conducted by Sakagami et al. (2005), α-mangostin showed antibacterial activity against vancomycin-resistant Enterococci (VRE). Chomnawang et al. (2005) reported that a xanthone derivative had a strong inhibitory effect on Propionibacterium acnes and S. epidermidis. Similarly, α-Mangostin demonstrated antimicrobial activities against MRSA (Chin and Kinghorn, 2008). In addition, a-mangostin and four of its derivatives also had antifungal activity against Epidermophyton floccosum,

Alternaria solani, Mucor sp., Rhizopus sp. and Cunninghamella echinulata (Sundaram et al., 1983). The antifungal spectrum  $\alpha$ -Mangostin-derivatives also covered three phytopathogenic fungi (*Fusarium oxysporum vasinfectum, Alternaria tenuis, and Dreschlera oryzae*) (Gopalakrishnan et al., 1997). In anti-HIV studies,  $\alpha$ -mangostin-derivatives have antiviral properties by inhibiting HIV-1 protease (Chen et al., 1996) and the replication cycle of HIV (Vlietinck et al., 1998). Kaomongkolgit et al. reported that  $\alpha$ -mangostin showed no toxic effects on human gingival fibroblasts up to 4000 µg/ml (Kaomongkolgit et al., 2009).



**Figure 2.6** Chemical structure of α-mangostin (Mahabusarakam et al., 1987).

#### 2.6.2 Boesenbergia rotunda (L.)

*Boesenbergia rotunda*, locally called in Thai as Kra-chai, is classified in the family of Zingiberaceae and the genus of *Kaempferia*. This herbal plant is widely cultivated in Southeast Asia, India, Sri Lanka and southern China. There are 8 distinct botanical names: *Boesenbergia cochinchinensis* (Gagnep.) Loes. , *Boesenbergia* 

pandurata (Roxb.) Schltr., Curcuma rotunda L., Gastrochilus panduratus (Roxb.) Ridl., Gastrochilus rotundus (L.) Alston, Kaempferia cochinchinensis Gagnep., Kaempferia ovate Roscoe, and Kaempferia pandurata Roxb. However, it is now known as Boesenbergia rotunda (L.) Mansf (Eng-Chong et al., 2012). The morphologies of the whole plant, flower, and rhizomes of *B. rotunda* are illustrated in Figure 2.7. *B.* rotunda has been used as food ingredients and traditional medicine for treating various human ailments, including rheumatism, muscle ache, fever, gouty arthritis, bowel disorder, abdominal distension, carminative, appetite promotion, and gastric disorders (Chaudhury and Rafei, 2001). Furthermore, many pharmacological activities have been reported in this species including anti-ulcer, anti-inflammation and antioxidant, anti-viral, anti-parasite, and anticancer (Abdelwahab et al., 2011; Isa et al., 2012). Interestingly, this herbal plant exhibits strong wide spectrum antibacterial activity against pathogenic bacteria (Eng-Chong et al., 2012). Pinostrobin and red oil isolated from B. rotunda showed potential antibacterial activity against *Helicobacter pylori* with minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) values of 125 µg/mL and 150 µg/mL, respectively. The minimum bactericidal concentrations (MBCs) for Pinostrobin was 150 µg/mL and for red oil was 175 µg/mL (Bhamarapravati et al., 2006). Furthermore, Panduratin A isolated from Kaempferia pandurata Roxb (syn. B. rotunda), showed strong anti-staphylococcal activities comparable to commonly used antibiotics against staphylococcal isolates (Rukayadi et al., 2009). Moreover, biofilm-producing enterococcal strains were inhibited by panduratin A at concentrations ranging from  $\leq 4 \ \mu g/mL$  to  $\leq 16 \ \mu g/mL$ . These MIC lower than those of daptomycin and linezolid, suggesting panduratin A showed stronger antibacterial activity (Rukayadi et al., 2010). Also, Panduratin A displayed

strong anti-periodontal and anti-cariogenic activities against Porphyromonas gingivalis, Prevotella intermedia, Prevotella loescheii, and S. mutans. The MIC levels were much lower than those of other antibacterial agents (Park et al., 2005). In addition, a recent study showed that crude ethanolic extract of rhizomes of B. rotunda also has a wide antibacterial spectrum against MRSA, methicillin-resistant coagulasenegative Staphylococci (MRCNS), methicillin-susceptible S. aureus (MSSA), Bacillus subtillis, and Salmonella typhi (Sukandar et al., 2014). B. rotunda showed potential antifungal activity against Candida albicans and Aspergillus fumigatus (Cheeptham and Towers, 2002). C. albicans treated with B. rotunda displayed fasterkilling activity than the commercial drug, nystatin (Taweechaisupapong et al., 2010). For antiviral activities, HIV-1 proteases were inhibited by Hydroxypanduratin A and Panduratin A from the methanolic extract of B. rotunda at IC<sub>50</sub> values of 5.6 µM and 18.7 µM. This inhibition was associated with the hydroxylation and prenylation of chalcones (Cheenpracha et al., 2006). The highest anti HIV-1 protease was seen in cells treated with cardamonin compared to pinostrobin, pinocembrin, and alpinetin (Taweechaisupapong et al., 2010).







Figure 2.7 Morphology of *Boesenbergia rotunda*, (a) Whole plant; (b) flower; (c) rhizomes (Eng-Chong et al., 2012).

27

#### 2.6.3 Oroxylum indicum

*Oroxylum indicum* (L.), a medium-sized deciduous tree, is planted abundantly throughout Southeast Asia and South Asia countries especially in tropical rainforest regions. It belongs to the Bignoniaceae family, genus Oroxylum, and species Oroxylum indicum (Harminder et al., 2011). The morphologies of the tree, flowers, and pod of O. indicum are illustrated in Figure 2.8. Various parts of this herbal plant, including fruit, root and stem bark have been reported to possess a variety of pharmacological activities such as antibacterial activity, antioxidant activity, antiinflammatory activity, anti-arthritic activity, anti-ulcer activity, anticancer/anti-tumor activity, anti-diarrheal activity and antidiabetic activity (Dinda et al., 2015). Many medicinally important bioactive compounds have been identified in different parts of O. indicum. The characterization of major compounds isolated from the root bark of O. indicum using RP-HPLC showed the presence of flavonoids oroxylin A, baicalein, and chrysin (Zaveri et al., 2008). The root of O. indicum was extracted with dichloromethane also showed flavonoid (baicalein, chrysin, oroxylin-A), naphthalenoids (lapachol) and steroid ( $\beta$ -sitosterol) (Mat Ali et al., 1998). The ethanolic extract of stem bark was reported to contain baicalin, baicalein, and chrysin (Singh and Kakkar, 2013). The extract of stem bark with ethanol showed to contain the highest amount of total phenolic (320.7 mg Gallic acid /g extract) and flavonoid (346.6 mg Quercetin /g extract) (Moirangthem et al., 2013). The major chemical constituents of seeds of the plant also include baicalein, chrysin, baicalein7-Oglucoside, baicalein 7-O-diglucoside and chrysin7-O-diglucoside (Chen et al., 2003). The flavonoid baicalein is an active component in the methanolic extract of O. indicum, which represented approximately 4% of freeze-dried fruits (Roy et al.,

2007). The result from identification of flavonoid from leaves of O. indicum by highspeed counter-current chromatography system (HPCCC) showed chrysin, baicalein, baicalein-7-O-glucoside, baicalein-7-O-diglucoside, chrysin-7-O-glucuronide, baicalein-7-O-glucuronide, and a chrysin-diglucoside are the major chemical constituents (Yuan et al., 2008). Phytochemical analysis of ethanol extract from the seed of O. indicum showed the presence of phenolic and flavonoid contents (10.66 g% gallic acid equivalent and 7.16 g% quercetin equivalent, respectively). Moreover, the thin layer chromatographic profiles of the extracts showed the band that corresponded to a flavonoid baicalein (Sithisarn et al., 2016). The extract from O. indicum exhibited broad antibacterial activities against a wide range of bacteria. The ethanolic extract of stem bark showed antibacterial activities against E. coli, Klebsiella spp., Proteus spp., P. aeruginosa, and S. aureus, with inhibition zones of 20,15,18,18 and 20 mm, respectively. In contrast, the ethanolic extract of the root showed inhibition against *Proteus* spp. and *S. aureus*, with inhibition zones of 20 and 14mm, respectively (Radhika et al., 2011). The ethanolic extract of the leaf demonstrated a moderate antibacterial effect against the nosocomial pathogen A. baumannii, with growth inhibition of 67.18% (Phatthalungetal., 2012). The extracts from O. indicum fruits and seeds showed antibacterial effects on two clinically isolated bacteria, Streptococcus suis and Staphylococcus intermedius with an inhibition zone of 15.11 mm and 14.39 mm, respectively (Sithisarn et al., 2016).





Figure 2.8 Morphology of *Oroxylum indicum*, (a) tree; (b) flowers; (c) pod (http://www.plantsofasia.com/index/oroxylum/0-583).

#### 2.6.4 Stephania suberosa

Stephania suberosa Forman is traditional widely cultivated in Africa, India, Southeast Asia and Australia. It is classified in family Menisperamaceae and genus Stephania. Characteristics of S. suberosa are showed in Figure 2.9. Plants in this genus have been used extensively for the treatments of several human diseases such as asthma, tuberculosis, dysentery, dyspepsia, diarrhea, urinary complaints, intestinal diseases hyperglycemia, cancer, fever, sleep disturbances, and inflammation (Chopra, 1958; Gaur, 1999; Kirtikar and Basu, 2004; Makarasen et al., 2011). The tubers of S. suberosa and S. venosa have been used traditionally in Thailand as medicinal plants (Patra et al., 1987). Alkaloids have been found to be the major chemical constituents present in this genus (Yang et al., 2010). Moreover, many compounds have been isolated and identified including tannins, glycosides, steroids, anthocyanin, (+) -Cepharanthine, (+) -2-norcepharanthine, (+) -cepharanthine 2'- $\beta$ -N-oxide, (+)stephasubine, (+)-norstephasubine, stephasubimine, etc. (Semwal et al., 2010). Accordingly, this could be a potential source of biologically active compounds which might be used for the development of new drugs (Blanchfield et al., 2003). In the previous work, S. suberosa extract showed antibacterial and synergistic activities against ampicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus by reversing bacterial resistance to its original susceptibility via following three primary modes of actions: (1) inhibits peptidoglycan synthesis, resulting in morphological damage, (2) inhibits  $\beta$ -lactamases activity, and (3) increases CM permeability (Teethaisong et al., 2014). Xylopinine and cepharanthine alkaloid compounds isolated from Stephania rotunda were reported against Plasmodium falciparum W2 in vitro. Cepharanthine showed the best activity against W2 with inhibitory concentration at 50% (IC50) at 0.61 µM. Furthermore, cepharanthine was tested with *Plasmodium berghei*. The parasite was inhibited at a concentration of 10 mg/kg, against 47% of parasitaemia from the intraperitoneal injection and 50% of parasitaemia from oral administration and had antioxidant activity. Interestingly, these compounds were also found in *S. suberosa* (Chea et al., 2007; Semwal et al., 2010).



**Figure 2.9** Morphology of *Stephania suberosa*, (a) leaves; (b) flowers; (c) tuberous root (http://www.bihrmann.com/caudiciforms/subs/stesub sub.asp).

### **2.7 Bacteriophages (Phages)**

Bacteriophages are viruses that specifically infect their host bacteria. They can be found abundantly in nature and also can be used to control the bacterial population in the natural system (Carlton, 1999; Imbeault et al., 2006). They were first discovered and identified by Twort in 1915 and D'Herelle in 1917. Bacteriophages are thought to be one of the most ubiquitous organisms on the earth. The amounts of phages were estimated to range from 10<sup>4</sup> to 10<sup>8</sup> virions/mL in fresh water and about 10<sup>9</sup> virions/mL in soils, with an estimated total number of 10<sup>32</sup> bacteriophages on the planet (Ashelford et al., 2003; Hanlon, 2007). Phages were first exploited for the treatment of diseases caused by bacteria during pre-antibiotic era. In the 1920s and most of the 1930s, the only available was serum therapy for selected pathogens such as pneumococci and diphtheria. Since the first antibiotic was discovered by Alexander Fleming and was clinically used, the attention on phage therapy was decreasing (Wittebole et al., 2014). However, phage therapy has regained its attention following an increasing emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria (Bragg et al., 2014).

#### 2.7.1 Phage morphology and classification

Phages were taxonomically classified by Bradly in 1967 based on their nucleic acid content (dsDNA, ssDNA, dsRNA, and ssRNA) and structural morphology. They were divided into groups A-F based on morphological classification: group A (*Myoviridae*) phages attribute to long contractile tails, group B (*Siphoviridae*) phages possess long non-contractile tails, group C (*Podoviridae*) phages have short non-contractile tails, both group D, and E phages are tailless with characterizable different sized capsomeres, and group F phages are filamentous phages that contain long protein filaments filled by ssDNA. These morphological classifications can be further

10

sub-divided based on their head size (Figure 2.11). For instance, The C morphotype phages can be sub-divided into C1, C2, and C3. The number is assigned corresponding to increased head length (Bradley, 1967).



Figure 2.10 Morphological classification of phages (Adapted from Hull et al., 1990).

A phage particle is composed of three main components; the head, tail and tail fibers. The head of a phage Viron is a protein shell in which stores phage genome (mostly dsDNA). The tail and tail fibers of phages are the component that helps adhesion to the host and important in the delivery of the packed genome in the head (Rohwer, 2003). In addition to phage metrological classification by Bradley, the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) classifies phages into 1 major order, 13 families and 31 genera based upon nucleic acid content, morphology characteristics, and genome data. Phages mostly belong to the *Caudovirales* order (approximately 96%), composing of 3 major families (25% *Myoviridae*, 61% *Siphoviridae* and 14% *Podoviridae*). These phages comprise of the tail. The remaining 4% of isolates are with no tail and varying structure (Ackermann, 2003).



Figure 2.11 Structure of Myoviridae phage T4 (Adapted from Chernomordik, 1989).

# 2.7.2 Phage life cycle

Phages can be roughly divided into 2 groups based upon their replication cycle; lytic phages and lysogenic phages. Lytic phages are more significant in treatment purpose than lysogenic phages. The lytic cycle composes a series of events that occur between attachments of phage particle to a bacterial cell and subsequently host cells are lysed to release daughter phage particles. It consists of 5 steps in the cycle; (1) adsorption of phage to host cell, (2) injection of phage nucleic acid, (3)

intracellular development and replication, (iv) assembly of phage particles and v) finally release of progeny phage particles by lysing the host cell (Keary et al., 2013). The lysogenic cycle comprises of the replication of phage nucleic acid together with the host genes for several generations without major metabolic consequences for the cell. This is a dormant mode of infection, and it occurs at a very low frequency. The phage genes in this state may occasionally revert to lytic cycle, leading to the release of phages particles and lysis of the host cell. In addition, some phages can develop both lytically and lysogenic cycles. They are so-called temperate phages (Clokie et al., 2011).



Figure 2.12 Phage life cycle (Adapted from Salmond and Fineran, 2015).

#### 2.7.3 Phages therapy

Phage therapy is the application of treatment of bacterial infections using lytic bacteriophage to attack pathogenic bacteria specifically. Bacteriophages are known to be active against bacteria but cannot infect eukaryotic cells. Bacteriophages have specific properties which support them to be used as therapeutic agents (Table 2.1). Bacteriophage specifically is more specific in targeting their host than antibiotics, therefore preventing harm to normal flora and resulting in less of secondary infection. Bacteriophages replicate at the local infection, which increases concentration at the site of infection (Mathur et al., 2003). Phage therapy was widely used in the 1920s and 1930s for the treatment of bacterial infection. Since the first antibiotic was discovered in the 1940s, the phage therapy, and relevant research was considerably detracted from many researchers. Over the last decade, bacteriophage therapy has regained the attention from researchers and clinician as an alternative solution to treat the infections caused by bacteria as a consequence of the significant emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. Also, the effective antibiotic to handle these resistant bacteria have been decreasing consciously at an alarming rate. Previous studies demonstrated that phage therapy can effectively treat pathogenic bacterial infection, including K. pneumonia, P. acnes, S. aureus, P. aeruginosa, E. coli (Abuladze et al., 2008; Azizian et al., 2015; Chhibber et al., 2008; O'flaherty et al., 2005; Sheng et al., 2006). Also, phages showed to be effective in an animal model for treating the infections caused by antibiotic-resistant bacteria, including MRSA, VRE, and multidrug-resistant P. aeruginosa and E. coli (Biswas et al., 2002; Matsuzaki et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2006a; Wang et al., 2006b). Most reports on phage therapy over the past ninety years have been studied by researchers from Georgia and Poland. The

safety and efficacy of clinical trials for the treatment of bacterial infection by phages were studied in 153 patients infected with a broad range of bacteria. The data was collected between January 2008 and December 2010. The results showed that 18% of the patients were reported for complete pathogen elimination and recovery. A positive clinical response was observed in 40% of patients, while less than 4% of patients did not complete the treatment as a result of adverse effect (Miedzybrodzki et al., 2012). Moreover, phage has also been examined in combination with conventional antibiotics for improving antimicrobial activity. Increasing of phage production by the sub-lethal concentration of antibiotics is reported to be due to cell filamentation in *E. coli* (Comeau et al., 2007). A combination of sub-inhibitory concentrations of ceftriaxone and *P. aeruginosa* phages had a synergistic effect, a result of cell morphological changes and reduced bacterial growth (Knezevic et al., 2013). The presence of a sub-lethal concentration of cefotaxime stimulated plaque size and phage concentration in *E. coli* (Ryan et al., 2012).



	Bacteriophages	Antibiotics
Targeting Ability	Phage usually affects only the targeted bacterial species. Therefore, dysbiosis and chances of developing secondary infections are avoided.	Antibiotics target both pathogenic microorganisms and normal microflora. This affects the microbial balance in the patient, which may lead to serious secondary infections.
Site Specificity	Replicate at the site of infection and are thus available where they are most needed.	They are metabolized and eliminated from the body and do not necessarily concentrate at the site of infection.
Side Effects	No serious side effects have been described.	Multiple side effects, including intestinal disorders, allergies, and secondary infections have been reported.
Resistance	Phage-resistant bacteria remain susceptible to other phages having a similar target range.	Resistance to antibiotics is not limited to targeted bacteria.
Treatment Development	Selecting new phages is a relatively rapid process that can frequently be accomplished in days or weeks.	Developing a new antibiotic is a time-consuming process and may take several years.

**Table 2.1** Comparison of the therapeutic use of phages and antibiotics (Adapted fromSulakvelidze et al., 2001).

# <sup>ากยา</sup>ลัยเทคโนโลยี<sup>สุร</sup>

# **CHAPTER III**

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **3.1 Materials**

#### **3.1.1 Compound and plant specimens**

α-Mangostin was obtained from Indofine Chemical Company, New Jersey, USA. Fresh samples of *Stephania suberosa* (root), *Oroxylum indicum* (fruit), and *Boesenbergia rotunda* (root) were obtained locally from Pak Thong Chai district, Nakhon Ratchasima province, Thailand.

#### **3.1.2 Bacterial isolates and bacteriophage**

The clinical isolates of *A. baumannii*, and *E. faecium* and *P. aeruginosa* were obtained from the Department of Medical Science, National Institute of Health, Ministry of Public Health, Thailand. The reference strains, *E. coli* ATCC 25922, and *Enterococcus faecalis* ATCC 29212 were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), USA. *E. coli* strains ECOR-16 and ECOR-27 were obtained from the ECOR standard reference collection of *E. coli* (Ochman and Selander, 1984). Bacteriophage SU16 and SU27 were obtained from Stockholm University.

#### 3.1.3 Antibiotics, chemicals, and equipment

All tested antibiotics were purchased from Sigma Aldrich, UK. All chemicals and equipment used are detailed in Appendix C. for a combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts, all chemicals and reagents were obtained from either Sigma Aldrich (Stockholm, Sweden) or VWR (Stockholm, Sweden).

#### **3.2 Methods**

# 3.2.1 Monitoring of antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of αmangostin

#### **3.2.1.1 Determination of viable bacterial cell count**

The bacterial suspensions standard curve method was used to reveal viable count. The experiment followed the method of Eumkeb et al. (2012) with slight modifications. Briefly, twenty microlitres of bacteria in 30% glycerol stock was transferred to 50 mL sterile Cation-adjusted Mueller-Hinton Broth (CAMHB). The cultures were incubated overnight at 37 °C with shaking at 120 RPM. The bacterial cells were harvested by centrifuging at 3,000 ×*g* for 10 minutes (min) and then washed twice by suspending in 0.9% NaCl and centrifuging at 3,000 ×*g* for 5 min. The cells were resuspended in 0.9% NaCl and measured for optical density at wavelength 500 nm. The ideal absorbance read should fall in the range of approximately 0.05-0.25. The dilutions of each absorbance reading that were 10-fold diluted in 900 µL of 0.9% NaCl was spread onto agar plates for viable cell counting. The number of colony forming units (CFU/mL) was calculated and then plotted as a bacterial suspension standard curve.

#### **3.2.1.2** Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) determination

The MIC was determined using a broth microdilution assay with resazurin reduction assay according to the modified method described by the Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute; Taneja and Tyagi (CLSI 2013; Taneja and Tyagi, 2007). Stock solutions of antibiotics at a concentration of 20,480 µg/mL were prepared following the manufacturer's instruction. The stock solution of  $\alpha$ -mangostin was dissolved in 5% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Serial two-fold dilutions of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and selected antibiotics (ampicillin, ceftriaxone, and ceftazidime) solutions were prepared in the culture medium in the 96-well polystyrene microtitre plate. Wells without drug were served as a control for bacterial growth. Twenty microliters of 0.02% (w/v) resazurin were added to all wells. The microtitre plates were inoculated with 20 µL per well of bacteria cell suspension obtained during the logarithmic phase of growth at a final concentration of 5 × 10<sup>6</sup> CFU/mL. After incubation at 37 °C for 18-24 h, the MIC was defined as the lowest concentration of test agents that inhibited bacterial growth, which showed no colorimetric change from blue (resazurin) to pink (resorufin). The assay was carried out in three replicates and three independent experiments.

#### **3.2.1.3 Checkerboard determination**

The synergistic activity between  $\alpha$ -mangostin and selected antibiotic against drug-resistant bacteria was assayed using checkerboard determination following the method of Bonapace et al. (Bonapace et al., 2002). Checkerboard synergy testing was performed in triplicate with 96-well polystyrene microtiter plate using an 8-by-8 well configuration. Dilutions of each antimicrobial agent were carried out using an automated dilution with concentrations ranging from 0.008×MIC to 1×MIC. The final inoculum was prepared similarly to the MIC determination, approximately 5 × 10<sup>5</sup> CFU/mL. Microtitre plates were incubated at 37 °C for 18 h. The synergy activity was determined by the lowest concentration of two agents in combination with calculation of the fractional inhibitory concentration index (FICI). The FICI was calculated to determine drug interaction, and interpreted as follows (Marques et al., 1997).

 $FIC index = \frac{Conc.of A in MIC of A+B}{MIC of A alone} + \frac{Conc.of B in MIC of A+B}{MIC of B alone}$ 

FICI  $\leq 0.5$  denoting synergism

FICI > 0.5 - <1.0 denoting partial synergism

FICI = 1.0 denoting additions

FICI > 1.0 -  $\leq$  4.0 denoting indifferent

FICI > 4.0 denoting antagonism

#### 3.2.1.4 Time-kill assay

The effectiveness of the  $\alpha$ -mangostin and selected antibiotic combinations against drug-resistant bacterial strain was determined by time-kill curve assay. This experiment is performed to confirm antibacterial and synergistic activities by the number of remaining viable bacteria at varying time points. The assay followed the previous method with some modifications (Richards et al., 1993). Changes in bacterial count during incubation period were determined in four test tubes containing the following: (1) only bacteria (5 × 10<sup>5</sup>CFU/mL); (2) bacteria and a sub-inhibitory concentration of antibiotics; (3) bacteria and sub-inhibitory concentration of  $\alpha$ mangostin and (4) bacteria, inhibitory concentration of antibiotics and  $\alpha$ -mangostin combination. The bacterial counts were determined at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 24 h of incubation by spreading appropriate dilutions on an agar plate. The plates were incubated at 37 °C overnight, and bacterial colonies were counted. Time-kill curve was plotted and interpreted as follows: The interactions were considered synergistic if there was a reduction in  $\geq 2\log 10$  CFU/mL in comparison to the initial inoculum. Bactericidal activity was defined as a decrease of  $\geq 3 \log 10$  CFU/mL in comparison to the initial inoculum (Belley et al., 2008). The sensitivity limit of detection was less than  $10^2$  CFU/mL.

#### **3.2.1.5** Scanning electron microscopic study of cell morphology

Scanning electron microscope (SEM) experiment was performed to observe the alteration in cell morphology change. Suspensions of overnight broth cultures were prepared. The cells were then treated with the half-MIC value of  $\alpha$ mangostin, and selected antibiotic alone and the 3/4 MIC of these combinations that gave synergistic FIC, for 4 h with shaking 120 RPM at 37 °C. Untreated controls were also prepared as a control. Then, the samples were harvested by centrifugation at  $6,000 \times g$  for 15 min at 4 °C, washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). The precipitated cells were fixed with 2.5% (w/v) glutaraldehyde (Electron Microscope Sciences; EMS) in 0.1M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) for 12 h. The samples were rinsed twice with 0.1 M phosphate buffer and fixed again with 1% osmium tetroxide (EMS) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) for 2 h at 4 °C. The samples were dehydrated in 30%, 20%, 40%, 60%, 80%, and 100%, graded acetone dilutions for 15 min and then air dried. The cells were transferred into glass slides and mounted on the stubs using double-sided carbon tape and the coated thin layer of gold. The samples were observed with a JSM-6010LV electron microscope (JEOL, Japan). Secondary electron images were taken at low electron energies between 2 keV and 5.0 keV.

# 3.2.1.6 Transmission electron microscopic study of cell ultrastructure damage

Ultrastructure damage of bacterial cell was examined using TEM following the method of Eumkeb and Chukrathok (2013). Bacteria for TEM study were grown and treated the same as SEM preparation. The treated cells were centrifuged, washed twice with PBS and fixed in with 2.5% (w/v) glutaraldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2). The fixed bacterial cells were fixed again with 1% osmium tetroxide (EMS) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) for 2 h at 4 °C. Subsequently, the samples were then dehydrated in graded acetone series. Infiltration and embedding were performed with various ratios of propylene oxide and Spurr's resin and polymerization in 100% Spurr's resin at 70 °C for 8 h. Ultrathin sections were prepared on copper grids and stained with 2% (w/v) uranyl acetate and 0.25% (w/v) lead citrate for 15 min. The prepared samples were viewed with a Tecnai G2 electron microscope (FEI, USA) at 120 kV. Furthermore, for each group of cells, the morphological parameters including cell area were measured to confirm the effects of either used  $\alpha$ -mangostin singly and in combination on cell size.

# 3.2.1.7 Cytoplasmic membrane (CM) permeability

The CM permeabilisation was performed by measurement the release of 260 nm absorbing material concentrations using UV-VIS spectrophotometer following the method of Zhou et al. (2008) and Devi et al. (2010). The cultures were adjusted to a final cell suspension of  $5 \times 10^5$  CFU/mL in PBS and incubated with 1/2 MIC of selected antibiotic, 1/2 MIC of  $\alpha$ -mangostin, and selected antibiotic plus  $\alpha$ -mangostin (3/4 FIC). A cell without an antibacterial agent was used as the negative control and with (1/2 MIC). Nisin was used as a positive control. Samples were

removed at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 3, and 4 h and then centrifuged at  $13,400 \times g$  for 15 min. The supernatants were filtered through a 0.2 µm pore size filter, and the UV-absorbing materials concentration at each time point was determined by UV–VIS spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 260 nm. The assay was done in triplicate. Mean ratios for each treatment and time were calculated and compared to the means of the corresponding control samples.

#### **3.2.1.8** Outer membrane (OM) permeability

β-lactamase is an enzyme generally located in the periplasmic space of most Gram-negative bacteria (Ciofu et al., 2000; Pradel et al., 2009). Nitrocefin (NCF), a chromogenic cephalosporin, is commonly used as a substrate for this enzyme. Hence, the OM permeability was determined by measuring β-lactamase activity using NCF as substrate (Eriksson et al., 2002; Junkes et al., 2008). The bacteria were grown in CAMHB for 18-20 h and adjusted to  $10^6$  CFU/mL. The adjusted cells 15 µL (5 ×  $10^6$  CFU/mL) were added to 135 µL of 10 mM Tris buffer containing 2.5 mM NCF and 1/2 MIC of selected antibiotic, 1/2 MIC of α-mangostin, and selected antibiotic plus α-mangostin at half-FIC concentrations. A control sample was similarly prepared without antibiotic treatment. Polymyxin B at half-MIC concentrations was used as positive control. The rate of permeability was evaluated by measuring absorbance at 500 nm on Biotex microplate reader.

#### **3.2.1.9 Enzyme assay**

The ability of  $\alpha$ -mangostin to inhibit the activity of  $\beta$ -lactamase type IV from *Enterobacter cloacae* was assayed following the method previously described by Eumkeb et al. (2010) with slight modifications. Benzylpenicillin, a substrate for  $\beta$ -lactamase, was adjusted to a concentration that allows 50-60% hydrolysis within 5

min. The  $\alpha$ -mangostin was preincubated with the enzyme in 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) at 37 °C for 5 min before adding the substrate. The timecourse assay was performed at 0, 5, 10, 15 and 20 min using methanol/acetic acid (100:1) as a stopping agent. Ten microlitres of each sample were injected to HPLC to analyse the remaining benzylpenicillin. 10 mM ammonium acetate (pH 4.5 acetic acid): acetonitrile (75:25) was used as the mobile phase. The HPLC conditions were carried out at flow rate 1 mL/min, UV detector at 200 nm, Ascentis C18 column, and 35 °C for column temperature. The quantity of remaining benzylpenicillin was calculated by comparing the area under the chromatographic curve.

## 3.2.1.10 Gel electrophoresis

To examine the effect of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and selected antibiotic on the outer membrane and peptidoglycan-associated protein (OMPG) profiles of gram-negative bacteria, the protein profile was examined by gel electrophoresis following the method of Eumkeb (1999) and Fernández-Cuenca et al. (2003) with few modifications. The cell culture was incubated at 37 °C overnight. Four mL of 18 h culture was added to 400 mL CAMHB and incubated for 4 h at 37 °C. Then the logarithmically growing culture was divided into four portions of 100 ml and treated with 1/2 MIC of selected antibiotic, 1/2 MIC of  $\alpha$ -mangostin alone, and plus selected antibiotic at 3/4 FIC concentration for 4 h at 37 °C. The cultures without antibacterial agents were used as a control. The samples were harvested by centrifugation at 6000 ×*g* for 15 min at 4 °C then the supernatant fractions were removed. Then the sediment fractions were washed twice with HEPES buffer (10mM, pH 6.8). The pellets were then resuspended in 10 mL HEPES buffer (10mM, pH 7.4) and disintegrated by sonication (400 W, 4×2 min, at 4 °C). Cell debris was removed by centrifugation at 10,000 ×*g* for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant (10 mL) was collected, and 1 mL of 20 % (w/v) sodium-Nlauroylsarcosine (Sarkosyl) were added and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. The mixture was ultracentrifuged at 100,000  $\times g$  for 60 min at 4 °C (Backman 70.1 Ti, 40,000 rpm). The pelleted proteins were suspended in 5 mL of 2 % (w/v) N-lauroylsarcosine solution and then incubated for 30 min at room temperature and recovered by ultracentrifugation at 100,000  $\times g$  for 60 min at 4 °C. The sediment fractions containing outer membrane proteins were collected and stored at -80 °C. The OMPG profiles of the samples were analysed by Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis in the presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS-PAGE).

# 3.2.2 Combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

#### **3.2.2.1 Plant extracts**

Fresh samples of *Stephania suberosa* (root), *Oroxylum indicum* (fruit), and *Boesenbergia rotunda* (root) were washed thoroughly with tap water. Samples were cut into small pieces and dried in a hot air oven at 40 °C for 2 days. The dried pieces were pulverized, using a mechanical grinder to a coarse powder. Powdered of the extracts (500 g) were extracted by the soxhlation technique with 2 L of ethanol for 8 h. The extracts were filtered by passing through Whatman number 1 filter paper, and the solvents were evaporated under reduced pressure in a Buchi rotary evaporator at 50 °C. The remaining of the extract was lyophilized to obtain dried extracts.

#### **3.2.2.2 Bacteriophage and bacterial strains**

ECOR-16 and ECOR-27 were stored in glycerol at -80 °C and maintained on lysogeny agar (LA) plates at 4 °C. ECOR-16 and ECOR-27 were routinely cultured in lysogeny broth (LB) at 37 °C overnight with shaking at 120 rpm. Prior to use, suspensions were centrifuged at 3864  $\times g$  for 15 minutes, the supernatant discarded and the pellet suspended in 10 mL PBS and further diluted in PBS to contain  $1-5 \times 10^8$  CFU/mL.

Previously characterized phages SU16 and SU27 (Khan Mirzaei and Nilsson, 2015) stocks were stored at -80 °C. Phages were cultured in 10mL LB using the appropriate bacterial strain (100  $\mu$ L) as a routine host at 37 °C overnight with shaking. Following incubation, suspensions were centrifuged at 3864 ×g for 15 minutes at 4 °C and passed through 0.45 and 0.2 $\mu$ m syringe filters. Phage suspensions were enumerated using the agar overlay method (Adams, 1959) and stored at 4 °C until required. Prior to use, phages were diluted in PBS to contain 1-3 × 10<sup>8</sup> PFU/mL.

#### 3.2.2.3 MIC/MBC determination and activity of preservatives against

#### phage

The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of plant extracts were determined against ECOR-16, and ECOR-27 was determined using a modified broth method (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2014). In brief, standardised bacterial suspensions were diluted 1:100 in double strength LB (dsLB) and the bacterial content determined by the drop count method (Miles et al., 1938). To triplicate wells of the first row of a 96 well microtitre plate, 200  $\mu$ L of plant extract was added. A 100  $\mu$ L aliquot was removed and serially diluted 1:2 in PBS over the remainder of the plate. To each well, 100  $\mu$ L of the diluted bacterial suspension was added and the plate incubated at 37 °C overnight. The MIC value was determined to be the lowest concentration where no visible growth could be observed. The MBC was determined by spreading 100  $\mu$ L of suspension from wells showing no visible growth over the surface of pre-prepared LA

plates and then incubated at 37 °C overnight. The MBC value was determined to be the lowest concentration where no visible growth could be observed.

The activity of plant extracts against SU16 and SU27 was assessed using a modified suspension test assay (Pinto et al., 2010). In brief, 1mL of standardised phage suspension was added to 9 mL plant extract at different concentrations (100, 10, and 1% of MIC) and incubated for 24 h at room temperature (approx. 37 °C). Extracts which maintained significant antiviral activity at 1% MIC were further diluted as necessary. After 24 h incubation, 100  $\mu$ L aliquots were removed and added to 9.9 mL PBS. Suspensions were then serially diluted in PBS and the phage content determined using the agar overlay method (Adams, 1959).

#### 3.2.2.4 Combined antibacterial activity of phage/extract combinations

Twenty-five mL of dsLB was added to 5 mL of extracts in PBS (or PBS with 5% (v/v) DMSO where appropriate), 5 mL of standardized phage suspension and 5 mL standardised bacterial suspension. The total volume was then increased to a final volume of 50 mL with PBS and flasks were then incubated at 37 °C with shaking at 150 rpm. At defined time points (t= 2, 4, 6, 8, and 24 h) 1 mL aliquots were removed from each flask and 1mL of fresh LB was added to each flask to maintain volume. For phage containing samples, a 500  $\mu$ L aliquot was added to 50  $\mu$ L chloroform, vortexes and phage content determined using the agar overlay method (Adams, 1959). One hundred  $\mu$ L of the original sample was then serially diluted 1:10 in PBS and bacterial content determined by spreading 100  $\mu$ L of each dilution over the surface of duplicate LA plates. For non-phage containing samples, bacterial content was determined using the drop count method (Miles et al., 1938). Plates were

incubated overnight at 37 °C and the CFU/mL or PFU/mL content determined. Controls containing PBS (untreated) or phage only (no extracts) were also performed.

# **3.3 Statistical analysis**

All experiments were performed in triplicate unless stated in the text. Data were expressed as a mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Significant differences in the viable bacterial count among each of treated groups at the same time were analysed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD posthoc test. The *P* < 0.05 was considered as the statistically significant difference. Also, the significant differences between each tested group and the control were determined using the independent T-test at *P* < 0.05.



# **CHAPTER IV**

### RESULTS

# 4.1 Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of α-mangostin

## 4.1.1 Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) determination

The antibacterial activity of ampicillin, ceftazidime, and ceftriaxone were evaluated against the clinical isolates A. baumannii DMST 45378, A. baumannii DMST 44689, A. baumannii DMST 43105, E. faecium DMST 12829, E. faecium DMST 12852, E. faecium DMST 12970, E. faecalis ATCC 29212 (a reference strain for enterococci), P. aeruginosa DMST 37169, P. aeruginosa DMST 37186, P. aeruginosa DMST 37166 and E. coli ATCC 25922 (a reference strain for Gram-negative bacteria). The MIC values of these particular antibiotics are illustrated in Table 4.1. MICs values of  $\alpha$ -mangostin were 2 µg/mL against *E. faecium* strains and were >2048 µg/mL against all tested Gram-negative bacteria. Furthermore, the MIC values of ceftazidime against A. baumannii DMST 45378, A. baumannii DMST 44689, A. baumannii DMST 43105, P. aeruginosa DMST 37169, P. aeruginosa DMST 37186, P. aeruginosa DMST 37166 and E. coli ATCC 25922 were found to be 800, 800, 800, 800, 100, 1, and  $\leq 1 \,\mu g/mL$ , respectively. These clinical isolates had MIC values for ceftriaxone of 2048, 2048, 2048, 400, 2048, 2, and  $\leq 1 \mu g/mL$ , respectively. In addition, the MIC values of ampicillin against E. faecium DMST 12829, E. faecium DMST 12852, E. faecium DMST 12970, E. faecalis ATCC 29212 were 32, 128, 2, and 2 µg/mL, respectively.
Table 4.2 shows the interpretation criteria according to the CLSI susceptibility breakpoints for commonly-used antibiotics against different types of pathogens (Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute, 2014). The results indicated that all tested *A. baumannii* isolates as well as *P. aeruginosa* DMST 37169, and *P. aeruginosa* DMST 37186 exhibited high resistance to ceftazidime and ceftriaxone. Likewise, resistance to ampicillin was observed in *E. faecium* DMST 12829 and *E. faecium* DMST 12852. The following bacterial strains were found to be susceptible to antibiotics: *P. aeruginosa* DMST 37166, *E. faecium* DMST 12970, a reference strain *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *E. faecalis* ATCC 29212.



bacteria. The data were obtained from three replications.						
<b>Bacterial Strains</b>	Minimum inhibitory concentration (μg/mL)					
	AMT	CAZ	CTX	AMP		
A. baumannii DMST 45378	>2048 <sup>NA</sup>	800 <sup>R</sup>	2048 <sup>R</sup>	-		
A. baumannii DMST 44689	>2048 <sup>NA</sup>	800 <sup>R</sup>	2048 <sup>R</sup>	-		
A. baumannii DMST 43105	>2048 <sup>NA</sup>	800 <sup>R</sup>	2048 <sup>R</sup>	-		
P. aeruginosa DMST 37169	>2048 <sup>NA</sup>	800 <sup>R</sup>	400 <sup>R</sup>	-		
P. aeruginosa DMST 37186	>2048 <sup>NA</sup>	100 <sup>R</sup>	$2048^{\rm NA}$	-		
P. aeruginosa DMST 37166	>2048 <sup>NA</sup>	1 <sup>s</sup>	2 <sup>NA</sup>	-		
E. faecium DMST 12829	2 <sup>NA</sup>	5	-	32 <sup>R</sup>		
E. faecium DMST 12852	2 <sup>NA</sup>	-	-	128 <sup>R</sup>		
E. faecium DMST 12970	2 <sup>NA</sup>		3	2 <sup>s</sup>		

Table 4.1 Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of selected antibiotics and amangostin against important pathogenic Gram-positive bacteria and Gram-negative

S = susceptible; R = resistant; NA = not applicable; AMP = ampicillin; AMT =  $\alpha$ mangostin; CAZ = ceftazidime; CTX = ceftriaxone; \* A reference strain for Gramreference negative bacteria; А strain for Gram-positive bacteria. \*\*

>1024 NA  $\leq 1^{S}$   $\leq 1^{S}$ 

E. faecium DMST 12970

E. faecalis ATCC 29212\*\*

E. coli ATCC 25922\*

 $4^{\mathrm{S}}$ 

**Table 4.2** CLSI susceptibility breakpoint interpretive criteria for commonly-usedantibiotics against different types of pathogens (Clinical Laboratory StandardInstitute, 2016).

Antimicrobial Agent	MIC	Interpretive Criteria	
	S	Ι	R
Acinetobacter spp.			
Ceftazidime	≤8	16	≥32
Cefotaxime	≤8	16–32	≥64
Pseudomonas spp.			
Ceftazidime	≤8	16	≥32
Cefotaxime	NA	NA	NA
Enterobacteriaceae			
Ceftazidime	≤4	8	≥16
Cefotaxime	NA	NA	NA
Enterococcus spp.		15	
Ampicillin	<u>≤8</u>	NA	≥16
1012	ยเทคโน	1000	

<sup>S</sup> = susceptible; <sup>I</sup> = intermediate; <sup>R</sup> = resistant; <sup>NA</sup> = not applicable

### 4.1.2 Checkerboard determinations

Due to an increasing emergence of antimicrobial-resistant microbes, using drug combination therapy is about a promising approach for the treatment of infections caused by these resistant microorganisms. The results of drug interaction determined by checkerboard assay for the interaction of  $\alpha$ -mangostin in combination with antibiotics against drug-resistant bacteria are demonstrated in Table 4.3. The lowest fraction inhibitory concentration (FIC) index was seen in the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime against *A. baumannii* DMST 45378, *A. baumannii* DMST 44689, and *A. baumannii* DMST 43105 at an FIC index of <0.35, which indicated synergistic interaction. In addition,  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftriaxone combination was also found to be synergistic interaction against *A. baumannii* strains at FIC index of <0.24. In *P. aeruginosa* DMST 37186, there was synergistic activity in the combinations of  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime or ceftriaxone. The FIC indices of these combinations were 0.53 and 0.52, respectively.

In addition, the partial synergistic interaction was observed with the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime against *P. aeruginosa* DMST 37169 at an FIC index of 0.75. Furthermore, when  $\alpha$ -mangostin was combined with ampicillin, it was able to inhibit the growth of *E. faecium* DMST 12829 and DMST 12852 at an FIC index of 0.75. This FIC index was classified in partial synergistic interaction. The additive interactions were observed with the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime against *P. aeruginosa* DMST 37169 (FIC index = 1.00).

<b>Bacterial strains</b>	Combination of agents	MIC (µg/mL)	FIC index	Type of interaction
A. baumannii DMST 45378	A <mark>M</mark> T CAZ	200 200	< 0.35	Synergism
	AMT CTX	250 250	< 0.24	Synergism
A. baumannii DMST 44689	AMT CAZ	200 200	< 0.35	Synergism
	AMT CTX	250 250	< 0.24	Synergism
A.baumannii DMST 43105	AMT CAZ	200 200	< 0.35	Synergism
H	AMT CTX	250 - 250	< 0.24	Synergism
P. aeruginosa DMST 37169	AMT CAZ	1024 200	0.75	Partial synergism
	AMT CTX	1024 200	1.00	Addition
P. aeruginosa DMST 37186	AMT CAZ	1024 3.125	≥0.53	Partial synergism
U U	AMT CTX	1024 50	≥0.52	Partial synergism
E. faecium DMST 12829	AMT AMP	1 8	0.75	Partial synergism
E. faecium DMST 12852	AMT AMP	0.5 64	0.75	Partial synergism
	ยเทคโน	מטיי		

**Table 4.3** FICs for checkerboard assay of  $\alpha$ -mangostin used alone and in combination with selected antibiotics.

### 4.1.3 Killing curve determinations

A. baumanii DMST 45378 and E. faecium DMST 12829 were selected for further investigation with the killing curve assay. This experiment was performed to confirm the antibacterial activity and the interaction of  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime, or plus ampicillin. Figure 4.1 presents the viable counts of A. baumanii DMST 45378 after exposure to  $\alpha$ -mangostin, either singly or in combination with ceftazidime. The control cells grew rapidly during 3 h of incubation and then the growth rate slightly increased. In cells treated with ceftazidime at sub-MIC (400  $\mu$ g/mL), the growth was inhibited until 4 h of incubation when growth increased again growing until 24 h of incubation. The similar growth pattern was seen in cells treated with α-mangostin (1,024  $\mu$ g/mL). In cells treated with  $\alpha$ -mangostin (200  $\mu$ g/mL) plus ceftazidime (200 µg/mL), the viable counts of A. baumanii DMST 45378 were markedly reduced to approximately  $10^2 \text{ CFU/mL}$  at 6 h of incubation. The inhibition was continued for 24 h of incubation. At 24 h of treatment, in the combined group, a reduction in the viable count for  $\geq 2-\log 10$  CFU/mL when compared with  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime alone was observed. This finding confirmed that the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime synergistically inhibited the growth of A. baumanii DMST 45378. In addition, this combination possessed bactericidal activity as a decrease in the viable count for  $\geq$ 3-log10 CFU/mL was observed compared with starting inoculum.

Figure 4.2 describes the viabilities of *E. faecium* DMST 12829 after exposure to  $\alpha$ -mangostin alone (1 µg/mL), ampicillin alone (16 µg/mL) and the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin (1 µg/mL) plus ampicillin (8 µg/mL). *E. faecium* DMST 12829 grew slightly in the absence of any antibacterial agent until 5 h of incubation. Then, no substantial change in viability was seen through 24 h of incubation. The growth of

cultures treated with either ampicillin alone or combination with  $\alpha$ -mangostin slightly decreased and stayed steady until 24 of incubation. When the combined group was compared with  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ampicillin alone, reduction in viable count <2-log10 CFU/mL, indicating that this combination showed no synergistic interaction in inhibiting the growth of *E. faecium* DMST 12829. Furthermore, cell viabilities of *E. faecium* DMST 12829 after exposure to the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ampicillin were slightly reduced to <3-log10 CFU/mL. This result suggested that this combination possessed bacteriostatic activity.





**Figure 4.1** Time killing-curve of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 after exposure to  $\alpha$ mangostin (AMT), ceftazidime (CAZ) either alone or in combination. Con = control (drug free); CAZ (400) = ceftazidime at 400 µg/mL; AMT (1024) =  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 1,024 µg/mL; AMT (200) + CAZ (200) =  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 200 µg/mL plus ceftazidime at 200 µg/mL. The values plotted are the means of 3 observations, and the vertical bars indicate the standard errors of the means.



**Figure 4.2** Time killing-curve of *E. faecium* DMST 12829 after exposure to  $\alpha$ mangostin (AMT), ampicillin (AMP) either alone or in combination. Con = control (drug free); AMP (16) = ampicillin at 16 µg/mL; AMT (1) =  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 1 µg/mL; AMT (1) + AMP (8) =  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 1 µg/mL plus ampicillin at 8 µg/mL. The values plotted are the means of 3 observations, and the vertical bars indicate the standard errors of the means.

### 4.1.4 Morphological change of bacterial cells as evaluated by SEM

SEM study was performed to observe the change in the cell morphology. In the Figure 4.3A and 4.3B, the untreated cells displayed a normal rod-shaped with intact envelope, whereas cells treated with ceftazidime were found to be longer compared with untreated cells. No bacterial septum was observed in these treated cells (Figure 4.3C and 4.3D). In  $\alpha$ -mangostin-treated cells, cell surface was dimpled and protruded. The irregular cell surface was also observed in this treated group (Figure 4.4A and 4.4B). After treatment of *A. baumannii* with  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime (Figure 4.4C and 4.4D), the cell envelope was markedly damaged and dimpled. Rough and irregular cell surface were also seen in cells treated with the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime.





**Figure 4.3** SEM micrographs of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 grown in the Mueller-Hinton broth in the absence of the antimicrobial agent (A, B) and the presence of ceftazidime at a concentration of 400  $\mu$ g/mL (C, D).



Figure 4.4 SEM micrographs of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 grown in the presence of  $\alpha$ -mangostin at a concentration of 1,024 µg/mL (A, B) and grown in the presence of  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 150 µg/mL plus ceftazidime at 150 µg/mL (C, D). The black arrows indicate the sites of damage.

### 4.1.5 Morphological change of bacterial cells as evaluated by TEM

TEM imaging was conducted to observe the structural damage of bacterial cells treated with  $\alpha$ -mangostin or ceftazidime alone and in combination. Figure 4.5 shows the electron micrographs of log phase of A. baumannii DMST 45378 cells grown in the absence of any antimicrobial agent. The untreated cells showed a normal cell shape, intact cell envelope and normal intracellular structure. In the cells treated with ceftazidime at a sub-MIC concentration (Figure 4.6), disruption and change in the intracellular structure were seen in these treated cells. When cells were exposed to α-mangostin, the cells exhibited damage to the cell wall and cell membrane. (Figure 4.7). Leakage of their intracellular contents as a result of the disintegration of cell envelope was also demonstrated in those cells treated with  $\alpha$ -mangostin. Interestingly, the bacterial cells treated with the combination of ceftazidime and  $\alpha$ -mangostin remarkably elucidated destruction of the cell wall and cell membrane. These treated cells obviously revealed leakage of cytoplasmic materials as shown in Figure 4.8. Cell debris and residual substances were also observed in the combined treated group. Furthermore, the effect of ceftazidime and  $\alpha$ -mangostin, either used alone or in combination on cell size was also investigated in the present thesis as indicated by cell area. The average cell area of the treated cells with ceftazidime/a-mangostin combination was significantly larger than untreated controls and cells treated with either agent alone (P < 0.01). The significant difference (higher) of cell area was also observed in cells treated with  $\alpha$ -mangostin alone when compared to untreated control and ceftazidime alone (Figure 4.9).



**Figure 4.5** TEM micrographs of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 grown in the Mueller-Hinton broth in the absence of the antimicrobial agent. A) bar = 1  $\mu$ m and magnification 9,000x; B) bar = 0.2  $\mu$ m and magnification 12,000x; C) bar = 200 nm and magnification 35,000x; D) bar = 100 nm and magnification 38,000x; CM = cytoplasmic membrane; OM = outer membrane.



**Figure 4.6** TEM micrographs of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 grown in the presence of ceftazidime at 400  $\mu$ g/mL. A) bar = 500 nm and magnification 9,000x; B) bar = 0.5  $\mu$ m and magnification 19,000x; C) bar = 200 nm and magnification 34,000x; D) bar = 200 nm and magnification 38,000x. The white arrows indicate the change of cellular contents.



Figure 4.7 TEM micrographs of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 grown in the presence  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 1,024 µg/mL. A) bar = 500 nm and magnification 17,000x; B) bar = 500 nm µm and magnification 38,000x; C) bar = 200 nm and magnification 26,000x; D) bar = 200 nm and magnification 36,000x. The black arrows indicate the sites of damage.



Figure 4.8 TEM micrographs of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 grown in the presence  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 150 µg/mL+ ceftazidime at 150 µg/mL. A) bar = 200 nm and magnification 26,000x; B) bar = 200 nm µm and magnification 19,500x; C) bar = 0.2 µm and magnification 20,000x; D) bar = 200 nm and magnification 26,000x. The black arrows indicate the sites of damage. The white arrows indicate the cell debris.



Figure 4.9 The cell area of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 after exposure to  $\alpha$ mangostin, ceftazidime either alone or in combination. Con = control (drug free); CAZ (400) = ceftazidime at 400 µg/mL; AMT (1024) =  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 1,024 µg/mL; AMT (150) + CAZ (150) =  $\alpha$ -mangostin at 150 µg/mL plus ceftazidime at 150 µg/mL. Data are the mean of three replicated ± standard deviation (SD). The different superscript alphabet represents a statistically significant difference using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's HSD (P < 0.01).

# 4.1.6 Effects of the treatments on cytoplasmic membrane (CM) permeabilization

The effect of 400 µg/mL ceftazidime, 1,024 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin and the combination of 150 µg/mL ceftazidime plus 150 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin on the alteration of CM membrane permeability of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 was determined by measuring the release of OD<sub>260</sub>-absorbing materials. Nisin at a concentration of 128 µg/mL was used as a positive control. The results of this study are presented in Figure 4.10. After *A. baumannii* cells were treated with ceftazidime alone, no marked change in the amount of OD<sub>260</sub>-absorbing materials compared with untreated control throughout 4 h of treatment. In an  $\alpha$ -mangostin-treated group, a slight increase in optical density was observed. This treated group exhibited significantly higher in optical density than untreated and ceftazidime-treated groups, but lower than the nisin-treated group and combined group (*P* < 0.01). Interestingly, the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime displayed the highest potent activity in inducing CM permeability of *A. baumannii* compared with nisin,  $\alpha$ -mangostin, ceftazidime alone and untreated control.



**Figure 4.10** The presence of 260 nm absorbing the material in the supernatants of *A*. *baumannii* DMST 45378 after exposure to  $\alpha$ -mangostin, ceftazidime either alone or in combination. Untreated control;  $\checkmark$  400 µg/mL CAZ;  $\blacksquare$  1024 µg/mL AMT;  $\diamondsuit$ 150 µg/mL CAZ and 150 µg/mL AMT;  $\bigstar$  128 µg/mL nisin (positive control). Data are the mean of three replicated ± standard deviation (SD). Means with the different superscript at the same time point are significantly different (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.01).

### 4.1.7 Effects of the treatments on outer membrane (OM) permeabilization

Nitrocefin, a substrate for  $\beta$ -lactamases (enzymes generally localized in the periplasmic space of Gram-negative bacteria), was used to investigate the effect of 400 µg/mL ceftazidime, 1,024 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin and the combination of 150 µg/mL ceftazidime plus 150 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin on the alteration of the OM membrane permeability of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378. Polymixin B (10 µg/mL) was used as a positive control. The results of this investigation are illustrated in Figure 4.11. Untreated control and the ceftazidime-treated group showed no substantial change in OM permeabilization. Whereas,  $\alpha$ -mangostin-treated group significantly altered OM permeabilization, but showed a significantly lower effect than the combined-treated group and polymyxin B treated group (*P* < 0.01). The combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime also significantly increased OM permeabilization compared with individual components and the untreated control (*P* < 0.01). Furthermore, polymixin B demonstrated the highest activity in permeabilizing OM of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 compared to other groups.

ะ ราวักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบโ



**Figure 4.11** Outer membrane permeability of ceftazidime-resistant *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 after exposure to  $\alpha$ -mangostin, ceftazidime either alone or in combination. In untreated control; 400 µg/mL ceftazidime; 1024 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin; 150 µg/mL ceftazidime and 150 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin; 10 µg/mL polymixin B (positive control). Data are the mean of three replicates ± standard deviation (SD). The mean sharing the same superscript are not significantly different (Tukey's HSD test, P < 0.01).

### 4.1.8 Outer membrane and peptidoglycan-associated protein (OMPG)

The effect of the  $\alpha$ -mangostin alone or in combination with ceftazidime on the OMPG of ceftazidime-resistant *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 is shown in Figure 4.12. The combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime reduced the size and intensity of OMPG bands at 22, 25 and 30 kDa compared to controls. The effect of the  $\alpha$ -mangostin alone or in combination with ceftazidime on the adjusted relative density of ceftazidime-resistant *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 -OMPG is shown in Figure 4.13. The combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime exhibited significantly lower adjusted relative density than other groups in all OMPG bands (P < 0.01), whereas the adjusted relative density OMPG of ceftazidime band displayed significantly higher than others (P < 0.01). These findings suggest that the combination displayed outer membrane and peptidoglycan damage resulting in the loss of OMPG.

### 4.1.9 Inhibitory activity of α-mangostin on β-lactamase

The enzyme assay was used to determine the inhibited activity of  $\beta$ -lactamase by  $\alpha$ -mangostin. The remaining of benzylpenicillin from HPLC indicated the inhibitory activity of  $\alpha$ -mangostin to inhibit  $\beta$ -lactamase. The capability of  $\alpha$ mangostin to inhibit the activity of  $\beta$ -lactamase enzyme type IV isolated from *E. cloacae* is shown in Figure 4.14. The higher benzylpenicillin remainder means, the lesser  $\beta$ -lactamase activity. The results demonstrated that  $\alpha$ -mangostin displayed  $\beta$ lactamase inhibitory activity in a concentration dependent manner.



Figure 4.12 SDS-PAGE showing the OMPG of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 after exposure to  $\alpha$ -mangostin, ceftazidime either alone or in combination. (A): MW marker (kDa); (B): 150 µg/mL ceftazidime and 150 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin; (C): 1024 µg/mL  $\alpha$ -mangostin; (D): 400 µg/mL ceftazidime; (E): untreated control.



**Figure 4.13** The adjusted relative density (% of control) obtained from quantitative densitometry of SDS-PAGE of each *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 OMPG band.  $\blacksquare$  150 µg/mL ceftazidime and 150 µg/mL α-mangostin;  $\blacksquare$  1024 µg/mL α-mangostin;  $\blacksquare$  400 µg/mL ceftazidime;  $\blacksquare$  untreated control. Data are the mean of three replicates ± standard deviation (SD). Means with the same superscript are not significantly different from each other (Tukey's HSD test, *P* < 0.01).



**Figure 4.14** The inhibitory activity of α-mangostin against β-lactamase hydrolysis of benzylpenicillin. untreated control;  $\checkmark$  25 µg/mL α-mangostin;  $\blacktriangle$  50 µg/mL α-mangostin;  $\checkmark$  100 µg/mL α-mangostin;  $\blacktriangle$  150 µg/mL α-mangostin. Data are the mean of three replicates ± standard deviation (SD). Means with the different superscript at the same time point are significantly different (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.01).

# 4.2 *In vitro* activity of the combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

### 4.2.1 MIC/MBC of extracts

The antibacterial activity of plant extracts against E. coli strains ECOR-16 and ECOR-27 is presented in Table 4.3. The MIC values of SSE, BRE and OIE against ECOR-16 and ECOR-27 were 4 mg/mL, 16 mg/mL and 16 mg/mL, while MBC of these particular extracts were 16 mg/mL, 32 mg/mL and 32 mg/mL, respectively. When the bulk extracts were tested for antiviral properties (Figure 4.15), SSE exhibited toxicity against SU16 and SU27 at 100% MIC concentration. The nonsignificant reduction of phage concentration was observed at 10% MIC concentration. Following 24 h of exposure to the OIE and BRE, the result was showed no toxic effect on bacteriophage SU27 at 100% MIC concentration as indicated by no significant reduction in plaque forming unit. Whereas, the MIC concentration of these extracted obviously inhibited the growth of bacteriophage SU16. Non-toxicity concentrations of OIE and BRE toward bacteriophage SU16 was found at 0.1% MIC and 0.01% MIC, respectively. ้<sup>3</sup>าวักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบา

79

	Bacterial Strain			
Compound/Extract	ECOR-16		ECOR-27	
	MIC	MBC	MIC	MBC
BRE	$16 \pm 0$	$32 \pm 0$	$16 \pm 0$	$32 \pm 0$
OIE	13.33 ± 4.6 <mark>2</mark>	42.67 ± 18.48	$13.33\pm4.62$	$42.67 \pm 18.48$
SSE	$4\pm0$	$16 \pm 0$	$4\pm0$	$16\pm0$

**Table 4.4** MIC and MBC of plant extracts (mg/mL) used in the current investigation of bacterial host strains.

BRE = Boesenbergia rotunda extract; OIE = Oroxylum indicum extract; SSE = Stephania suberosa extract. Data are the mean of three replicates  $\pm$ SD.





Figure 4.15 Antiviral activity of plant extracts against bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 after 24 h exposure. SU16 + BRE; SU27 SU16 + OIE; SU16 + OIE; SU27 + BRE; SU27 + OIE; SU27 + SSE. Data are the mean of 3 replicates  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). The MIC of extract concentrations were 16 mg/mL for BRE/OIE and 4mg/mL for SSE against both bacterial host strains. \* indicates non-significant difference to the untreated control (P > 0.05).

### 4.2.2 Combined activity of bacteriophages and bulk plant extracts

Figure 4.16 Illustrates the kinetic inhibition of after exposure to bacteriophage (SU16 or SU27), either separately or in combination with non-toxicity concentration of BRE against corresponding ECOR-16 and ECOR-27. The result showed a substantial reduction in the viable bacterial count of cells treated with phage alone and in combination with the plant extracts during 2 h of incubation compared with untreated control and BRE alone. Then, regrowth of these treated cells was seen, reaching the level comparable with that of the untreated control at 24 of exposure. The combined group showed a more inhibitory effect than phage SU27 alone. However, there was no markedly different in the viability of ECOR-16 after treatment with phage SU16 alone and the combined phage SU16 plus BRE (Figure 4.16A).

Likewise, phage SU16 and SU27 alone and in combination with OIE dramatically inhibited the growth of ECOR-16 (Figure 4.17A) and ECOR-27 (Figure 4.17B). After 2 h of treatment, these bacteria regrew reaching similar viabilities of cells treated with OIE alone and untreated control cells. Interestingly, the combination of phage SU27 plus OIE noticeably exhibited higher antibacterial activity than phage-treated separately in inhibition of ECOR-27. Furthermore, phage SU16 and SU27 alone and in combination with SSE were also found to substantially reduce the bacterial content during 2 h. While no reduction in viable counts of ECOR-16 (Figure 4.18A) and ECOR-27 (Figure 4.18B) was observed in SSE treated alone and untreated control.



Figure 4.16 Activity of bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 in combination with BRE. (A) SU16; (B) SU27  $\square$  Untreated control;  $\square$  Extract only;  $\square$  Phage only; Extract and phage. Data are the mean of three replicates ± standard deviation (SD). Means sharing the same superscript at the same time are not significantly different from each other (Tukey's HSD test, P < 0.05). Lines indicate phage counts. Phage only; – – Extract and phage.



**Figure 4.17** Activity of bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 in combination with OIE. (A) SU16; (B) SU27 Untreated control; Extract only; Phage only; Extract and phage. Data are the mean of three replicates  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Means sharing the same superscript at the same time are not significantly different from each other (Tukey's HSD test, P < 0.05). Lines indicate phage counts. Phage only; — — Extract and phage. \* indicates significant difference to the phage at the same time (P > 0.05).



**Figure 4.18** Activity of bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 in combination with SSE. (A) SU16; (B) SU27  $\square$  Untreated control;  $\square$  Extract only;  $\square$  Phage only;  $\blacksquare$  Extract and phage. Data are the mean of three replicates  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Means sharing the same superscript at the same time are not significantly different from each other (Tukey's HSD test, P < 0.05). Lines indicate phage counts.  $\blacksquare$  Phage only;  $\_$  Extract and phage. \* indicates significant difference to the phage at the same time (P > 0.05).

## **CHAPTER V**

## **DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

### **5.1 Discussion**

The emergence of resistance to conventional antibiotics in microorganisms is becoming a critical global healthcare problem in all parts of the world. The treatment of bacterial infections, in particular, antibiotic-resistant bacteria has become a challenging issue. This motivates researchers to develop new antibacterial agents and new strategies to combat bacterial infections. Many herbal plant extracts have been extensively used for the treatment of the infections caused by pathogenic bacteria for centuries (Savoia, 2012; Srivastava et al., 2014). However, some of them have relatively low antibacterial activities. To potentiate their antibacterial action, the combination of phytochemical/phytochemical or phytochemical/antibiotic is recommended (Eumkeb and Chukrathok, 2013; Hemaiswarya et al., 2008; Wagner, Recently, several researchers have proposed the combination of 2011). bacteriophage/antibiotic for an alternative treatment of bacterial infections, especially for treating recalcitrant bacteria. There is a paucity of evidence regarding bacteriophage/phytochemical combination against bacterial infections (Coulter et al., 2014; Jo et al., 2016; Knezevic et al., 2013; Torres-Barceló et al., 2016). The presented thesis, therefore, investigated the antibacterial activity and synergistic effect of a-mangostin and antibiotic combinations against antibiotic-resistant bacteria. The combined antibacterial activity of three herbal plant extracts (BRE, SSE, and OIE) with bacteriophage SU16 and SU27 against *E. coli* isolates were also evaluated in the current thesis.

# 5.1.1 Antibacterial and synergistic activity of $\alpha$ -mangostin and antibiotic combination

The antimicrobial properties of  $\alpha$ -mangostin have been studied extensively.  $\alpha$ -Mangostin can inhibit the growth of various pathogenic bacteria including MRSA, and vancomycin-resistant Enterococci (VRE) (Chomnawang et al., 2009; Dharmaratne et al., 2013; Sakagami et al., 2005). It has been reported that  $\alpha$ -mangostin rapidly disrupts the integrity of the cytoplasmic membrane of Grampositive bacteria including MRSA (Koh et al., 2013). Moreover,  $\alpha$ -mangostin can attenuate the development of *Streptococcus mutans* biofilms (Nguyen et al., 2014). However, there is a scarce study regarding the mechanism of action of  $\alpha$ -mangostin either used alone or in combination with practically-used antibiotics against Gramnegative bacteria. Hence, the antimicrobial activity of a-mangostin against a wide range of bacterial pathogens alone and in combination with cell wall inhibitor antibiotics was investigated in the present thesis. This study also examined some elementary mechanism of action using scanning electron microscope (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), cytoplasmic membrane (CM) permeability, outer membrane (OM) permeability, outer membrane peptidoglycan-associated protein (OMPG) and  $\beta$ -lactamase activity.

The MIC results indicated that  $\alpha$ -mangostin exhibited antibacterial activity against the all tested *E. feacium* strains at low MIC values. In the Gram-negative isolates,  $\alpha$ -mangostin inhibited their growth at the high-MIC value of > 2048 µg/mL. *E. feacium* DMST 12829 and *E. feacium* DMST 12852 were resistant to ampicillin,

according to CLSI guidelines with MICs exceeding  $\geq 32\mu g/mL$  (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2 0 1 4 ). Clinical isolates of A. baumannii and P. aeruginosa were highly resistant to ceftazidime and ceftriaxone, but P. aeruginosa DMST 37166 was still susceptible to these antibiotics. Ampicillin, ceftazidime, and ceftriaxone are  $\beta$  -lactam antibiotics that inhibit cell wall synthesis through binding and inhibition of penicillin-binding proteins (PBP<sub>s</sub>) (Hayes and Orr, 1983; Liao and Hancock, 1997). Resistance to these antibiotics are predominantly involved three broad mechanisms: (1) antimicrobial-inactivating enzymes (in particular  $\beta$ lactamases, e. g., extended-spectrum- $\beta$ -lactamase, AmpC  $\beta$ -lactamase, and carbapenemases), (2) reduced access to bacterial targets (decreased porin and outer membrane permeability) and (3) altered and modified drug target and cellular function (Garnacho-Montero and Amaya-Villar, 2010; Gordon and Wareham, 2010; Rice, 2006). The antibacterial activity of a bioactive compound isolated from the pericarp of Garcinia mangostana has been previously reported to be against various clinical isolates of bacteria, especially those of Gram-positive bacteria including MRSA, Staphylococcus epidermidis and Propionibacterium acnes (Chomnawang et al., 2005; Iinuma et al., 1996). Moreover,  $\alpha$ -mangostin has cytoplasmic membrane disruption property, increasing their permeability and leading to release of intracellular components resulting in cell lysis and death (Koh et al., 2013).

Due to the paucity of study on the interaction between  $\alpha$ -mangostin and conventional antibiotics against antibiotic-resistant bacteria, this study aimed to investigate its interaction. A marked reduction in MIC value in both  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime or ceftriaxone was observed when they were used in combination against *A. baumannii* isolates. The combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime and
ceftriaxone synergistically inhibited the growth of all tested *A. baumannii* strains at FIC index of < 0.37 and < 0.24, respectively. The presented thesis is the first study reporting the synergistic interaction between  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime or ceftriaxone against recalcitrant *A. baumanni* isolates. For *E. faecium* strains, the partial synergistic interaction between  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ampicillin was observed against these bacteria. A previous study showed that  $\alpha$ -mangostin isolated from the pericarp of *Garcinia mangostana* extract in combination with gentamicin (GM) and vancomycin hydrochloride (VCM) exhibited a synergistic effect against VRE and MRSA, respectively (Sakagami et al., 2005). Recently, it has been reported that  $\alpha$ -mangostin isolated from *G. mangostana* inhibited the growth of oxacillin-resistant *Staphylococcus saprophyticus*. It also exhibited synergistic interaction with oxacillin against this particular refractory isolate (Phitaktim et al., 2016).

The result of time-kill kinetic assay confirmed that the combination of  $\alpha$ mangostin and ceftazidime synergistically inhibited the growth of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378. The finding from time-kill assay also suggested that  $\alpha$ -mangostin in combination with ceftazidime showed bactericidal activity by reducing cell count of *A. baumannii* DMST 45378 higher than 3-log10 CFU/mL. It is suggested that the activity of this combination is increased because they have a different mode of action and act at the distinct target site. Furthermore, time-kill assay exhibited that no synergistic activity was observed in the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ampicillin against *E. faecium* DMST 12829. There are no interpretative criteria for partial synergism using time-kill assay. However, the result of checkerboard assay demonstrated that this combination showed partial synergistic interaction.

To understand the mechanism of action, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) has demonstrated that A. baumannii treated with ceftazidime had long cell shape and absence of bacterial septum. This is consistent with earlier findings suggesting that the presence of subinhibitory concentrations of  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics causes elongation, filamentation, and absence of septation (Zhanel et al., 1992; Knezevic et al., 2013). In cells treated with  $\alpha$ -mangostin, irregular cell wall structure was observed. These results may be explained that  $\alpha$ -mangostin targets the bacterial membrane by penetrating into lipid bilayer resulting in membrane breakdown (Koh et al., 2013). A. *baumannii* DMST 45378 treated with  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime showed damage to the cell surface envelope, such as membrane hole, deep craters, and cell debris. In according to the TEM results, the results showed that ceftazidime plus  $\alpha$ -mangostin combination could damage and disrupt the cellular membrane and peptidoglycan When compared to untreated controls, the overall of these treated cells layer. increased significantly. These findings suggest that the mechanism of action of the combination  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime is due to the destruction of cell membrane together with damage to the cell wall. These observations seem to correspond with previous finding reporting that the combination of isolated  $\alpha$ -mangostin and oxacillin exhibited peptidoglycan and cytoplasmic membrane damage, irregular cell shapes of oxacillin-resistant Staphylococcus saprophyticus and average cell areas became significantly larger than those of the controls (Phitaktim et al., 2016).

CM and OM permeability studies exhibited a significant enhancement in the absorbance values of  $OD_{260}$ -absorbing material, and  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitory activity was observed in *A. baumannii* treated with  $\alpha$  -mangostin plus ceftazidime. This finding suggests that this combination interacts with CM and OM of *A. baumannii* 

resulting in leakage of intracellular constituents.  $\alpha$ -Mangostin contains isoprenyl group which can penetrate into the phospholipid lipid bilayer. This penetration of the cell membrane coupled with the action of  $\beta$ -lactam on the transpeptidation of the cell membrane leading to an enhanced antibacterial effect of the combination. This result is in substantial correspondence with a previous investigation that luteolin and amoxicillin altered both the outer and inner membrane of amoxicillin-resistant *E. coli* (Eumkeb et al., 2012). Moreover, decreases in the intensity of membrane proteins is another hallmark of the membrane damage and loss of membrane permeability. The intensity of some protein bands decreased or disappeared after treated with  $\alpha$ -Mangostin plus ceftazidime. The expression of bacterial OMPG may be modified by combination treatment. This might be explained by the induction of stress proteins in the bacterial cells or by changed cell functions manifesting as a different OMPG expression. The protein profile revealed OM and peptidoglycan damage resulting in the loss of OMPG. This finding is in corresponding with TEM observations made.

β-lactamase inhibition assay revealed that  $\alpha$  -mangostin significantly prevented β-lactamase to hydrolyze benzylpenicillin levels in a concentrationdependent manner compared to the untreated control. These findings are consistent with those of Phitaktim et al. who reported that  $\alpha$  -mangostin isolated from *G*. *mangostana* inhibited β-lactamase activity in a dose-dependent manner (Phitaktim et al., 2016). This result may enhance the rapid killing by a membrane-targeting antimicrobial, and that β-lactamase inhibition could be a secondary effect of the membrane disruption (Koh et al., 2013).

The synergistic paradigm of combining the conventional antibiotic with phytochemical compounds has been shown to be an effective avenue to treat infectious diseases caused by drug-resistant bacteria (Eumkeb and Chukrathok, 2013; Wagner and Ulrich-Merzenich, 2009). Simulations of the molecular dynamics of this synergy revealed that the isoprenyl groups of  $\alpha$ -mangostin, occupying the chromone structure, play a major role in penetrating the lipid bilayer of the MRSA membrane, which results in increased permeability and breakdown of the membrane and (Koh et al., 2013). While not conclusive, these findings could support an assumption that the isoprenyl groups and the chromone structure of  $\alpha$ -mangostin play a significant role in inhibiting *A. baumannii* strains through direct interactions with the bacterial membrane (Koh et al., 2013). It has been previously reported that AMT provided a sufficient margin of safety for therapeutic use (Kaomongkolgit et al., 2009; Phitaktim et al., 2016) and would suggest that the AMT could potentially be a useful adjuvant to ceftazidime or ceftriaxone for the treatment of the infection caused by ceftazidimeand ceftriaxone-resistant *A, baumannii*.

## 5.1.2 Combined antibacterial activity of plant extracts (BRE, SSE, and OIE) and bacteriophages

Since phages were discovered in 1915 and 1917, they have increasingly gained attention to be developed as a novel agent for the treatment of bacterial infections in human (O'Flaherty et al., 2009; Sulakvelidze et al., 2001). Phages can destroy a variety of pathogenic bacteria, including *P. aeruginosa* and *S. aureus* (Kutter et al., 2010). Their abilities in prevention and disruption of bacterial biofilm have also been reported (Harper et al., 2014; Meng et al., 2011). Due to increasing emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria, a combination therapy of two or more practically-used antibiotics is of promising solutions to conquer the infections caused by refractory bacteria (Knezevic et al., 2013). Both phages and herbal plant extracts

are amongst those being studied either as monotherapies (Bonifácio et al., 2014; Semler et al., 2014; Takemura-Uchiyama et al., 2014) or as adjuvants to conventional antibiotics (Cushnie et al., 2014; Kamal and Dennis, 2015). No such studies have been investigated in bacteriophage/phytochemical combination. Thus, the present thesis evaluated the combined effects of bacteriophage SU16 and SU27 in combination with antibacterial herbal plant extracts (BRE, SSE, and OIE) against corresponding *E. coli* strains.

The present study found that that MICs of BRE, OIE, and SSE were 4, 16 and 16 mg/mL, while MBCs were 16, 32, and 32 mg/mL, respectively. This study found that SSE showed higher antibacterial activity against ECOR than to BRE and OIE, probably as a result of their different chemical compounds. The antibacterial properties of the extracts from these plants have been reported to be against several bacteria. The extracts from *O. indicum* fruits exhibited antibacterial activities against clinically isolated bacteria *Streptococcus suis* and *Staphylococcus intermedius* in the disc diffusion assay (Sithisarn et al., 2016). Pinostrobin and red oil isolated from the rhizomes of *B. rotunda* showed inhibition effects on *Helicobacter pylori* (Bhamarapravati et al., 2006). The compound 1 and 3 isolated from the tubers of *Stephania succifera* showed antimicrobial activities against *Staphylococcus aureus* with diameters of the inhibition zones of 14.0 mm and 18.0 mm, respectively (Yang et al., 2010).

When the extracts were tested for antiviral properties, there was a significant difference in the susceptibility of the two phages SU16 and SU27, suggesting that the high concentration of extract may interfere the adsorption step of the phage on their host cell. Several plant species have been reported to have antiviral activity.

The time-kill assay was used to assess the effect of combinations of the extracts and ECOR phages. The result showed that significant differences were not observed when phages SU16 and SU27 were combined with plant extract, although combination OIE and SU27 exhibited a greater reduction the bacterial cell count of EOR27 than SU27 when used alone. Moreover, Changes in the number of phage plaque of plant extract plus phage were compared to phage only and revealed that the numbers of phage plaque in the combined groups were slightly decreased in the initiate of incubation time. The efficacy of bacteriophages in combination with antibiotics has been examined. Comeau et al. (2007) observed that increased phage production by the sub-lethal concentration of antibiotics was due to cell filamentation in E. coli. A combination of sub-inhibitory concentrations of ceftriaxone and P. *aeruginosa* phages had a synergistic effect resulting in cell morphological changes and reduced bacterial growth (Knezevic et al., 2013). This result demonstrated that the decrease of bacterial cells was not induced by the plant extracts. It may be driven by phage alone. This experiment was performed with cure extract, the presence of non-purify components might hinder the ability of phage by suppressing bacteriophage development. However, this result cannot be compared to the data of other reports regarding a combination of plant extract and bacteriophage, because this is the first report the effect of a combination of plant extract and phage.

Noticeably, the marked difference in viable count between cells treated with bacteriophage or herbal plant extract alone and cells treated with the combined agent was observed only in BRE plus phage SU16 combination against ECOR-16 and OIE plus phage SU27 against ECOR-27. These plant extracts were investigated at MIC concentration, while others were used at concentrations much lower than MIC

concentration. These findings suggest that the very low concentration of the extract may result in no synergistic activity. It is accepted that the synergistic activity happens when the two compounds target different mechanisms. Whereas, the additive interaction occurs when different compounds target the same mechanism of action (Basri and Sandra, 2016). The present thesis also speculates that the combination of phage plus herbal plant extract cannot achieve synergistic effect may be due to phage and herbal plant extracts inhibit the growth of tested *E. coli* strains with the same mechanism of action.

## **5.2 Conclusions**

To summarize,  $\alpha$ -mangostin treated separately has low antibacterial activity against ceftazidime-and ceftriaxone-resistant *A. baumannii*. Its antibacterial action is synergistically enhanced when it was used in combination with ceftazidime or ceftriaxone. The mechanism of action of this inhibition is by following three possible modes of action: 1) increased OM and CM permeability; 2) direct damage to the OMPG and disruption of peptidoglycan structure and 3) the inhibition of  $\beta$ -lactamase activity. Antibiotic-resistant *A. baumannii* isolates have been classified as a critical priority according to the urgency of the need for new antibiotics. Therefore, the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime or plus ceftriaxone is a promising candidate to be developed as a new adjunct agent for the treatment of the infection caused by ceftazidime-and ceftriaxone-resistant *A. baumannii*. Future studies should be investigated and confirmed in an animal test or humans. Also, the synergistic effect on blood and tissue should be evaluated. The combination of phage and antibacterial plant extract is of an interesting approach to combat antibiotic-resistant bacteria. The current thesis is the first study to elucidate the plant extracts (BRE, OIE, and SSE)/phage combination. The results suggest that the combination cannot achieve the potential effect on inhibiting the growth of ECOR when compared to using phages alone. It may be due to the use of low concentrations of plant extracts as the marked difference in phage and plant extract treated alone compared to the combination is observed in only the MIC concentration of the plant extract is employed. Furthermore, this work is the first investigation reporting the interaction of the antimicrobial potential of plant extracts (BRE, OIE, and SSE) in combination with phages. The current proof of concept study has highlighted the variation which can be introduced by including such additional components, especially when they are poorly characterized bulk compounds derived from natural products.





## REFERENCES

- Abdelwahab, S. I., Mohan, S., Abdulla, M. A., Sukari, M. A., Abdul, A. B., Taha, M. M. E., Syam, S., Ahmad, S., and Lee, K.-H. (2011). The methanolic extract of *Boesenbergia rotunda* (L.) Mansf. and its major compound pinostrobin induces anti-ulcerogenic property *in vivo*: possible involvement of indirect antioxidant action. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 137(2): 963-970.
- Abuladze, T., Li, M., Menetrez, M. Y., Dean, T., Senecal, A., and Sulakvelidze, A. (2008). Bacteriophages reduce experimental contamination of hard surfaces, tomato, spinach, broccoli, and ground beef by *Escherichia coli* O157: H7.
  Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 74(20): 6230-6238.
- Ackermann, H. W. (2003). Bacteriophage observations and evolution. Research in Microbiology. 154(4): 245-251.
- Adams, M. (1959). Bacteriophage Interscience. New York: 454-464.
- Afzal-Shah, M., Woodford, N., and Livermore, D. M. (2001). Characterization of OXA-25, OXA-26, and OXA-27, molecular class D β-lactamases associated with carbapenem resistance in clinical isolates of *Acinetobacter baumannii*.
  Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 45(2): 583-588.
- Alekshun, and Levy. (2007). Molecular mechanisms of antibacterial multidrug resistance. Cell. 128(6): 1037-1050.
- Araoka, H. (2012). Combination therapy against multidrug-resistant bacteria. Nihon rinsho. Japanese Journal of Clinical Medicine. 70(2): 305-310.

- Ashelford, K. E., Day, M. J., and Fry, J. C. (2003). Elevated Abundance of Bacteriophage Infecting Bacteria in Soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 69(1): 285-289.
- Azizian, R., Nasser, A., Askari, H., Kalani, M. T., Sadeghifard, N., Pakzad, I., Amini, R., Nejad, A. S. M., and Jalilian, F. A. (2015). Sewage as a rich source of phage study against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO. Biologicals. 43(4): 238-241.
- Basri, D. F., and Sandra, V. (2016). Synergistic Interaction of Methanol Extract from *Canarium odontophyllum* Miq. Leaf in Combination with Oxacillin against Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) ATCC 33591.
  International Journal of Microbiology. 2016: 5249534.
- Bedi, M. S., Verma, V., and Chhibber, S. (2009). Amoxicillin and specific bacteriophage can be used together for eradication of biofilm of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* B5055. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 25(7): 1145-1151.
- Belley, A., Neesham-Grenon, E., Arhin, F. F., McKay, G. A., Parr, T. R., and Moeck,
  G. (2008). Assessment by time-kill methodology of the synergistic effects of oritavancin in combination with other antimicrobial agents against *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 52(10): 3820-3822.
- Bhamarapravati, S., Juthapruth, S., Mahachai, W., and Mahady, G. (2006). Antibacterial activity of *Boesenbergia rotunda* (L.) Mansf. and *Myristica fragrans* Houtt. against *Helicobacter pylori*. Songklanakarin Journal of Science and Technology. 28(1): 157-163.

- Biswas, B., Adhya, S., Washart, P., Paul, B., Trostel, A. N., Powell, B., Carlton, R., and Merril, C. R. (2002). Bacteriophage therapy rescues mice bacteremic from a clinical isolate of vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium*. Infection and Immunity. 70(1): 204-210.
- Blair, J. M., Webber, M. A., Baylay, A. J., Ogbolu, D. O., and Piddock, L. J. (2015).
  Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. Nature Reviews.
  Microbiology. 13(1): 42.
- Blanchfield, J. T., Sands, D. P. A., Kennard, C. H. L., Byriel, K. A., and Kitching, W. (2003). Characterisation of alkaloids from some Australian *Stephania* (Menispermaceae) species. Phytochemistry. 63(6): 711-720.
- Blanco, M., Blanco, J. E., Alonso, M. P., and Blanco, J. (1996). Virulence factors and O groups of *Escherichia coli* isolates from patients with acute pyelonephritis, cystitis and asymptomatic bacteriuria. European Journal of Epidemiology. 12(2): 191-198.
- Bonapace, C. R., Bosso, J. A., Friedrich, L. V., and White, R. L. (2002). Comparison of methods of interpretation of checkerboard synergy testing. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease. 44(4): 363-366.
- Bonifácio, B. V., dos Santos Ramos, M. A., da Silva, P. B., and Bauab, T. M. (2014). Antimicrobial activity of natural products against *Helicobacter pylori*: a review. Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials. 13: 54.
- Bonomo, R. A., and Szabo, D. (2006). Mechanisms of multidrug resistance in *Acinetobacter* species and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 43(Supplement 2): S49-S56.

- Bradley, D. E. (1967). Ultrastructure of bacteriophage and bacteriocins.
  Bacteriological Reviews. 31(4): 230.
- Bragg, R., van der Westhuizen, W., Lee, J. Y., Coetsee, E., and Boucher, C. (2014).
  Bacteriophages as potential treatment option for antibiotic resistant bacteria.
  Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. 807: 97-110.
- Brown, L., Wolf, J. M., Prados-Rosales, R., and Casadevall, A. (2015). Through the wall: extracellular vesicles in Gram-positive bacteria, mycobacteria and fungi.
   Nature Reviews Microbiology. 13(10): 620-630.
- Bush, K. (2010). Alarming β-lactamase-mediated resistance in multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Current Opinion in Microbiology. 13(5): 558-564.
- Carlton, R. M. (1999). Phage therapy: past history and future prospects. Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis. 47(5): 267-274.
- Chang, Y., Luan, G., Xu, Y., Wang, Y., Shen, M., Zhang, C., Zheng, W., Huang, J.,
  Yang, J., and Jia, X. (2015). Characterization of carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolates in a Chinese teaching hospital. Frontiers in
  Microbiology. 6.
- Chaudhury, R. R., and Rafei, U. M. (2001). Traditional medicine in Asia. World Health Organization, Regional Office for South-East Asia, New Delhi, SEARO Regional Publications. (39).
- Chea, A., Hout, S., Bun, S.-S., Tabatadze, N., Gasquet, M., Azas, N., Elias, R., and Balansard, G. (2007). Antimalarial activity of alkaloids isolated from *Stephania rotunda*. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 112(1): 132-137.

- Cheenpracha, S., Karalai, C., Ponglimanont, C., Subhadhirasakul, S., and Tewtrakul,
   S. (2006). Anti-HIV-1 protease activity of compounds from *Boesenbergia* pandurata. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 14(6): 1710-1714.
- Cheeptham, N., and Towers, G. (2002). Light-mediated activities of some Thai medicinal plant teas. **Fitoterapia**. 73(7): 651-662.
- Chen, L.-J., Games, D. E., and Jones, J. (2003). Isolation and identification of four flavonoid constituents from the seeds of *Oroxylum indicum* by high-speed counter-current chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A. 988(1): 95-105.
- Chen, S.-X., Wan, M., and Loh, B.-N. (1996). Active constituents against HIV-1 protease from *Garcinia mangostana*. **Planta Medica**. 62(04): 381-382.
- Chernomordik, A. (1989). Bacteriophages and their therapeutic-prophylactic use. Meditsinskaia Sestra. 48(6): 44-47.
- Chhibber, S., Kaur, S., and Kumari, S. (2008). Therapeutic potential of bacteriophage in treating *Klebsiella pneumoniae* B5055-mediated lobar pneumonia in mice.
   Journal of Medical Microbiology. 57(12): 1508-1513.
- Chin, Y.-W., and Kinghorn, A. D. (2008). Structural characterization, biological effects, and synthetic studies on xanthones from mangosteen (Garcinia mangostana), a popular botanical dietary supplement. Mini-Reviews in Organic Chemistry. 5(4): 355-364.
- Chomnawang, M. T., Surassmo, S., Nukoolkarn, V. S., and Gritsanapan, W. (2005).
   Antimicrobial effects of Thai medicinal plants against acne-inducing bacteria.
   Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 101(1-3): 330-333.

- Chomnawang, M. T., Surassmo, S., Nukoolkarn, V. S., and Gritsanapan, W. (2007). Effect of *Garcinia mangostana* on inflammation caused by *Propionibacterium acnes*. Fitoterapia. 78(6): 401-408.
- Chomnawang, M. T., Surassmo, S., Wongsariya, K., and Bunyapraphatsara, N. (2009). Antibacterial activity of Thai medicinal plants against methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Fitoterapia. 80(2): 102-104.
- Chopra, R. (1958). Chopra's Indigenous Drugs of India, UN Dhur & Sons Pvt. Ltd., Calcutta. 12: 495.
- Ciofu, O., Beveridge, T. J., Kadurugamuwa, J., Walther-Rasmussen, J., and Høiby, N. (2000). Chromosomal β-lactamase is packaged into membrane vesicles and secreted from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 45(1): 9-13.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. (2013). Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing: 16th informational supplement M100-S116. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. (2014). Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing: 24th informational supplement M100-S24. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
- Clokie, M., Millard, A., Letarov, A., and Heaphy, S. (2011). Phages in nature. Bacteriophage. 1: 31-45.
- Comeau, A. M., Tétart, F., Trojet, S. N., Prere, M.-F., and Krisch, H. (2007). Phageantibiotic synergy (PAS): β-lactam and quinolone antibiotics stimulate virulent phage growth. PLoS One. 2(8): e799.

- Coulter, L. B., McLean, R. J., Rohde, R. E., and Aron, G. M. (2014). Effect of bacteriophage infection in combination with tobramycin on the emergence of resistance in *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. Viruses. 6(10): 3778-3786.
- Coutinho, H. D., Falcão-Silva, V. S., and Gonçalves, G. F. (2008). Pulmonary bacterial pathogens in cystic fibrosis patients and antibiotic therapy: a tool for the health workers. **International Archives of Medicine**. 1(1): 24.
- Cushnie, T. P. T., Cushnie, B., and Lamb, A. J. (2014). Alkaloids: An overview of their antibacterial, antibiotic-enhancing and antivirulence activities.
   International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 44(5): 377-386.
- Davies, J., and Davies, D. (2010). Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance.Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews. 74(3): 417-433.
- de Perio, M. A., Yarnold, P. R., Warren, J., and Noskin, G. A. (2006). Risk factors and outcomes associated with non-*Enterococcus faecalis*, non-*Enterococcus faecalis*, non-*Enterococcus faecium* enterococcal bacteremia. **Infection Control**. 27(01): 28-33.
- Denton, M. (2007). Enterobacteriaceae. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 29: S9-S22.
- Devi, K. P., Nisha, S. A., Sakthivel, R., and Pandian, S. K. (2010). Eugenol (an essential oil of clove) acts as an antibacterial agent against *Salmonella typhi* by disrupting the cellular membrane. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 130(1): 107-115.
- Dharmaratne, H., Sakagami, Y., Piyasena, K., and Thevanesam, V. (2013). Antibacterial activity of xanthones from *Garcinia mangostana* (L.) and their

structure-activity relationship studies. Natural Product Research. 27(10): 938-941.

- Dinda, B., SilSarma, I., Dinda, M., and Rudrapaul, P. (2015). Oroxylum indicum (L.)
  Kurz, an important Asian traditional medicine: from traditional uses to scientific data for its commercial exploitation. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 161: 255-278.
- Dragendorff, O. (1930). Über das Harz von *Garcinia Mangostana* L. Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie. 482(1): 280-301.
- Dramsi, S., Magnet, S., Davison, S., and Arthur, M. (2008). Covalent attachment of proteins to peptidoglycan. FEMS Microbiology Reviews. 32(2): 307-320.
- Eliopoulos, G. M. (2009). Microbiology of drugs for treating multiply drug-resistant Gram-positive bacteria. Journal of Infection. 59, Supplement 1(0): S17-S24.
- Eng-Chong, T., Yean-Kee, L., Chin-Fei, C., Choon-Han, H., Sher-Ming, W., Li-Ping, C. T., Gen-Teck, F., Khalid, N., Abd Rahman, N., and Karsani, S. A. (2012). *Boesenbergia rotunda*: from ethnomedicine to drug discovery. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 2012.
- Eriksson, M., Nielsen, P. E., and Good, L. (2002). Cell permeabilization and uptake of antisense peptide-peptide nucleic acid (PNA) into *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 277(9): 7144-7147.
- Erridge, C., Bennett-Guerrero, E., and Poxton, I. R. (2002). Structure and function of lipopolysaccharides. **Microbes and Infection**. 4(8): 837-851.
- Eumkeb, G. (1999). Investigation of the effect of antifolates on *Escherichia coli*1810. Robert Gordon University.

- Eumkeb, G., and Chukrathok, S. (2013). Synergistic activity and mechanism of action of ceftazidime and apigenin combination against ceftazidime-resistant *Enterobacter cloacae*. **Phytomedicine**. 20(3): 262-269.
- Eumkeb, G., Sakdarat, S., and Siriwong, S. (2010). Reversing β-lactam antibiotic resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* with galangin from *Alpinia officinarum* Hance and synergism with ceftazidime. **Phytomedicine**. 18(1): 40-45.
- Eumkeb, G., Siriwong, S., and Thumanu, K. (2012). Synergistic activity of luteolin and amoxicillin combination against amoxicillin-resistant *Escherichia coli* and mode of action. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology. 117: 247-253.
- Evans, M. E., Feola, D. J., and Rapp, R. P. (1999). Polymyxin B sulfate and colistin: old antibiotics for emerging multiresistant gram-negative bacteria. Annals of Pharmacotherapy. 33(9): 960-967.
- Falagas, M., and Karveli, E. (2007). The changing global epidemiology of Acinetobacter baumannii infections: a development with major public health implications. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 13(2): 117-119.

Falagas, M. E., and Kasiakou, S. K. (2006). Toxicity of polymyxins: a systematic review of the evidence from old and recent studies. Critical Care. 10(1): R27.
Fernández-Cuenca, F., Martínez-Martínez, L., Conejo, M. C., Ayala, J. A., Perea, E. J., and Pascual, A. (2003). Relationship between β-lactamase production, outer membrane protein and penicillin-binding protein profiles on the activity of carbapenems against clinical isolates of *Acinetobacter baumannii*. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 51(3): 565-574.

- Fernández, L., and Hancock, R. E. (2012). Adaptive and mutational resistance: role of porins and efflux pumps in drug resistance. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 25(4): 661-681.
- Fournier, P. E., Richet, H., and Weinstein, R. A. (2006). The epidemiology and control of *Acinetobacter baumannii* in health care facilities. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 42(5): 692-699.
- Garau, J., Xercavins, M., Rodríguez-Carballeira, M., Gómez-Vera, J. R., Coll, I., Vidal, D., Llovet, T., and Ruíz-Bremón, A. (1999). Emergence and dissemination of quinolone-Resistant *Escherichia coli* in the community.
  Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 43(11): 2736-2741.
- Garidel, P., and Brandenburg, K. (2009). Current understanding of polymyxin B applications in bacteraemia/sepsis therapy prevention: clinical, pharmaceutical, structural and mechanistic aspects. Anti-Infective Agents in Medicinal Chemistry. 8(4): 367-385.
- Garnacho-Montero, J., and Amaya-Villar, R. (2010). Multiresistant Acinetobacter baumannii infections: epidemiology and management. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases. 23(4): 332-339.
- Gaur, R. (1999). Flora of the District Garhwal, North West Himalaya. Transmedia.
- Georgopapadakou, N. H. (1993). Penicillin-binding proteins and bacterial resistance to beta-lactams. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 37(10): 2045-2053.
- Gonzales, P. R., Pesesky, M. W., Bouley, R., Ballard, A., Biddy, B. A., Suckow, M. A., Wolter, W. R., Schroeder, V. A., Burnham, C.-A. D., and Mobashery, S.

(2015). Synergistic, collaterally sensitive  $\beta$ -lactam combinations suppress resistance in MRSA. Nature Chemical Biology. 11(11): 855-861.

- Gopalakrishnan, G., Banumathi, B., and Suresh, G. (1997). Evaluation of the antifungal activity of natural xanthones from *Garcinia mangostana* and their synthetic derivatives. Journal of Natural Products. 60(5): 519-524.
- Gordon, N. C., and Wareham, D. W. (2010). Multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii: mechanisms of virulence and resistance. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 35(3): 219-226.
- Hamley, I. W. (2015). Lipopeptides: from self-assembly to bioactivity. Chemical Communications. 51(41): 8574-8583.
- Hancock, R. E., and Speert, D. P. (2000). Antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa: mechanisms and impact on treatment. Drug Resistance Updates. 3(4): 247-255.
- Hanlon, G. W. (2007). Bacteriophages: an appraisal of their role in the treatment of bacterial infections. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 30(2): 118-128.
- Harbarth, S., Balkhy, H. H., Goossens, H., Jarlier, V., Kluytmans, J., Laxminarayan,
  R., Saam, M., Van Belkum, A., and Pittet, D. (2015). Antimicrobial resistance: one world, one fight! Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control. 4(1):
  1.
- Harikrishnan, R., Rani, M. N., and Balasundaram, C. (2003). Hematological and biochemical parameters in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, following herbal treatment for *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection. Aquaculture. 221(1): 41-50.

- Harminder, Singh, V., and Chaudhary, A. K. (2011). A Review on the Taxonomy,
  Ethnobotany, Chemistry and Pharmacology of *Oroxylum indicum* Vent.
  Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 73(5): 483-490.
- Harper, D. R., Parracho, H. M. R. T., Walker, J., Sharp, R., Hughes, G., Werthén, M.,
  Lehman, S., and Morales, S. (2014). Bacteriophages and Biofilms.
  Antibiotics. 3(3): 270-284.
- Hashizume, T., Ishino, F., Nakagawa, J., Tamaki, S., and Matsuhashi, M. (1984).
  Studies on the mechanism of action of imipenem (N-formimidoylthienamycin) in vitro: binding to the penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) in *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and inhibition of enzyme activities due to the PBPs in *E. coli*. The Journal of Antibiotics. 37(4): 394-400.
- Hayes, M. V., and Orr, D. C. (1983). Mode of action of ceftazidime: affinity for the penicillin-binding proteins of *Escherichia coli* K12, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 12(2): 119-126.
- Hemaiswarya, S., Kruthiventi, A. K., and Doble, M. (2008). Synergism between natural products and antibiotics against infectious diseases. Phytomedicine. 15(8): 639-652.
- Hull, R., Brown, F., and Payne, C. (1990). Virology: A Directory and Dictionary ofAnimal, Bacterial and Plant Viruses. London. The Macmillan Press.
- Ibrahim, M. Y., Hashim, N. M., Mariod, A. A., Mohan, S., Abdulla, M. A., Abdelwahab, S. I., and Arbab, I. A. (2014). α-Mangostin from *Garcinia mangostana* Linn: an updated review of its pharmacological properties. Arabian Journal of Chemistry.

- Iinuma, M., Tosa, H., Tanaka, T., Asai, F., Kobayashi, Y., Shimano, R., and Miyauchi, K. (1996). Antibacterial activity of xanthones from guttiferaeous plants against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. The Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology. 48(8): 861-865.
- Imbeault, S., Parent, S., Lagacé, M., Uhland, C. F., and Blais, J.-F. (2006). Using bacteriophages to prevent furunculosis caused by *Aeromonas salmonicida* in farmed brook trout. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health. 18(3): 203-214.
- Immanuel, G., Vincybai, V., Sivaram, V., Palavesam, A., and Marian, M. P. (2004). Effect of butanolic extracts from terrestrial herbs and seaweeds on the survival, growth and pathogen (*Vibrio parahaemolyticus*) load on shrimp *Penaeus indicus* juveniles. Aquaculture. 236(1): 53-65.
- Isa, N., Abdelwahab, S., Mohan, S., Abdul, A., Sukari, M., Taha, M., Syam, S., Narrima, P., Cheah, S. C., and Ahmad, S. (2012). In vitro anti-inflammatory, cytotoxic and antioxidant activities of boesenbergin A, a chalcone isolated from *Boesenbergia rotunda* (L.)(fingerroot). Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research. 45(6): 524-530.
- Jo, A., Kim, J., Ding, T., and Ahn, J. (2016). Role of phage-antibiotic combination in reducing antibiotic resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Food Science and Biotechnology. 25(4): 1211-1215.
- Jung, H.-A., Su, B.-N., Keller, W. J., Mehta, R. G., and Kinghorn, A. D. (2006). Antioxidant xanthones from the pericarp of *Garcinia mangostana* (Mangosteen). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 54(6): 2077-2082.

- Junkes, C., Wessolowski, A., Farnaud, S., Evans, R. W., Good, L., Bienert, M., and Dathe, M. (2008). The interaction of arginine-and tryptophan-rich cyclic hexapeptides with *Escherichia coli* membranes. Journal of Peptide Science. 14(4): 535-543.
- Kamal, F., and Dennis, J. J. (2015). *Burkholderia cepacia* complex Phage-Antibiotic
   Synergy (PAS): antibiotics stimulate lytic phage activity. Applied
   Environmental Microbiology. 81(3): 1132-1138.
- Kaomongkolgit, R., Jamdee, K., and Chaisomboon, N. (2009). Antifungal activity of alpha-mangostin against *Candida albicans*. Journal of Oral Science. 51(3): 401-406.
- Kaper, J. B., Nataro, J. P., and Mobley, H. L. (2004). Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*.Nature Reviews. Microbiology. 2(2): 123-140.
- Kassamali, Z., Jain, R., and Danziger, L. H. (2015). An update on the arsenal for multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter* infections: polymyxin antibiotics.
   International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 30: 125-132.
- Keary, R., McAuliffe, O., Ross, R., Hill, C., O'Mahony, J., and Coffey, A. (2013).
  Bacteriophages and their endolysins for control of pathogenic bacteria.
  Méndez-Vilas A. Microbial pathogens and strategies for combating them: science, technology and education, Formatex Research Center, Badajoz, Spain: 1028-1040.
- Khan Mirzaei, M., and Nilsson, A. S. (2015). Isolation of phages for phage therapy: a comparison of spot tests and efficiency of plating analyses for determination of host range and efficacy. **PLoS One**. 10(3): e0118557.

- Kirtikar, K. R., and Basu, B. D. (2004). *Indian Medicinal Plants Vol. I.* Paper presented at the L. M. Basu, Allahabad, India,.
- Knezevic, P., Curcin, S., Aleksic, V., Petrusic, M., and Vlaski, L. (2013). Phageantibiotic synergism: a possible approach to combatting *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Research in Microbiology. 164(1): 55-60.
- Koebnik, R., Locher, K. P., and Van Gelder, P. (2000). Structure and function of bacterial outer membrane proteins: barrels in a nutshell. Molecular Microbiology. 37(2): 239-253.
- Koh, J. J., Qiu, S., Zou, H., Lakshminarayanan, R., Li, J., Zhou, X., Tang, C., Saraswathi, P., Verma, C., Tan, D. T., Tan, A. L., Liu, S., and Beuerman, R. W. (2013). Rapid bactericidal action of alpha-mangostin against MRSA as an outcome of membrane targeting. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1828(2): 834-844.
- Konaklieva, M. I. (2014). Molecular targets of β-lactam-based antimicrobials: Beyond the usual suspects. Antibiotics. 3(2): 128-142.
- Kutter, E., De Vos, D., Gvasalia, G., Alavidze, Z., Gogokhia, L., Kuhl, S., and Abedon, S. T. (2010). Phage therapy in clinical practice: treatment of human infections. Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology. 11(1): 69-86.
- Lambert, P. A. (2005). Bacterial resistance to antibiotics: Modified target sites. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 57(10): 1471-1485.
- Lebeer, S., Vanderleyden, J., and De Keersmaecker, S. C. (2010). Host interactions of probiotic bacterial surface molecules: comparison with commensals and pathogens. **Nature Reviews Microbiology**. 8(3): 171-184.

- Liao, X., and Hancock, R. (1997). Susceptibility to beta-lactam antibiotics of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* overproducing penicillin-binding protein 3.
   Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 41(5): 1158-1161.
- Lister, P. D., Wolter, D. J., and Hanson, N. D. (2009). Antibacterial-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: clinical impact and complex regulation of chromosomally encoded resistance mechanisms. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 22(4): 582-610.
- Livermore, D. M., and Woodford, N. (2006). The β-lactamase threat in Enterobacteriaceae, *Pseudomonas* and *Acinetobacter*. Trends in Microbiology. 14(9): 413-420.
- Lockhart, S. R., Abramson, M. A., Beekmann, S. E., Gallagher, G., Riedel, S., Diekema, D. J., Quinn, J. P., and Doern, G. V. (2007). Antimicrobial resistance among Gram-negative bacilli causing infections in intensive care unit patients in the United States between 1993 and 2004. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 45(10): 3352-3359.
- Mahabusarakam, W., Wiriyachitra, P., and Taylor, W. C. (1987). Chemical constituents of *Garcinia mangostana*. Journal of Natural Products. 50(3): 474-478.
- Makarasen, A., Sirithana, W., Mogkhuntod, S., Khunnawutmanotham, N., Chimnoi, N., and Techasakul, S. (2011). Cytotoxic and antimicrobial activities of aporphine alkaloids isolated from *Stephania venosa* (Blume) Spreng. Planta Medica. 77(13): 1519-1524.
- Manchanda, V., Sanchaita, S., and Singh, N. (2010). Multidrug resistant *acinetobacter*. Journal of Global Infectious Diseases. 2(3): 291.

- Maragakis, L. L., and Perl, T. M. (2008). Acinetobacter baumannii: epidemiology, antimicrobial resistance, and treatment options. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 46(8): 1254-1263.
- Marques, M. B., Brookings, E. S., Moser, S. A., Sonke, P. B., and Waites, K. B. (1997). Comparative in vitro antimicrobial susceptibilities of nosocomial isolates of *Acinetobacter baumannii* and synergistic activities of nine antimicrobial combinations. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 41(5): 881-885.
- Mat Ali, R., Houghton, P. J., Raman, A., and Hoult, J. R. S. (1998). Antimicrobial and antiinflammatory activities of extracts and constituents of *Oroxylum indicum* (L.) Vent. Phytomedicine. 5(5): 375-381.
- Mathur, M., Vidhani, S., Mehndiratta, P., Bhalla, P., and Reddy, B. (2003).
  Bacteriophage therapy: an alternative to conventional antibiotics. The Journal of the Association of Physicians of India. 51: 593-596.
- Matsuzaki, S., Rashel, M., Uchiyama, J., Sakurai, S., Ujihara, T., Kuroda, M., Ikeuchi, M., Tani, T., Fujieda, M., and Wakiguchi, H. (2005). Bacteriophage therapy: a revitalized therapy against bacterial infectious diseases. Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy. 11(5): 211-219.

Matsuzaki, S., Yasuda, M., Nishikawa, H., Kuroda, M., Ujihara, T., Shuin, T., Shen, Y., Jin, Z., Fujimoto, S., and Nasimuzzaman, M. (2003). Experimental protection of mice against lethal *Staphylococcus aureus* infection by novel bacteriophage φMR11. **The Journal of Infectious Diseases**. 187(4): 613-624.

- McConnell, M. J., Actis, L., and Pachon, J. (2013). Acinetobacter baumannii: human infections, factors contributing to pathogenesis and animal models. FEMS Microbiology Reviews. 37(2): 130-155.
- Meng, X., Shi, Y., Ji, W., Meng, X., Zhang, J., Wang, H., Lu, C., Sun, J., and Yan, Y. (2011). Application of a bacteriophage lysin to disrupt biofilms formed by the animal pathogen *Streptococcus suis*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 77(23): 8272-8279.
- Miedzybrodzki, R., Borysowski, J., Weber-Dabrowska, B., Fortuna, W., Letkiewicz, S., Szufnarowski, K., Pawelczyk, Z., Rogóz, P., Klak, M., and Wojtasik, E. (2012). 3 Clinical Aspects of Phage Therapy. Advances in Virus Research. 83: 73.
- Miles, A. A., Misra, S. S., and Irwin, J. O. (1938). The estimation of the bactericidal power of the blood. The Journal of Hygiene. 38: 732-749.
- Miller, T. A. (2006). Modern surgical care: physiologic foundations and clinical applications. CRC Press.
- Moirangthem, D. S., Talukdar, N. C., Bora, U., Kasoju, N., and Das, R. K. (2013).
   Differential effects of *Oroxylum indicum* bark extracts: antioxidant, antimicrobial, cytotoxic and apoptotic study. Cytotechnology. 65(1): 83-95.

Moran, G. J., Krishnadasan, A., Gorwitz, R. J., Fosheim, G. E., McDougal, L. K., Carey, R. B., and Talan, D. A. (2006). Methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* infections among patients in the emergency department. New England Journal of Medicine. 355(7): 666-674.

Murakami, M. (1932). Über die Konstitution des Mangostins. European Journal of Organic Chemistry. 496(1): 122-151.

- Neuhaus, F. C., and Baddiley, J. (2003). A continuum of anionic charge: structures and functions of D-alanyl-teichoic acids in gram-positive bacteria.
   Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews. 67(4): 686-723.
- Nguyen, P. T. M., Falsetta, M. L., Hwang, G., Gonzalez-Begne, M., and Koo, H.
   (2014). α-Mangostin disrupts the development of *Streptococcus mutans* biofilms and facilitates its mechanical removal. **PloS one**. 9(10): e111312.
- Nikaido, H. (2003). Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability revisited. **Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews**. 67(4): 593-656.
- O'flaherty, S., Ross, R., Meaney, W., Fitzgerald, G., Elbreki, M., and Coffey, A. (2005). Potential of the polyvalent anti-*Staphylococcus* bacteriophage K for control of antibiotic-resistant staphylococci from hospitals. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 71(4): 1836-1842.
- O'Flaherty, S., Ross, R. P., and Coffey, A. (2009). Bacteriophage and their lysins for elimination of infectious bacteria. **FEMS Microbiology Reviews**. 33(4): 801-819.
- Obolskiy, D., Pischel, I., Siriwatanametanon, N., and Heinrich, M. (2009). Garcinia mangostana L.: a phytochemical and pharmacological review. Phytotherapy Research. 23(8): 1047-1065.

Ochman, H., and Selander, R. K. (1984). Standard reference strains of *Escherichia coli* from natural populations. **Journal of Bacteriology**. 157(2): 690-693.

- Parascandola, J. (1981). The theoretical basis of Paul Ehrlich's chemotherapy. Journal of the History of Medicine and Allied Sciences. 36(1): 19-43.
- Park, K. M., Choo, J. H., Sohn, J. H., Lee, S. H., and Hwang, J. K. (2005). Antibacterial activity of panduratin A isolated from *Kaempferia pandurata*

against *Porphyromonas gingivalis*. Food Science and Biotechnology. 14(2): 286-289.

- Paterson, D. L., and Bonomo, R. A. (2005). Extended-spectrum β-lactamases: a clinical update. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 18(4): 657-686.
- Patra, A., Montgomery, C. T., Freyer, A. J., Guinaudeau, H., Shamma, M., Tantisewie, B., and Pharadai, K. (1987). The protoberberine alkaloids of *Stephania suberosa*. Phytochemistry. 26(2): 547-549.
- Pedraza-Chaverri, J., Cárdenas-Rodríguez, N., Orozco-Ibarra, M., and Pérez-Rojas, J.
   M. (2008). Medicinal properties of mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana*). Food and Chemical Toxicology. 46(10): 3227-3239.
- Peres, V., Nagem, T. J., and de Oliveira, F. F. (2000). Tetraoxygenated naturally occurring xanthones. Phytochemistry. 55(7): 683-710.
- Phatthalung, P. N., Chusri, S., and Voravuthikunchai, S. P. (2012). Thai ethnomedicinal plants as resistant modifying agents for combating *Acinetobacter baumannii* infections. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 12(1): 56.
- Phitaktim, S., Chomnawang, M., Sirichaiwetchakoon, K., Dunkhunthod, B., Hobbs, G., and Eumkeb, G. (2016). Synergism and the mechanism of action of the combination of alpha-mangostin isolated from *Garcinia mangostana* L. and oxacillin against an oxacillin-resistant *Staphylococcus saprophyticus*. BMC Microbiology. 16(1): 195.
- Pinto, F., Maillard, J.-Y., and Denyer, S. P. (2010). Effect of surfactants, temperature, and sonication on the virucidal activity of polyhexamethylene biguanide

against the bacteriophage MS2. American Journal of Infection Control. 38(5): 393-398.

- Pothitirat, W., Chomnawang, M. T., and Gritsanapan, W. (2010). Anti-acne-inducing bacterial activity of mangosteen fruit rind extracts. Medical Principles and Practice. 19(4): 281-286.
- Pradel, N., Delmas, J., Wu, L., Santini, C., and Bonnet, R. (2009). Sec-and Tatdependent translocation of β-lactamases across the *Escherichia coli* inner membrane. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 53(1): 242-248.
- Quesada-Molina, C., del Olmo-Iruela, M., and García-Campaña, A. M. (2012). Analysis of cephalosporin residues in environmental waters by capillary zone electrophoresis with off-line and on-line preconcentration. Analytical Methods. 4(8): 2341-2347.
- Radhika, L., Meena, C., Peter, S., Rajesh, K., and Rosamma, M. (2011).
  Phytochemical and antimicrobial study of *Oroxylum indicum*. Ancient Science of Life. 30(4): 114.
- Rathnayake, I., Hargreaves, M., and Huygens, F. (2012). Antibiotic resistance and virulence traits in clinical and environmental *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* isolates. Systematic and Applied Microbiology. 35(5): 326-333.
- Redgrave, L. S., Sutton, S. B., Webber, M. A., and Piddock, L. J. (2014). Fluoroquinolone resistance: mechanisms, impact on bacteria, and role in evolutionary success. Trends in Microbiology. 22(8): 438-445.

- Rice, L. B. (2006). Challenges in identifying new antimicrobial agents effective for treating infections with *Acinetobacter baumannii* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 43(Supplement 2): S100-S105.
- Richards, R., Xing, J., Gregory, D., and Marshall, D. (1993). An electronmicroscope study of the effect of sulphadiazine and trimethoprim on *Enterobacter cloacae*. Journal of Medical Microbiology. 38(1): 64-68.
- Rogers, H. J., Perkins, H. R., and Ward, J. B. (1980). Microbial cell walls and membranes. Chapman and Hall London.
- Rohwer, F. (2003). Global Phage Diversity. Cell. 113(2): 141.
- Roy, M. K., Nakahara, K., Na, T. V., Trakoontivakorn, G., Takenaka, M., Isobe, S., and Tsushida, T. (2007). Baicalein, a flavonoid extracted from a methanolic extract of *Oroxylum indicum* inhibits proliferation of a cancer cell line *in vitro* via induction of apoptosis. **Pharmazie**. 62(2): 149-153.
- Rukayadi, Y., Han, S., Yong, D., and Hwang, J.-K. (2010). In vitro antibacterial activity of panduratin A against enterococci clinical isolates. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 33(9): 1489-1493.
- Rukayadi, Y., Lee, K., Han, S., Yong, D., and Hwang, J.-K. (2009). In vitro activities of panduratin A against clinical Staphylococcus strains. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 53(10): 4529-4532.
- Ryan, E. M., Alkawareek, M. Y., Donnelly, R. F., and Gilmore, B. F. (2012).
  Synergistic phage-antibiotic combinations for the control of *Escherichia coli* biofilms in vitro. Pathogens and Disease. 65(2): 395-398.

- Sakagami, Y., Iinuma, M., Piyasena, K., and Dharmaratne, H. (2005). Antibacterial activity of α-mangostin against vancomycin resistant *Enterococci* (VRE) and synergism with antibiotics. **Phytomedicine**. 12(3): 203-208.
- Salmond, G. P., and Fineran, P. C. (2015). A century of the phage: past, present and future. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 13(12): 777-786.
- Savoia, D. (2012). Plant-derived antimicrobial compounds: alternatives to antibiotics. **Future Microbiology**. 7(8): 979-990.
- Schmid, W. (1855). Ueber das mangostin. Justus Liebigs Annalen der Chemie. 93(1): 83-88.
- Schumann, W. (2006). Structure of the bacterial cell. Dynamics of the Bacterial Chromosome: Structure and Function: 1-27.
- Semler, D. D., Goudie, A. D., Finlay, W. H., and Dennis, J. J. (2014). Aerosol phage therapy efficacy in *Burkholderia cepacia* complex respiratory infections.
   Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 58(7): 4005-4013.
- Semwal, D. K., Badoni, R., Semwal, R., Kothiyal, S. K., Singh, G. J. P., and Rawat,
  U. (2010). The genus *Stephania* (Menispermaceae): chemical and pharmacological perspectives. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 132(2): 369-383.
- Sheng, H., Knecht, H. J., Kudva, I. T., and Hovde, C. J. (2006). Application of bacteriophages to control intestinal *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 levels in ruminants. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 72(8): 5359-5366.
- Sherrard, L. J., Tunney, M. M., and Elborn, J. S. (2014). Antimicrobial resistance in the respiratory microbiota of people with cystic fibrosis. The Lancet. 384(9944): 703-713.

- Silby, M. W., Winstanley, C., Godfrey, S. A., Levy, S. B., and Jackson, R. W. (2011). *Pseudomonas* genomes: diverse and adaptable. **FEMS Microbiology Reviews**. 35(4): 652-680.
- Singh, J., and Kakkar, P. (2013). Modulation of liver function, antioxidant responses, insulin resistance and glucose transport by *Oroxylum indicum* stem bark in STZ induced diabetic rats. Food and Chemical Toxicology. 62: 722-731.
- Sithisarn, P., Nantateerapong, P., Rojsanga, P., and Sithisarn, P. (2016). Screening for antibacterial and antioxidant activities and phytochemical analysis of *Oroxylum indicum* fruit extracts. **Molecules**. 21(4): 446.
- Srivastava, J., Chandra, H., Nautiyal, A. R., and Kalra, S. J. S. (2014). Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and plant-derived antimicrobials (PDA(m)s) as an alternative drug line to control infections. **3 Biotech**. 4(5): 451-460.
- Stapleton, P. D., and Taylor, P. W. (2002). Methicillin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*: mechanisms and modulation. **Science Progress**. 85(Pt 1): 57-72.
- Sukandar, E. Y., Sunderam, N., and Fidrianny, I. (2014). Activity of Kaempferia pandurata (Roxb.) rhizome ethanol extract against MRSA, MRCNS, MSSA, Bacillus subtilis and Salmonella typhi. Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences. 17(1): 49.

Suksamrarn, S., Suwannapoch, N., Phakhodee, W., Thanuhiranlert, J., Ratananukul, P., Chimnoi, N., and Suksamrarn, A. (2003). Antimycobacterial activity of prenylated xanthones from the fruits of *Garcinia mangostana*. Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin. 51(7): 857-859.

Sulakvelidze, A., Alavidze, Z., and Morris, J. G. (2001). Bacteriophage therapy. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 45(3): 649-659.

- Sundaram, B., Gopalakrishnan, C., Subramanian, S., Shankaranarayanan, D., and Kameswaran, L. (1983). Antimicrobial activities of *Garcinia mangostana*.
  Planta Medica. 48(05): 59-60.
- Tadesse, D. A., Zhao, S., Tong, E., Ayers, S., Singh, A., Bartholomew, M. J., and McDermott, P. F. (2012). Antimicrobial drug resistance in *Escherichia coli* from humans and food animals, United States, 1950-2002. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 18(5): 741-749.
- Takemura-Uchiyama, I., Uchiyama, J., Osanai, M., Morimoto, N., Asagiri, T., Ujihara, T., Daibata, M., Sugiura, T., and Matsuzaki, S. (2014). Experimental phage therapy against lethal lung-derived septicemia caused by *Staphylococcus aureus* in mice. Microbes and Infection. 16(6): 512-517.
- Taneja, N. K., and Tyagi, J. S. (2007). Resazurin reduction assays for screening of anti-tubercular compounds against dormant and actively growing Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Mycobacterium bovis BCG and Mycobacterium smegmatis. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 60(2): 288-293.
- Taweechaisupapong, S., Singhara, S., Lertsatitthanakorn, P., and Khunkitti, W. (2010). Antimicrobial effects of *Boesenbergia pandurata* and *Piper sarmentosum* leaf extracts on planktonic cells and biofilm of oral pathogens.
  Pakistan Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 23(2).
- Teethaisong, Y., Autarkool, N., Sirichaiwetchakoon, K., Krubphachaya, P., Kupittayanant, S., and Eumkeb, G. (2014). Synergistic activity and mechanism of action of *Stephania suberosa* Forman extract and ampicillin combination against ampicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Journal of Biomedical Science. 21(1): 90.

- Tenover, F. C. (2006). Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria. **The American Journal of Medicine**. 119(6): S3-S10.
- Thomson, J. M., and Bonomo, R. A. (2005). The threat of antibiotic resistance in Gram-negative pathogenic bacteria: β-lactams in peril! Current Opinion in Microbiology. 8(5): 518-524.
- Tiwari, V., Roy, R., and Tiwari, M. (2015). Antimicrobial active herbal compounds against *Acinetobacter baumannii* and other pathogens. Frontiers in Microbiology. 6.
- Tommassen, J. (2010). Assembly of outer-membrane proteins in bacteria and mitochondria. **Microbiology**. **156**(9): **258**7-2596.
- Torres-Barceló, C., Franzon, B., Vasse, M., and Hochberg, M. E. (2016). Long-term effects of single and combined introductions of antibiotics and bacteriophages on populations of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Evolutionary Applications. 9(4): 583-595.
- Vlietinck, A., De Bruyne, T., Apers, S., and Pieters, L. (1998). Plant-derived leading compounds for chemotherapy of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. **Planta Medica**. 64(02): 97-109.
- Vollmer, W., Blanot, D., and De Pedro, M. A. (2008). Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. **FEMS Microbiology Reviews**. 32(2): 149-167.
- Vu, J., and Carvalho, J. (2011). *Enterococcus*: review of its physiology, pathogenesis, diseases and the challenges it poses for clinical microbiology. Frontiers in Biology. 6(5): 357-366.
- Wagner, H. (2011). Synergy research: approaching a new generation of phytopharmaceuticals. **Fitoterapia**. 82(1): 34-37.

- Wagner, H., and Ulrich-Merzenich, G. (2009). Synergy research: approaching a new generation of phytopharmaceuticals. **Phytomedicine**. 16(2-3): 97-110.
- Wang, G., Clark, C. G., and Rodgers, F. G. (2002). Detection in *Escherichia coli* of the genes encoding the major virulence factors, the genes defining the O157:H7 serotype, and components of the type 2 Shiga toxin family by multiplex PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 40(10): 3613-3619.
- Wang, J., Hu, B., Xu, M., Yan, Q., Liu, S., Zhu, X., Sun, Z., Reed, E., Ding, L., and Gong, J. (2006a). Use of bacteriophage in the treatment of experimental animal bacteremia from imipenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.
  International Journal of Molecular Medicine. 17(2): 309-317.
- Wang, J., Hu, B., Xu, M., Yan, Q., Liu, S., Zhu, X., Sun, Z., Tao, D., Ding, L., and Reed, E. (2006b). Therapeutic effectiveness of bacteriophages in the rescue of mice with extended spectrum β-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* bacteremia. International Journal of Molecular Medicine. 17(2): 347-355.
- Wayne, P. (2007). Clinical and laboratory standards institute. PerformanceStandards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. 17.
- Wittebole, X., De Roock, S., and Opal, S. M. (2014). A historical overview of bacteriophage therapy as an alternative to antibiotics for the treatment of bacterial pathogens. **Virulence**. 5(1): 226-235.
- World Health Organization. (2014). Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Yang, D.-L., Mei, W.-L., Wang, H., and Dai, H.-F. (2010). Antimicrobial alkaloids from the tubers of *Stephania succifera*. Zeitschrift für Naturforschung B. 65(6): 757-761.
- Yates, P., and Stout, G. H. (1958). The structure of mangostin1. Journal of the American Chemical Society. 80(7): 1691-1700.
- Yuan, Y., Hou, W., Tang, M., Luo, H., Chen, L.-J., Guan, Y. H., and Sutherland, I. A. (2008). Separation of flavonoids from the leaves of *Oroxylum indicum* by HSCCC. Chromatographia. 68(11-12): 885-892.
- Zavascki, A. P., Goldani, L. Z., Li, J., and Nation, R. L. (2007). Polymyxin B for the treatment of multidrug-resistant pathogens: a critical review. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 60(6): 1206-1215.
- Zaveri, M., Khandhar, A., and Jain, S. (2008). Quantification of baicalein, chrysin, biochanin-A and ellagic acid in root bark of *Oroxylum indicum* by RP-HPLC with UV detection. Eurasian Journal of Analytical Chemistry. 3(2): 245-257.
- Zeana, C., Kubin, C. J., Della-Latta, P., and Hammer, S. M. (2001). Vancomycinresistant *Enterococcus faecium* meningitis successfully managed with linezolid: case report and review of the literature. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 33(4): 477-482.
- Zeng, X., and Lin, J. (2013). Beta-lactamase induction and cell wall metabolism in Gram-negative bacteria. Frontiers in Microbiology. 4: 128.
- Zhanel, G. G., Hoban, D. J., and Harding, G. K. (1992). Subinhibitory antimicrobial concentrations: a review of in vitro and in vivo data. Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology. 3(4): 193-201.
- Zhou, K., Zhou, W., Li, P., Liu, G., Zhang, J., and Dai, Y. (2008). Mode of action of pentocin 31-1: An antilisteria bacteriocin produced by *Lactobacillus pentosus* from Chinese traditional ham. Food Control. 19(8): 817-822.





# **APPENDIX** A

# **BACTERIAL SUSPENSION STANDARD CURVE**





Bacterial suspension standard curve of A. baumannii DMST 44689

Becterial suspension standard curve A.baumannii DMST 43105



Absorbance (500 nm)



Bacterial suspension standard curve of E. coli ATCC 25922

Bacterial suspension standard curve of *E. faecalis* ATCC 29212



Absorbance (500 nm)



#### Bacterial suspension standard curve of E. faecium DMST 12852

Becterial suspension standard curve *E. faecium* DMST 12829





Bacterial suspension standard curve of E. faecium DMST 12970

Bacterial suspension standard curve of P. aeruginosa DMST 37166



Absorbance (500 nm)



Bacterial suspension standard curve of P. aeruginosa DMST 37169

Bacterial suspension standard curve of *P. aeruginosa* DMST 37186



Absorbance (500 nm)

# **APPENDIX B**

# CULTURE MEDIA, CHEMICALS AND EQUIPMENT

#### 1. Culture media

Nutrient agar, Mueller-Hinton broth and agar were obtained from Oxoid.

Approximate formulae per liter of each medium was as follows:

#### 1.1 Nutrient agar

HiMedia nutrient agar was used for preparation of stock cultures on agar slopes and the basic agar culture of bacterial cells for colony counting.

The formula was:

	g/litre
Peptic digest of animal tissue	5.0
Sodium chloride	5.0
Beef extract	1.5
Yeast extract	1.5
Agar Dy Blaging Ling Stragger	1.5
pH (at 25 °C) 7.4 ± 0.2	

#### **1.2 Mueller-Hinton broth (MHB)**

Difco Mueller Hinton broth was the medium used for determining the antimicrobial susceptibility testing.

The formula was:

		g/litre
Beef infusion solids		4.0
Casein hydrolysate		17.5
Soluble starch		1.5
pH 7.4 ± 0.2 at 37 °C		

Mueller-Hinton had been cation-adjusted that had the corrected concentrations of the divalent cations of Ca2+20 mg/l and Mg2+10 mg/L (MBH).

All culture media were dissolved by water.

# 1.3 Mueller-Hinton agar (MHA)

Difco Mueller Hinton agar was the medium used for determining the

antimicrobial susceptibility testing. The formula was:

#### g/litre

Agar	17.0
Beef heart infusion	2.0
Casein acid hydrolysate	17.5
Soluble starch	1.5
pH 7.3±0.2 at 25 °C	

#### 2. Chemicals

All chemicals used were laboratory grade otherwise specified.

Tris-HCl Lab grade Q-Sepharose Lab grade Sephadex G-50 Lab grade Ethanol Absolute Lab grade Ethyl acetate Lab grade Sodium chloride AR grade Sodium phosphate Lab grade Sodium hydroxide Lab grade 95% Ethanol Lab grade Amonium acetate AR grade Acetronitrile Lab grade Albumin AR grade Lecithin Lab grade Tween 80 Lab grade Lab grade Paraformaldehyde Glutaraldehyde Lab grade ຍາລັຍເ Osmiun tetroxide Lab grade Methanol Lab grade Araldite Lab grade Agarose Lab grade Uranyl acetate Lab grade

Lead acetate	Lab grade
HEPES buffer	Lab grade
Phosphate	Lab grade
PMSF	Lab grade
Ceftazidime	AR grade
Ceftriaxone	AR grade
Ampicillin	AR grade
3. Equipment	
3.1 Apparatus	
Mixer (Model 5000)	Buchi
Column chromatography	Merck
Filter paper	Whatman
Spectronic 21	Milton Roy
Labofuge	400R Heraeus
Autoclave	Yamato
Laminar air flow	Woerden
Hot air oven	Shellab
Hot plate	VELP scientifica
Refrigerated Incubator	VELP scientifica
Ultramicrotome	JEM
Micropipettors (2-20 µL)	Witeg
Micropipettors (2-200µL)	Witeg

Micropipettors (100-1000 µL)	Witeg
Centrifuge tubes	Pyrex
Spectraphysics	Agilent
Micro titer plate (96 wells)	Bio-Rad
xMark <sup>™</sup> Microplate Absorbance	Bio-Rad
Spectrophotometer	

ะ ราวักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบโ

#### **3.2 Glassware**

Beakers (50, 100, 250, 500, 1000 mL)

Pipettes  $(1, 5, 10 \mu L)$ 

Measuring cylinder (10, 20  $\mu$ L)

Petri dishes

Test tubes

## **APPENDIX C**

### PUBLICATIONS

- Pimchan, T., Maensiri, D., and Eumkeb, G. (2017). Synergy and mechanism of action of α-mangostin and ceftazidime against ceftazidime-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*. Letters in Applied Microbiology. 65: 285-291.
- Pimchan T, Cooper, C. J., Eumkeb, G., and Nilsson A. S. (2017). In vitro activity of a combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts. Letters in Applied Microbiology. 66: 182-187.
- Teethaisong, Y., Pimchan, T., Srisawat, R., Hobbs, G., and Eumkeb, G. (2018). *Boesenbergia rotunda* (L.) Mansf. extract potentiate the antibacterial activity of some β-lactams against β-lactam-resistant Staphylococci. Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance. 12: 207-213.
- Siriwong, S., Pimchan, T., Naknarong, W., and Eumkeb, G. (2015). Mode of Action and Synergy of Ceftazidime and Baicalein against *Streptococcus pyogenes*.
   Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research. 14 (4): 641-648.



#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Synergy and mechanism of action of α-mangostin and ceftazidime against ceftazidime-resistant *Acinetobacter* baumannii

T. Pimchan<sup>1</sup>, D. Maensiri<sup>1</sup> and G. Eumkeb<sup>2</sup>

1 School of Biology, Institute of Science, Suranaree University of Technology, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand 2 School of Preclinic, Institute of Science, Suranaree University of Technology, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand

Significance and Impact of the Study: Acinetobacter baumannii strains cause serious infections, patient mortality, and have been reported to rise of multidrug resistance. This article represents the first report of using  $\alpha$ -mangostin plus ceftazidime against these resistant strains and its mechanism of action.  $\alpha$ -mangostin has no cytotoxic effects. Therefore,  $\alpha$ -mangostin has strong potential for development as a useful, novel adjunct phytopharmaceutical to ceftazidime synergistically for the treatment of these strains. The synergy approach could potentially be a novel tool to combat the resistant strains.

#### Keywords

antibacterial activity,  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, checkerboard assays, combination therapy, ESBL phenotypes, synergistic activity.

#### Correspondence

Griangsak Eumkeb, School of Preclinic, Institute of Science, Suranaree University of Technology, Nakhon Ratchasima, Thailand. E-mail: griang@sut.ac.th

2017/0743: received 17 April 2017, revised 5 August 2017 and accepted 7 August 2017

doi:10.1111/lam.12789

#### Abstract

To address the resistance of Acinetobacter baumannii to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics, combination therapy between different antibiotic classes is increasingly used. The antibacterial activity of α-mangostin (AMT) alone or in combination with ceftazidime (CTZ) was investigated against ceftazidime-resistant A. baumannii DMST 45378 (CRAB). Initial screening showed that A. baumannii strains possessed AmpC  $\beta$ -lactamase (AmpC), extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) and metallo- $\beta$ -lactamases (MBL). Minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of all test agents were >800 µg ml<sup>-1</sup> against CRAB. The combination of AMT/CTZ exhibited a fractional inhibitory concentration index (FICI) of <0.35 suggestive of synergy. Time-kill curves showed that the AMT/CTZ combination was significantly more efficient (P < 0.01) at reducing CRAB than the individual components. Structural analysis revealed that AMT/CTZ-treated cells exhibited increased cell volume, increased cytoplasmic and outer membrane permeability and a decrease in outer membrane peptidoglycanassociated protein (OMPG) bands. In addition, it was shown that Type IV  $\beta$ lactamase was inhibited by AMT. The data suggest that AMT in combination with CTZ is synergistic and efficient against CRAB. The data also indicate that the AMT/CTZ combination may target multiple structures on the bacterial cell surface. This represents the first report of this effect on CRAB and could potentially be expanded into in vivo studies.

# Introduction

Acinetobacter baumannii is a Gram-negative opportunistic pathogen that can cause serious infections and is often associated with increased patient mortality (Chen *et al.* 2005; Eliopoulos *et al.* 2008). A. baumannii has become resistant to carbapenems and third-generation cephalosporins, which are the best available antibiotics for treating multidrug-resistant bacteria and have been classified as a critical priority according to the urgency of the need for new antibiotics (WHO, 2017). Colistin-resistant *A. baumannii* has also emerged due to the increasing use of colistin methanesulfonate to treat carbapenem-resistant *A. baumannii* infections (Qureshi *et al.* 2015). The combination of colistin with ceftazidime against local carbapenem-resistant *A. baumannii* showed only 7%

#### Synergy of *a*-mangostin and ceftazidime on *A*. baumannii

synergistic activity *in vitro* (Le Minh *et al.* 2015). *A. baumannii* antimicrobial resistance falls into three broad categories: (i) antimicrobial-inactivating enzymes (in particular  $\beta$ -lactamases), (ii) reduced access to bacterial targets (decreased outer membrane permeability) and (iii) mutations that change targets or cellular function (Rice 2006). The increase in the type and overall level of *A. baumannii* antimicrobial resistance highlights the need for the development of novel treatment strategies. While combination therapy using multiple antibiotic classes may be effective at reducing mortality (Lopez-Cortes *et al.* 2014), the combination of antibiotics and naturally derived products remains relatively understudied.

 $\alpha$ -Mangostin, a plant-derived compound, has demonstrated active antimicrobial activities against Grampositive bacteria including *Staphylococcus aureus* and methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) by disrupting the cytoplasmic membrane (Iinuma *et al.* 1996; Sakagami *et al.* 2005; Koh *et al.* 2013). Although several studies have focused on the synergy between  $\alpha$ -mangostin and antibiotics (Iinuma *et al.* 1996; Sakagami *et al.* 2005; Phitaktim *et al.* 2016), there is currently little to no information on the potential synergy when targeting cephalosporin-resistant *A. baumannii* strains. This study sought to evaluate the *in vitro* antimicrobial effect of  $\alpha$ mangostin alone and combined with ceftazidime against CRAB strains and to investigate any potential synergistic mechanism.

#### **Results and discussion**

 $\beta$ -lactamase phenotypic assays showed that all *A. baumannii* strains tested possessed AmpC, extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) and metallo- $\beta$ -lactamases (MBL). These findings suggest that coexistence of AmpC-ESBL-MBL combinations within these strains can cause cephalosporin resistance.

The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) for all conditions tested was  $>800 \ \mu g \ ml^{-1}$  and is shown in

t all *A. haumannii* strains

T. Pimchan et al.

Table 1. These results show that all *A. baumannii* strains tested are resistant to ceftazidime (CTZ) and ceftriaxone (CTX). These results correspond with those of Rynga *et al.* who demonstrated that *A. baumannii* isolates from hospitals in Delhi were resistant to ceftazidime and cefo-taxime and also tested positive for ESBL, AmpC and MBL (Rynga *et al.* 2015). The fractional inhibitory concentration (FIC) indices for AMT plus CTZ or CTX against all tested *A. baumannii* strains were <0.35 or <0.24, respectively, and suggest that the AMT/antibiotic combination exhibited synergistic activity against these strains (Odds 2003).

The effects of AMT, CTZ alone and together on the viable counts of CRAB are presented in Fig. 1. The combination of 200  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> AMT and 200  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> CTZ was shown to be the most efficient significantly reducing the bacterial concentration within 4 hours when compared with the untreated control (P < 0.01) and also the individual components (P < 0.01) by the conclusion of the experiment. These results confirmed the results of the checkerboard assay, which indicated that the synergistic activity of the combination produced a decrease of  $\geq 2 \log_{10}$  CFU per ml compared with the CTZ treatment alone (Eliopoulos and Moellering 1996).

TEM imaging of CRAB cells that were untreated (Fig. 2I) or treated with CTZ (Fig. 2II) showed no structural changes to the cell membrane. While CRAB cells showed an increase in a peptidoglycan and cytoplasmic membrane damage when treated with AMT alone (Fig. 2III), the most marked changes were demonstrated by those cells treated with the AMT/CTZ combination (Fig. 2IV). When compared with untreated controls, the overall area of these cells increased significantly (P < 0.01) (Fig. S1), suggesting that  $\alpha$ -mangostin in combination with CTZ can damage or disrupt the cellular membrane and peptidoglycan layer. These findings seem to correspond with previous findings showing that the combination of isolated *a*-mangostin and oxacillin exhibited peptidoglycan and cytoplasmic membrane damage, irregular cell shapes of oxacillin-resistant Staphylococcus

100

**Table 1** Minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) and fractional inhibitory concentration index (FICI) of α-mangostin (AMT) alone and in combination with ceftazidime (CTZ) or ceftriaxone (CTX)

10	MIC (µg ml	-1)		FIC ( $\mu$ g ml <sup>-1</sup> )	145	FIC index	
Strains	AMT	CTZ	СТХ	AMT + CTZ	AMT + CTX	AMT + CTZ	AMT + CTX
A. baumannii DMST 45378 A. baumannii DMST 44689 A. baumannii DMST 43105 E. coli ATCC 25922	>2048 >2048 >2048 >1024	$800^{R}$ $800^{R}$ $800^{R}$ $\leq 1^{S}$	>2048 <sup>R</sup> >2048 <sup>R</sup> >2048 <sup>R</sup> ≤1 <sup>S</sup>	200 + 200 200 + 200 200 + 200 <i>N/D</i>	250 + 250 250 + 250 250 + 250 <i>N/D</i>	<0·35 <sup>51</sup> <0·35 <sup>51</sup> <0·35 <sup>51</sup> N/D	<0·24 <sup>SI</sup> <0·24 <sup>SI</sup> <0·24 <sup>SI</sup> N/D

<sup>S</sup>Susceptible; <sup>R</sup>Resistant; <sup>S/</sup>Synergistic interaction; *N/D*, not determined, FIC, fractional inhibitory concentration.

The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) are presented as the median values measured from three independent experiments.

Letters in Applied Microbiology 65, 285-291 © 2017 The Society for Applied Microbiology

Synergy of a-mangostin and ceftazidime on A. baumannii



**Figure 1** The bactericidal effects of  $\alpha$ -mangostin alone or in combination with ceftazidime, against ceftazidime-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* DMST 45378. (**•**) untreated control; (**•**) 400  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> CTZ; (**•**) 1024  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>  $\alpha$ -mangostin (AMT) and (**•**) 200  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> CTZ and 200  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> AMT. Data are the mean of four replicates  $\pm$ SD. Means with the different superscript at the same time point are significantly different (Tukey's HSD, P < 0.01). [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

*saprophyticus* and average cell areas significantly larger than those of the controls (Phitaktim *et al.* 2016).

CRAB cells treated with AMT alone and in combination with CTZ and also nisin released significantly more material that absorbed at 260 nm compared with CTZ or the untreated control (Fig. 3; P < 0.01). This suggests that the AMT/CTZ combination increases the permeability of the cellular membrane to DNA, RNA, and cellular metabolites and leads to the deactivation of  $\beta$ -lactamase activity (Shen *et al.* 2012). These data support previous findings, which showed that  $\alpha$ -mangostin rapidly disrupted the integrity of the cytoplasmic membrane of MRSA cells, leading to the loss of intracellular components in a concentration-dependent manner (Koh *et al.* 2013).

The effect of the AMT alone or in combination with CTZ on the OMPG of CRAB is shown in Fig. S2. The combination of AMT and CTZ reduced the size and intensity of OMPG bands at 22, 25 and 30 kDa compared with controls. The effect of the AMT alone or in combination with CTZ on the adjusted relative density of CRAB-OMPG is shown in Fig. S3. The combination of AMT and CTZ exhibited significantly lower adjusted relative density than other groups in all OMPG bands (P < 0.01), whereas the adjusted relative density OMPG of CTZ band displayed significantly higher than others (P < 0.01). These findings suggest that the combination displayed outer membrane and peptidoglycan damage resulting in the loss of OMPG and would support TEM observations made in the current investigation.



Letters in Applied Microbiology 65, 285-291 © 2017 The Society for Applied Microbiology

Synergy of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime on A. baumannii



**Figure 3** Release of intracellular material from *Acinetobacter baumannii* DMST 45378 treated with  $\alpha$ -mangostin (AMT) alone or in combination with CTZ. (**•**) untreated control; (**•**) 400  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> CTZ (**•**) 1024  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> AMT and (**•**) 150  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> CTZ and 150  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> AMT; (**•**) 128  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> nisin (positive control). Data are the mean of three replicated  $\pm$  SD. Means with the different superscript at the same time point are significantly different (Tukey's HSD, *P* < 0.01). [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

Polymyxin B was significantly better than all other test conditions over the duration of the experiment (Fig. 4; P < 0.01). However, the AMT/CTZ combination also significantly increased OM permeabilization of CRAB compared with individual components and the untreated control (Fig. 4; P < 0.01).

 $\alpha$ -mangostin was able to significantly reduce the breakdown of benzylpenicillin levels in a concentration-dependent manner compared with the untreated control (Fig. S4; P < 0.01). These results are in substantial agreement with those of Phitaktim *et al.* that the isolated  $\alpha$ mangostin inhibited  $\beta$ -lactamase in a dose-dependent manner (Phitaktim *et al.* 2016). This result may enhance the rapid killing by a membrane-targeting antimicrobial, and that  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibition could be a secondary effect of the membrane disruption (Koh *et al.* 2013).

The synergistic paradigm of combining the conventional antibiotic with phytochemical compounds has been shown to be an effective avenue to treat infectious diseases caused by drug-resistant bacteria in several studies (Wagner and Ulrich-Merzenich 2009; Eumkeb and Chukrathok 2013). Simulations of the molecular dynamics of this synergy revealed that the isoprenyl groups of  $\alpha$ -mangostin, occupying the chromone structure (Fig. S5), play a major role in penetrating the lipid bilayer of the MRSA membrane, which results in increased permeability and breakdown of the membrane (Koh *et al.* 2013). While not conclusive, these findings could support an assumption that the isoprenyl groups and the chromone structure of  $\alpha$ -mangostin play a significant role in inhibiting CRAB strains through direct interactions with the bacterial



**Figure 4** Outer membrane permeability of ceftazidime-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* DMST 45378. (•) untreated control; (•) 400  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> ceftazidime; • 1024  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>  $\alpha$ -mangostin; (•) 150  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> ceftazidime and 150  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>  $\alpha$ -mangostin and (•) 10  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> polymyxin B (positive control). Data are the mean of three replicates  $\pm$  SD. The mean sharing the same superscript is not significantly different (Tukey's HSD test, P < 0.01). [Colour figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

membrane (Koh *et al.* 2013). It has been previously reported that AMT provided a sufficient margin of safety for therapeutic use (Kaomongkolgit *et al.* 2009; Phitaktim *et al.* 2016) and would suggest that the AMT could potentially be a useful adjuvant to CTZ for the treatment of CRAB.

In conclusion, our findings indicate that AMT alone has limited activity against CRAB, but increased antibacterial activity when combined with CTZ. Further investigation into the potential mechanisms of this synergy suggests three possible modes of action: (i) increased OM and CM permeability; (ii) direct damage to the OMPG and peptidoglycan structure disruption and (iii) the inhibition of  $\beta$ -lactamase activity.

#### Materials and methods

#### **Bacterial strains**

Acinetobacter baumannii DMST strains, three strains, were obtained from the Department of Medical Science, Ministry of Public Health, Thailand. *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922, one strain, was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC).

#### Bacterial suspension standard curve

Bacterial suspensions were routinely cultured in Cationadjusted Mueller–Hinton broth and viable counts determined on Mueller-Hinton agar (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK). The bacterial suspension standard curve method as

#### Screening test of AmpC, ESBL and MBL

The presence of AmpC, ESBL and MBL in A. baumannii DMST strains was phenotypically determined as previously described using a resazurin microtitre plate assay with inhibitor-based methods (Teethaisong et al. 2016).

#### MICs and checkerboard determinations

The MIC of ceftazidime (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK), ceftriaxone (Sigma-Aldrich) and AMT (Indofine Chemical Company, Hillsborough Township, NJ) were determined using Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute broth microdilution and resazurin dye methods (Taneja and Tyagi 2007; Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2013; Elavarasan et al. 2013). The checkerboard method as described by Phitaktim et al. was used to assess the activity of AMT in combination with CTZ or CTX (Phitaktim et al. 2016). The FIC index was calculated using the following formula:

#### FIC of AMT

= MIC of AMT in combination/MIC of single AMT

Therefore, the FIC index = FIC of AMT + FIC of CTZA FIC index of ≤0.5 is defined as synergistic; 0.5-4.0 is defined as 'no interaction' between the agents and a value >4.0 indicates antagonism (Eliopoulos and Moellering 1996; Odds 2003).

#### Time-killing assays

Time-killing assays were performed as previously described (Richards et al. 1995; Mun et al. 2013) to determine the overall antibacterial activity of AMT when used alone and in combination with CTZ. The synergy of an antimicrobial combination was defined by at least 2. log<sub>10</sub> decreases in CFU per ml compared with its more active constituent (Eliopoulos and Moellering 1996). The experiment was performed in three observations, each observation was performed in triplicate, and data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

#### TEM

The ultrastructural morphology of CRAB cells after treatment with AMT alone or in combination with CTZ was determined as previously described by Eumkeb and Chukrathok (2013).

The total cell area (nm<sup>2</sup>) was determined for both compounds when exposed to 50% MIC of individual 143

Synergy of a-mangostin and ceftazidime on A. baumannii

compounds and 75% of the FICs for combinations. The experiment was performed on 10 different fields of view, at least 10 counts per field, and the cell areas are displayed as the mean  $\pm$  SD.

#### CM permeability

The effect of AMT alone and in combination with CTZ on the permeability of the CM was performed as previously described with some modifications (Zhou et al. 2008; Shen et al. 2012).

#### Effect on OMPG

The effect of AMT alone and in combination with CTZ on the OMPG of A. baumannii was determined as previously described (Eumkeb 1999). Furthermore, Image J 1.8.0\_112 (Windows version of NIH Image, https://image j.nih.gov/ij/download.html) was used to quantify and compared the OMPG band images on an SDS-PAGE gel (Gassmann et al. 2009; Miller 2010). The experiment was performed in three replicates.

#### OM permeability

α-mangostin-induced permeabilization of the OM of CRAB was determined as previously described (Eriksson et al. 2002). In a word, membrane permeabilization was assayed in 96-well microtitre plates. The OM permeabilization assay was carried out with wells filled with 400  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> CTZ, 1024  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> AMT, 150  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> CTZ plus 150 µg ml<sup>-1</sup> AMT and 10 µg ml<sup>-1</sup> PMX and 50  $\mu$ l of the NCF stock solution.

#### Inhibition of $\beta$ lactamase by AMT

The ability of AMT to inhibit the activity of  $\beta$ -lactamase type IV isolated from Enterobacter cloacae was determined as previously described by Richards et al. (1995).

#### Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in triplicate unless otherwise stated in the text and the data expressed as the mean ± SD. Data were analysed by one-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's HSD post hoc test at the 99% confidence interval (P < 0.01) (Eumkeb and Chukrathok 2013).

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are indebted and grateful to the Thailand Research Fund for assistance in research fund support through The Royal Golden Jubilee PhD Program (grant no. PHD/0023/2554) and thank Anders S Nilsson and Callum Cooper for proofreading the manuscript prior to submission.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

The authors have declared that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Chen, H.-P., Chen, T.-L., Lai, C.-H., Fung, C.-P., Wong, W.-W., Yu, K.-W. and Liu, C.-Y. (2005) Predictors of mortality in *Acinetobacter baumannii* bacteremia. J *Microbiol Immunol Infect* 38, 127–136.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. (2013) Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; Twenty-Third Informational Supplement. CLSI document M100-S23. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- Elavarasan, T., Chhina, S.K., Parameswaran, M. and Sankaran, K. (2013) Resazurin reduction based colorimetric antibiogram in microfluidic plastic chip. Sens Actuators B Chem 176, 174–180.
- Eliopoulos, G.M. and Moellering, R.C. (1996) Antimicrobial combinations. In Antibiotic in Laboratory Medicine ed. Lorian, V. pp. 330–396. Baltimore, MD: Williams and Wilkins,
- Eliopoulos, G.M., Maragakis, L.L. and Perl, T.M. (2008) *Acinetobacter baumannii*: epidemiology, antimicrobial resistance, and treatment options. *Clin Infect Dis* **46**, 1254– 1263.
- Eriksson, M., Nielsen, P.E. and Good, L. (2002) Cell permeabilization and uptake of antisense peptide-peptide nucleic acid (PNA) into *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 277, 7144–7147.
- Eumkeb, G. (1999) Investigation of the effect of antifolates on Escherichia coli 1810. Ph. D. Dissertation. UK: The Robert Gordon University.
- Eumkeb, G. and Chukrathok, S. (2013) Synergistic activity and mechanism of action of ceftazidime and apigenin combination against ceftazidime-resistant *Enterobacter cloacae*. *Phytomedicine* 20, 262–269.
- Gassmann, M., Grenacher, B., Rohde, B. and Vogel, J. (2009) Quantifying Western blots: pitfalls of densitometry. *Electrophoresis* 30, 1845–1855.
- Iinuma, M., Tosa, H., Tanaka, T., Asai, F., Kobayashl, Y., Shimano, R. and Miyauchi, K.I. (1996) Antibacterial activity of xanthones from guttiferaeous plants against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Pharm Pharmacol 48, 861–865.
- Kaomongkolgit, R., Jamdee, K. and Chaisomboon, N. (2009) Antifungal activity of alpha-mangostin against *Candida albicans. J Oral Sci* 51, 401–406.

T. Pimchan et al.

- Koh, J.J., Qiu, S., Zou, H., Lakshminarayanan, R., Li, J., Zhou, X., Tang, C., Saraswathi, P. *et al.* (2013) Rapid bactericidal action of alpha-mangostin against MRSA as an outcome of membrane targeting. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1828, 834–844.
- Le Minh, V., Thi Khanh Nhu, N., Vinh Phat, V., Thompson, C., Huong Lan, N.P., Thieu Nga, T.V., Thanh Tam, P.T., Tuyen, H.T. *et al.* (2015) In vitro activity of colistin in antimicrobial combination against carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolated from patients with ventilator-associated pneumonia in Vietnam. *J Med Microbiol* 64, 1162–1169.
- Liu, I.X., Durham, D.G. and Richards, R.M.E. (2000) Baicalin synergy with  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics against methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and other  $\beta$ -lactam-resistant strains of *S. aureus*. *J Pharm Pharmacol* **52**, 361–366.
- Lopez-Cortes, L.E., Cisneros, J.M., Fernandez-Cuenca, F., Bou, G., Tomas, M., Garnacho-Montero, J., Pascual, A., Martinez-Martinez, L. et al. (2014) Monotherapy versus combination therapy for sepsis due to multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*: analysis of a multicentre prospective cohort. J Antimicrob Chemother 69, 3119–3126.
- Miller, L. (2010) A method for using ImageJ to analyze the density of bands on an agar gel or western blot. Available at: http://www.lukemiller.org/ImageJ\_gel\_analysis.pdf.
- Mun, S.H., Joung, D.K., Kim, Y.S., Kang, O.H., Kim, S.B., Seo, Y.S., Kim, Y.C., Lee, D.S. et al. (2013) Synergistic antibacterial effect of curcumin against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus. Phytomedicine* 20, 714–718.
- Odds, F.C. (2003) Synergy, antagonism, and what the chequerboard puts between them. *J Antimicrob Chemother* **52**, 1.
- Phitaktim, S., Chomnawang, M., Sirichaiwetchakoon, K., Dunkhunthod, B., Hobbs, G. and Eumkeb, G. (2016) Synergism and the mechanism of action of the combination of  $\alpha$ -mangostin isolated from *Garcinia* mangostana L. and oxacillin against an oxacillin-resistant Staphylococcus saprophyticus. BMC Microbiol **16**, 1–14.
- Qureshi, Z.A., Hittle, L.E., O'Hara, J.A., Rivera, J.I., Syed, A., Shields, R.K., Pasculle, A.W., Ernst, R.K. et al. (2015) Colistin-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii: beyond carbapenem resistance. Clin Infect Dis 60, 1295–1303.
- Rice, L.B. (2006) Challenges in identifying new antimicrobial agents effective for treating infections with Acinetobacter baumannii and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Clin Infect Dis 43, S100–S105.
- Richards, R.M.E., Xing, J.Z., Gregory, D.W. and Marshall, D. (1995) Mechanism of sulphadiazine enhancement of trimethoprim activity against sulphadiazine-resistant *Enterococcus faecalis. J Antimicrob Chemother* 36, 607– 618.
- Rynga, D., Shariff, M. and Deb, M. (2015) Phenotypic and molecular characterization of clinical isolates of *Acinetobacter baumannii* isolated from Delhi, India. *Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob* 14, 40.

- Sakagami, Y., Iinuma, M., Piyasena, K. and Dharmaratne, H. (2005) Antibacterial activity of α-mangostin against vancomycin resistant Enterococci (VRE) and synergism with antibiotics. *Phytomedicine* 12, 203–208.
- Shen, L., Liu, D., Li, M., Jin, F., Din, M., Parnell, L.D. and Lai, C.Q. (2012) Mechanism of action of recombinant accroyalisin from royal jelly of Asian honeybee against grampositive bacteria. *PLoS ONE* 7, e47194.
- Taneja, N.K. and Tyagi, J.S. (2007) Resazurin reduction assays for screening of anti-tubercular compounds against dormant and actively growing *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG and *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. J Antimicrob Chemother **60**, 288–293.
- Teethaisong, Y., Eumkeb, G., Chumnarnsilpa, S., Autarkool, N., Hobson, J., Nakouti, I., Hobbs, G. and Evans, K. (2016) Phenotypic detection of AmpC β-lactamases, extended-spectrum β-lactamases and metallo-β-lactamases in Enterobacteriaceae using a resazurin microtitre assay with inhibitor-based methods. J Med Microbiol 65, 1079– 1087.
- Wagner, H. and Ulrich-Merzenich, G. (2009) Synergy research: approaching a new generation of phytopharmaceuticals. *Phytomedicine* 16, 97–110.
- WHO. (2017) Global Priority List of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria to Guide Research, Discovery, and Development of

Synergy of  $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime on A. baumannii

New Antibiotics. Copenhagen: World Health Organization. 1–7.

Zhou, K., Zhou, W., Li, P., Liu, G., Zhang, J. and Dai, Y. (2008) Mode of action of pentocin 31-1: an antilisteria bacteriocin produced by *Lactobacillus pentosus* from Chinese traditional ham. *Food Control* 19, 817–822.

#### Supporting Information

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article:

Figure S1. Effects of CTZ and  $\alpha$ -mangostin (AMT) on the average cross-sectional area of ceftazidime-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* DMST 45378 cells.

Figure S2. SDS–PAGE showing the OMPG of ceftazidime-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* DMST 45378.

**Figure S3.** The adjusted relative density (% of control) obtained from quantitative densitometry of SDS–PAGE of each ceftazidime-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* OMPG band.

**Figure S4.** Inhibitory activity of  $\alpha$ -mangostin against  $\beta$ -lactamase hydrolysis of benzylpenicillin.

**Figure S5.** The structure of  $\alpha$ -mangostin, chromone and isoprenyl.

ะ รักษาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรมา Applied Microbiology



Letters in Applied Microbiology ISSN 0266-8254

#### ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# *In vitro* activity of a combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

#### T. Pimchan<sup>1</sup>, C.J. Cooper<sup>2</sup>, G. Eumkeb<sup>1</sup> and A.S. Nilsson<sup>2</sup>

1 Institute of Science, Suranaree University of Technology, Nakhon-Ratchasima, Thailand

2 Department of Molecular Biosciences, The Wenner-Gren Institute, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden

Significance and Impact of Study: This preliminary study provides insights into the potential combination of bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant bulk extracts to target bacterial pathogens. It is to our knowledge the first time in which virulent bacteriophages have been combined with antimicrobial plant extracts.

#### Keywords

antimicrobial compounds, bacteriophages, combination therapy, natural products, phage therapy.

#### Correspondence

Anders S. Nilsson, Department of Molecular Biosciences, The Wenner-Gren Institute, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden. E-mail: anders.s.nilsson@su.se and Grianosak Eumkeb. Institute of Science

Suranaree University of Technology, Nakhon-Ratchasima, Thailand. E-mail: griang@sut.ac.th

2017/1702: received 28 August 2017, revised 11 December 2017 and accepted 11 December 2017

doi:10.1111/lam.12838

#### Abstract

The continuing threat of antimicrobial resistance presents a considerable challenge to researchers to develop novel strategies ensuring that bacterial infections remain treatable. Many plant extracts have been shown to have antibacterial properties and could potentially be combined with other antibacterial agents to create more effective formulations. In this study, the antibacterial activity of three plant extracts and virulent bacteriophages have been assessed as individual components and in combination. When assessed with a modified suspension test, these plant extracts also exhibit antiviral activity at bacterial inhibitory concentrations. Hence, to investigate any potential additive effects between the extracts and virulent phages, the extracts were tested at subantiviral concentrations. Phages alone and in combination with plant extracts significantly reduced (P < 0.05) the bacterial concentration compared to untreated and extract treated controls up to 6 h (2-3log<sub>10</sub>), but this reduction did not extend to 24 h. In most cases, the phage and extract combinations did not significantly reduce bacterial content compared to phages alone. Additionally, there was little impact on the ability of the phages to reproduce within their bacterial hosts. To our knowledge, this study represents the first of its kind, in which antimicrobial plant extracts have been combined with virulent phages and has highlighted the necessity for plant extracts to be functionally characterized prior to the design of combinatorial therapies.

#### Introduction

The potential for a future in which bacterial infections become untreatable is undeniable, with a number of bacterial infections failing to respond to drugs of last resort or antibiotic combination therapy (Fifer *et al.* 2016; Bi *et al.* 2017). While this is due not only to an increase in the level and type of resistance that exists (Zhu *et al.* 2013; Oz *et al.* 2014), the overuse and misuse of antibiotics in both human and veterinary applications cannot be understated (Berendonk *et al.* 2015; Meek et al. 2015; Fleming-Dutra et al. 2016) and has shifted focus towards new strategies for combatting multi-resistant infections, including reducing antibiotic consumption (Sabuncu et al. 2009) and the development of new therapies (Brown and Wright 2016). Both bacteriophages and plant extracts are amongst those being investigated either as individual therapies (Bonifácio et al. 2014; Semler et al. 2014; Takemura-Uchiyama et al. 2014) or as adjuvants to conventional antibiotics (Coulter et al. 2014; Cushnie et al. 2014; Kamal and Dennis 2015).

182

© 2017 The Authors. Letters in Applied Microbiology 66, 182-187 published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of The Society for Applied Microbiology. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

A number of strategies are being pursued to reduce antibiotic resistance levels, including the development of new types of therapy and reduction of antibiotic consumption. Although combinatorial therapy between antibiotics and phages has been shown to be successful *in vitro*, and furthermore against resistant phenotypes (Comeau *et al.* 2007; Torres-Barceló *et al.* 2016), it is perhaps counteractive to employ at the same time as trying to reduce overall consumption of antibiotics, particularly in veterinary applications where antibiotic resistance is a major issue (Allen 2014; Van Boeckel *et al.* 2015). As such, combinations of naturally antimicrobial plant extracts with virulent phages could potentially address such issues.

In the current study, the antimicrobial potential of subinhibitory concentrations of three antimicrobial plant extracts in combination with virulent phages has been investigated.

The plant extracts were derived from Stephania suberosa roots (SSE, Menispermaceae), Oroxylum indicum fruits (OIE, Bignoniaceae) and Boesenbergia rotunda rhizomes (BRE, Zingiberaceae), all used in traditional Asian Medicine. The virulent bacteriophages SU16 (Myoviridae) and SU27 (Siphoviridae) were isolated from wastewater in 2010 and have been previously shown to be able to infect 16 and 4 strains of Eshcherichia coli at high or moderate efficiency of plating, respectively (Khan Mirzaei and Nilsson 2015).

#### Results and discussion

# MIC/MBC determination and anti-phage activity of plant extracts

Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) determination showed that both host bacterial strains (ECOR16 and ECOR27 from the *E. coli* standard reference collection; ECOR; Ochman and Selander 1984) were inhibited by the bulk

#### Bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

plant extracts at the same inhibitory concentrations (Table 1). When the bulk extracts were tested for antiviral properties, all three extracts produced a statistically significant reduction (approx. 0.5–2 log<sub>10</sub> PFU per ml; P < 0.05; Fig. 1) of phage SU16 at MIC concentrations. There was a significant difference in the susceptibility of the two phages, SU16 and SU27, when tested against at multiple concentrations of BRE and OIE (100-1% MIC; P < 0.05; Fig. 1), while SSE showed no significant difference between the two phages at concentrations of 10% MIC or lower (P > 0.05; Fig. 1). Due to the differences in anti-phage activity exhibited by the difference some pounds, the concentration of the plant extracts was optimized on a phage+compound basis for time kill analyses.



Figure 1 Antiviral activity of plant extracts against bacteriophages SU16 and SU27 after 24 h exposure. ( $\blacksquare$  SU16 + Boesenbergia rotunda rhizomes (BRE). ( $\blacksquare$  SU16 + Oroxylum indicum fruits (OIE), ( $\blacksquare$  SU16 + Stephania suberosa roots (SSE); ( $\blacksquare$  SU27 + BRE; ( $\blacksquare$ ) SU27 + OIE; ( $\blacksquare$ ) SU27 + SSE. Data are the mean of three replicates ±SD. The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of extract concentrations were 16 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> for BRE and OIE and 4 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> for SSE against both bacterial host strains. "Indicates selected concentration that shows nonsignificant difference to the untreated control (P > 0.05).

183

Table 1 Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) of extracts (mg ml<sup>-1</sup>) used in the current investigation to bacterial host strains

	Bacterial strai	n		100	
	ECOR16		ECOR27		
Compound/Extract	MIC	МВС	МІС	МВС	
SSE	4 ± 0	16 ±	0 4 ±	z <b>0</b> 16 :	± 0
OIE	13-33 ± 4-62	42.67 ±	18-48 13-33 ±	4-62 42-67 :	± 18-48
BRE	16 ± 0		0 10 ±	30 32 :	±0

Data are the mean of three replicates ± SD. Stephania suberosa root (SSE), Oroxylum indicum fruit (OIE), and Boesenbergia rotunda rhizome (BRE) extracts.

© 2017 The Authors. Letters in Applied Microbiology 66, 182-187 published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of The Society for Applied Microbiology.

Bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

# Combined activity of bacteriophages and bulk plant extracts

vTwo bacteriophages (one Myoviridae, SU16 and one Siphoviridae, SU27) which infect E. coli were investigated for their antibacterial activity when combined with bulk plant extracts with known antimicrobial properties. The phages were only tested against the strains from which they were originally isolated, but have been previously shown to be active against several E. coli strains (Khan Mirzaei and Nilsson 2015). Overall, the combination of bulk plant extracts and bacteriophages exhibited no significant difference in antibacterial activity at 24 h when compared to the untreated control or the individual components (P > 0.05; Figs 2 and 3). However, both phage only and phage with extract significantly reduced bacterial content in all cases for up to 6 h compared to the untreated and extract only controls (P < 0.05; Figs 2 and 3), which suggests that the reduction was primarily driven by the phage component. No phage SU16 + extract-treated samples showed significant differences compared to the phage only samples (P > 0.05; Fig. 2). In the case of phage SU27 and extract treated samples, a significant additive effect could be seen when BRE (up to 4 h) and OIE (up to 8 h) extracts were added (Fig. 3a,b). Interestingly, a noticeable shift in the bacterial growth could be observed in the BRE and OIE extracts only compared to control which may be responsible for this additive effect. In addition, a significant reduction (P < 0.05) in phage titre for the OIE-treated sample was observed at 2 to 8 h (Fig. 3b).

The concentrations of extracts tested in the current investigation were chosen to be subinhibitory to bacterial growth and also of limited toxicity to phages. While this appears to be the case with phage SU16 and ECOR16 (Fig. 2), with modest and often statistically insignificant differences (P > 0.05) in phage and BRE or OIE extract titre compared to nonextract containing controls (Fig. 2a,b), there are differences in susceptibilities when used in concentration with SU27, most notably for OIE and SSE phage titres.

The combination of phages with adjuvant components is a currently understudied topic, with great focus being placed on the combination of phages and conventional antibiotics (Chaudhry *et al.* 2017; Oechslin *et al.* 2017; Scanlan *et al.* 2017) and purified phage cocktails (Gundogdu *et al.* 2016; Regeimbal *et al.* 2016; Yen *et al.* 2017). However, in order to further develop phages as antimicrobial agents, it is necessary to investigate the impact of more complex formulations which include additional active and excipient components (Abedon 2017). The current proof of concept study has highlighted the variation which can be introduced by including such additional components, particularly when they are poorly characterized bulk compounds derived from natural products.



**Figure 2** Activity of phage SU16 in combination with different plant extracts against ECOR16. (a) *Boesenbergia rotunda* rhizomes (BRE) (1-6  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>); (b) *Oroxylum indicum* fruits (OIE) (16  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>); (c) *Stephania suberosa* roots (SSE) (400  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>). (**□**) Untreated control; (**□**) Extract Only; (**□**) Phage Only; (**□**) Extract and phage. The mean  $\pm$  SD for three replicates are illustrated. Means sharing the same superscript at the same time are not significantly different from each other (Tukey's HSD test, P < 0.05). Lines indicate phage counts. (---) phage only; (**−**) Extract and phage. \*Indicates significant difference to the phage at the same time (P < 0.05).

#### Materials and methods

All chemicals and reagents were obtained from either Sigma Aldrich (Stockholm, Sweden) or VWR (Stockholm, Sweden) and of general laboratory grade unless otherwise stated in the text.



**Figure 3** Activity of phage SU27 in combination with different plant extracts against ECOR27. (a) *Boesenbergia rotunda* rhizomes (BRE) (16 mg ml<sup>-1</sup>); (b) *Oroxylum indicum* fruits (OIE) (16 mg ml<sup>-1</sup>); (c) *Stephania suberosa* roots (SSE) (400 µg ml<sup>-1</sup>). (**)** Untreated control; (**)** Extract Only; (**)** Phage Only; (**)** Extract and phage. The mean  $\pm$  SD for three replicates are illustrated. Means sharing the same superscript at the same time are not significantly different from each other (Tukey's HSD test, *P* < 0.05). Lines indicate significant difference to the phage at the same time (*P* < 0.05).

#### Plant extracts

Fresh samples of SSE, OIE and BRE were obtained locally from Nakhon Ratchasima province, Thailand. Samples

#### Bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

were cut into small pieces, dried for 2 days at 40°C and ground into a coarse powder with a mechanical grinder. Crude antimicrobial mixtures were extracted from 500 g of powdered samples with soxhlation extraction in 2 l of ethanol for 8 h. Extracts were passed through Whatman number 1 filter paper to remove large debris and the solvent removed by rotatory evaporation under reduced pressure at 50°C. The remaining sample was lyophilized to obtain dried extracts. Extracts were stored at -20°C until required and suspended in PBS (for SSE) or PBS with 5% DMSO (for BRE and OIE).

#### Bacteriophage and bacterial strains

Escherichia coli strains ECOR16 and ECOR27 were obtained from the *E. coli* standard reference collection (ECOR; Ochman and Selander 1984). These strains are the hosts on which phages SU16 and SU27 were originally isolated. Working stocks were produced from  $-80^{\circ}$ C glycerol stocks and maintained on lysogeny agar (LA) plates stored at 4°C. ECOR16 and ECOR27 were routinely cultured in lysogeny broth (LB) at 37°C overnight with shaking at 150 rev min<sup>-1</sup>. Prior to use, suspensions were centrifuged at 3864g for 15 min, the supernatant discarded and the pellet suspended in 10 ml phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and further diluted in PBS to contain  $1-5 \times 10^8$  CFU per ml.

Previously characterized phages SU16 and SU27 (Khan Mirzaei and Nilsson 2015) were obtained from Stockholm University stocks stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C in glycerol. Phages were cultured in 10 ml lysogeny broth (LB) using the appropriate bacterial strain (100  $\mu$ l inoculum of overnight culture) as the regular host at 37°C overnight with shaking. Following incubation, suspensions were centrifuged at 3864g for 15 min at 4°C and passed through 0.45 and 0.2  $\mu$ m syringe filters. Phage suspensions were enumerated, using the agar overlay method (Adams 1959) and stored at 4°C until required. Prior to use, phages were diluted in PBS to contain  $1-3 \times 10^8$  PFU per ml.

# MIC/MBC determination and activity of extracts against phage

The minimum inhibitory concentration and MBC of plant extracts were determined against ECOR16 and ECOR27 using a modified broth method (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute 2014). In brief, standardized bacterial suspensions were diluted 1 : 100 in double strength LB (dsLB) and the bacterial content determined by the drop count method (Miles *et al.* 1938). To triplicate wells of the first row of a 96-well microtitre plate, 200  $\mu$ l of plant extract was added. A 100  $\mu$ l aliquot was removed and serially diluted 1 : 2 in PBS over the

#### Bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

remainder of the plate. To each well, 100  $\mu$ l of the diluted bacterial suspension was added and the plate incubated at 37°C overnight. The MIC value was determined to be the lowest concentration where no visible growth could be observed. MBC was determined by spreading 100  $\mu$ l of suspension from wells showing no visible growth over the surface of pre-prepared LA plates which were then incubated at 37°C overnight. The MBC value was determined to be the lowest concentration where no visible growth could be observed.

The activity of plant extracts against phages SU16 and SU27 was assessed using a modified suspension test assay (Pinto *et al.* 2010). In brief, 1 ml of standardized phage suspension was added to 9 ml plant extract at different concentrations (100, 10, and 1% of MIC) and incubated for 24 h at 37°C). Extracts which maintained significant antiviral activity at 1% MIC were further diluted as necessary. After 24 h incubation, 100  $\mu$ l aliquots were removed and added to 9-9 ml PBS. Suspensions were then serially diluted in PBS and the phage content determined, using the agar overlay method (Adams 1959).

# Combined antibacterial activity of phage+extract combinations

Twenty-five milliliter of dsLB was added to 5 ml of extracts in PBS (or PBS with 5% (v/v) DMSO where appropriate), 5 ml of standardised phage suspension and 5 ml standardised bacterial suspension. The total volume was then increased with PBS to a final volume of 50 ml and flasks incubated at 37°C with shaking at 150 rpm min<sup>-1</sup>. At defined time points (t = 2, 4, 6, 8 and 24 h)1 ml aliquots were removed from each flask, and 1 ml of fresh LB was added to each flask to maintain volume. For phage containing samples, a 500  $\mu$ l aliquot was added to 50 µl chloroform, vortexed and phage content determined, using the agar overlay method (Adams 1959). One hundred  $\mu$ l of the original sample was then serially diluted 1: 10 in PBS and bacterial content determined by spreading 100  $\mu$ l of each dilution over the surface of duplicate LA plates. For nonphage containing samples, the bacterial content was determined using the drop count method (Miles et al. 1938). Plates were incubated overnight at 37°C and the CFU per ml or PFU per ml content determined. Controls containing PBS/PBS+DMSO (untreated) or phage only (no extracts) were also performed.

#### Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in triplicate unless stated in the text. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Significant differences in the bacterial viable 150

count among each of treated groups at the same time were analysed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD *post hoc* test. The P < 0.05 was considered as the statistically significant difference. Also, the significant differences between each tested group and the control were determined, using independent *T*-tests at P < 0.05.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was partly funded by the Olle Engkvist byggmästare foundation (ASN) and the Thailand Research Fund via The Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program (Grant no. PHD/0023//2554; TP).

#### **Conflict of Interest**

No conflict of interest to declare.

#### References

- Abedon, S.T. (2017) Information phage therapy research should report. *Pharmaceuticals* 10, 43.
- Adams, M.H. (1959) *Bacteriophages*. New York: Interscience. Allen, H.K. (2014) Antibiotic resistance gene discovery in
- food-producing animals. Curr Opin Microbiol 19, 25–29.
  Berendonk, T.U., Manaia, C.M., Merlin, C., Fatta-Kassinos, D., Cytryn, E., Walsh, F., Bürgmann, H., Sørum, H. et al. (2015) Tackling antibiotic resistance: the environmental framework. Nat Rev Microbiol 13, 310–317.
- Bi, Z., Berglund, B., Sun, Q., Nilsson, M., Chen, B., Tärnberg, M., Ding, L., Lundborg, C.S. *et al.* (2017) Prevalence of the mcr-1 colistin resistance gene in extended-spectrum βlactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* from human faecal samples collected in 2012 in rural villages in Shandong Province, China. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* **49**, 493–497.
- Bonifácio, B.V., dos Santos Ramos, M.A., da Silva, P.B. and Bauab, T.M. (2014) Antimicrobial activity of natural products against *Helicobacter pylori*: a review. Ann Clin Microbiol 13, 54.
- Brown, E.D. and Wright, G.D. (2016) Antibacterial drug discovery in the resistance era. *Nature* **529**, 336–343.
- Chaudhry, W.N., Concepción-Acevedo, J., Park, T., Andleeb, S., Bull, J.J. and Levin, B.R. (2017) Synergy and order effects of antibiotics and phages in killing *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa biofilms. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0168615.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (2014) Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing: 24th Informational Supplement M100–S24. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
  - omeau, A.M., Tétart, F., Trojet, S.N., Prere, M.F. and Krisch, H.M. (2007) Phage-antibiotic synergy (PAS): beta-lactam and quinolone antibiotics stimulate virulent phage growth. *PLoS ONE* 2, e799.

6 © 2017 The Authors. Letters in Applied Microbiology 66, 182-187 published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of The Society for Applied Microbiology.

- Coulter, L.B., McLean, R.J., Rohde, R.E. and Aron, G.M. (2014) Effect of bacteriophage infection in combination with tobramycin on the emergence of resistance in *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Viruses* 6, 3778–3786.
- Cushnie, T.T., Cushnie, B. and Lamb, A.J. (2014) Alkaloids: an overview of their antibacterial, antibiotic-enhancing and antivirulence activities. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 44, 377–386.
- Fifer, H., Natarajan, U., Jones, L., Alexander, S., Hughes, G., Golparian, D. and Unemo, M. (2016) Failure of dual antimicrobial therapy in treatment of gonorrhea. N Engl J Med 374, 2504–2506.
- Fleming-Dutra, K.E., Hersh, A.L., Shapiro, D.J., Bartoces, M., Enns, E.A., File, T.M., Finkelstein, J.A., Gerber, J.S. et al. (2016) Prevalence of inappropriate antibiotic prescriptions among US ambulatory care visits, 2010-2011. J Am Med Assoc 315, 1864–1873.
- Gundogdu, A., Bolkvadze, D. and Kilic, H. (2016) In vitro effectiveness of commercial bacteriophage cocktails on diverse extended-spectrum beta-lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* strains. *Front Microbiol* 7, 1761.
- Kamal, F. and Dennis, J.J. (2015) Burkholderia cepacia complex Phage-Antibiotic Synergy (PAS): antibiotics stimulate lytic phage activity. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 81, 1132–1138.
- Khan Mirzaei, M. and Nilsson, A.S. (2015) Isolation of phages for phage therapy: a comparison of spot tests and efficiency of plating analyses for determination of host range and efficacy. *PLoS ONE* **10**, e0118557.
- Meek, R.W., Vyas, H. and Piddock, L.J.V. (2015) Nonmedical uses of antibiotics: time to restrict their use? *PLoS Biol* 13, e1002266.
- Miles, A.A., Misra, S.S. and Irwin, J.O. (1938) The estimation of the bactericidal power of the blood. J Hyg 38, 732–749.
- Ochman, H. and Selander, R.K. (1984) Standard reference strains of *Escherichia coli* from natural populations. J Bacteriol 157, 690–693.
- Oechslin, F., Piccardi, P., Mancini, S., Gabard, J., Moreillon, P., Entenza, J.M., Resch, G. and Que, Y.A. (2017) Synergistic interaction between phage therapy and antibiotics clears *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in endocarditis and reduces virulence. *J Infect Dis* 215, 703–712.
- Oz, T., Guvenek, A., Yildiz, S., Karaboga, E., Tamer, Y.T., Mumcuyan, N., Ozan, V.B., Senturk, G.H. et al. (2014) Strength of selection pressure is an important parameter contributing to the complexity of antibiotic resistance evolution. *Mol Biol Evol* **31**, 2387–2401.

#### Bacteriophages and antimicrobial plant extracts

- Pinto, F., Maillard, J.Y. and Denyer, S.P. (2010) Effect of surfactants, temperature, and sonication on the virucidal activity of polyhexamethylene biguanide against the bacteriophage MS2. Am J Infect Control 38, 393–398.
- Regeimbal, J.M., Jacobs, A.C., Corey, B.W., Henry, M.S., Thompson, M.G., Pavlicek, R.L., Quinones, J., Hannah, R.M. et al. (2016) Personalized therapeutic cocktail of wild environmental phages rescues mice from Acinetobacter baumannii wound infections. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 60, 5806–5816.
- Sabuncu, E., David, J., Bernède-Bauduin, C., Pépin, S., Leroy, M., Boëlle, P.Y., Watier, L. and Guillemot, D. (2009) Significant reduction of antibiotic use in the community after a nationwide campaign in France, 2002–2007. *PLoS Med* 6, e1000084.
- Scanlan, P.D., Bischofberger, A.M. and Hall, A.R. (2017) Modification of *Escherichia coli*-bacteriophage interactions by surfactants and antibiotics in vitro. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 93, fiw211.
- Semler, D.D., Goudie, A.D., Finlay, W.H. and Dennis, J.J. (2014) Aerosol phage therapy efficacy in *Burkholderia cepacia* complex respiratory infections. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 58, 4005–4013.
- Takemura-Uchiyama, I., Uchiyama, J., Osanai, M., Morimoto, N., Asagiri, T., Ujihara, T., Daibata, M., Sugiura, T. et al. (2014) Experimental phage therapy against lethal lungderived septicemia caused by Staphylococcus aureus in mice. Microbes Infect 16, 512–517.
- Torres-Barceló, C., Franzon, B., Vasse, M. and Hochberg, M.E. (2016) Long-term effects of single and combined introductions of antibiotics and bacteriophages on populations of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Evol Appl 9, 583– 595.
- Van Boeckel, T.P., Brower, C., Gilbert, M., Grenfell, B.T., Levin, S.A., Robinson, T.P., Teillant, A. and Laxminarayan, R. (2015) Global trends in antimicrobial use in food animals. PNAS 112, 5649–5654.
- Yen, M., Cairns, L.S. and Camilli, A. (2017) A cocktail of three virulent bacteriophages prevents *Vibrio cholerae* infection in animal models. *Nat Commun* 8, 14187.
- Zhu, Y.G., Johnson, T.A., Su, J.Q., Qiao, M., Guo, G.X., Stedtfeld, R.D., Hashsham, S.A. and Tiedje, J.M. (2013) Diverse and abundant antibiotic resistance genes in Chinese swine farms. *PNAS* 110, 3435–3440.

© 2017 The Authors. Letters in Applied Microbiology 66, 182–187 published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of The Society for Applied Microbiology.

รับ รับ รับ รับ รับ กาย กลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบ เ

# **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Name:	Miss Thippawan Pimchan
Date of Birth:	23 <sup>th</sup> December 1988
Place of Birth:	Buriram, Thailand
Nationality	Thai
Education:	Suranaree University of Technology, 2011, Bachelor of
	Science (Animal Production Technology), First Class Honors.
Publications:	Pimchan, T., Maensiri, D., and Eumkeb, G. (2017). Synergy
	and mechanism of action of $\alpha$ -mangostin and ceftazidime
	against ceftazidime-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii. Letters
E	in Applied Microbiology. 65: 285-291.
572	Pimchan T, Cooper, C. J., Eumkeb, G., and Nilsson A. S.
101	(2017). In vitro activity of a combination of bacteriophages and
	antimicrobial plant extracts. Letters in Applied Microbiology.
	66: 182-187.
Awards and Grants	B: Gold medal for the top of class, 2012

The Royal Golden Jubilee (RGJ) Ph.D. programme